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Chapter One

A Series of Oppressions

“I am more and more convinced, of the propensity in human nature to tyrannize over their fellow men.”

—Mercy Otis Warren

The late eighteenth century was a time of upheaval. Government, religion, and the concept of personal liberty were all being reevaluated through the lens of natural law, science and Enlightenment thinking. The effects of these revolutionary ideas on the far-flung British colonies in North America were to violently change the world and bring about the birth of a new nation unlike any that had come before.

The thirteen British colonies in North America were: Delaware, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Georgia, Connecticut, Massachusetts Bay, Maryland, South Carolina, New Hampshire, Virginia, New York, North Carolina, and Rhode Island and Providence Plantations. The colonies were a business venture for the English crown, and were only a portion of the colonies Britain had founded in the New World. These colonies provided Great Britain with a rich source of goods, including cotton, tobacco, furs, fish, iron ore and lumber. Many of the colonists and their families had migrated from Great Britain in search of religious freedom and greater opportunity than was available to them in their homeland. They remained proud of their heritage and their status as British citizens. British culture was seen as the ideal to be emulated in fashion, literature, art, and education, even though the distance meant news from England was necessarily delayed by months. The additional fact that the early colonists had had to undergo great privations, dangerous circumstances and hard work in order to build their colonies in what had been the great American wilderness, led to a population of people who were self-reliant and resentful of attempts to curtail their freedoms.

Great Britain at this time was arguably the most powerful nation in Europe, if not the world. The British Empire had been growing for two centuries and it was vast. The Empire included the American Colonies, Canada, and South America, along with rich holdings in the Caribbean. England’s navy, used normally in protection of the Empire’s world-wide trade routes, ruled the seas. Great Britain was a powerful ruler and protector for her colonies, and a fearsome enemy to her foes.

Beginning in 1754, American colonists were fighting the French and Indian War, which would come to be known in England and France as the Seven Years War when battle was joined in Europe two years later. The colonists were fighting the French for control of the Ohio Valley, near the Allegheny and Monongahela rivers. French troops made alliances with Native American tribes to fight against the British and Americans who were taking over ancestral tribal lands in the Ohio Valley. In 1758, British representatives were able to convince many of the tribes to support the British against the French during a meeting at Fort Bedford. This undercutting of the French alliance deprived them of a large portion of their forces, leading to the French being driven completely out of North America by 1763.

This war caused England to incur a massive debt. In order to raise the money needed to fulfill the debt, Great Britain determined that the colonists should help pay for the war via new taxes levied on the colonies. The first step in Britain’s revenue raising campaign was the Stamp Act of 1765. The Stamp Act required printed materials in the colonies to use stamped paper that was produced in London and carried an embossed revenue stamp. Colonists disagreed with the stated reason for the tax, the need to keep British soldiers in the North American colonies after the French and Indian War. Colonists also felt the Stamp Act was a violation of their rights as English citizens in that the tax was levied without their consent. The slogan, "No taxation without representation," became a rallying cry for protests throughout the colonies.


Chapter Two

Death and Taxes

“It cannot be good to tax the Americans… You will lose more than you gain.”

—Thomas Hutchinson

One group in particular took up the cry and the cause of resisting unfair taxation. The "Sons of Liberty" was the name taken by resistance groups causing disturbances to the collection of British taxes throughout the thirteen colonies. British tax collectors were threatened, burned in effigy, and even tarred and feathered until many of them simply retired out of fear. Groups were started in colony after colony sporadically, but they became organized around the group started in Boston.

In October of 1765, the Stamp Act Congress took place in New York City, and was the first time representatives from the colonies met as a unified group in common purpose. The congress sent a petition to Parliament and King George III that included objections to the imposed tax. The petition lined up with British merchants’ complaints about lost business in America due to the protests, disturbances caused by the Sons of Liberty and product boycotts, and taken together had the effect of Parliament’s repealing the Stamp Act in 1766.

Parliament was not willing to cede their right to tax British colonies, in spite of the colonists demand for representation and the failure of the Stamp Act. The Townshend Acts were passed by Britain beginning in 1767, and included the Revenue Act, the Indemnity Act, the Commissioners of Customs Act and the New York Restraining Act. These acts of Parliament were ostensibly meant to raise the money needed to pay governors and judges in the colonies. This would have the effect of keeping officials loyal to the crown paying their salaries, rather than the people they were supposedly serving. The predictable resistance among colonists to these newly imposed regulations led to British troops being stationed in Boston to provide an occupying force in the contentious city.

The occupation soon led to conflict between the red-coated British soldiers and the colonial citizens of Boston, especially since the troops were being housed by local citizenry. The most well-known of these altercations is called the Boston Massacre by the colonists and the Incident on King Street by the British. It started when a mob of Bostonians surrounded and harassed a British sentry. When more soldiers arrived to support the beleaguered soldier, the newcomers were met with by threats and a barrage of flying objects. They responded by firing into the crowd. Five Boston citizens were killed. The British soldiers were tried for murder and two of them were convicted on the lesser charge of manslaughter. The rest of the troops withdrew from the city to Castle Island, a fort on Boston Harbor. News of the events of the day spread quickly through the colonies, causing further anger to arise towards British rule. As a result of all of the unrest and protests against the new regulations, Parliament repealed all of the Townshend Act except the tax on tea.

As the tea tax remained in place, so did the colonial boycott of tea. The British East India Company, which brought in trade and revenue for Great Britain was becoming overwhelmed with unsellable tea stock rotting in its warehouses. As a move to support the East India Company and at the same time solidify the right of Parliament to tax British colonies, the Tea Act of 1773 was passed. The act gave the East India Company the right to ship tea directly to North America without passing through England first, as well as allowing duty-free export of tea from the company’s London warehouse. The result of this financial manipulation was to allow the price of East India Company tea to undercut the price of black-market tea being bought and sold in the colonies as a response to the colonial boycott of taxed tea. Even with the tax on the tea, it was now less expensive to buy tea from the British East India Company. This meant that purchase of the tea also legitimized the hated tax and therefore the acceptance of Parliament’s right to implement taxation. Colonists saw the implications of this plan and decided to step up boycotts of tea throughout the colonies.

When colonists demanded that ships in Boston Harbor leave and take their cargo of tea elsewhere, Royal Governor Thomas Hutchinson refused to allow the ships to leave the harbor. This left the ships unable to unload and unable to leave. The standoff continued for twenty days, which was the legal deadline by which the ship’s captain was required to unload and pay the duty tax on the shipment of tea. On December sixteenth, a group of the Sons of Liberty disguised themselves as members of the Mohawk tribe and boarded the three ships waiting in the harbor. They dumped the entire cargo, three hundred and forty-two chests of tea worth nine thousand pounds, into Boston Harbor. This act of defiance has become known as the Boston Tea Party, and inspired similar actions in the other colonies. Revolutionary leader and later President of the United States John Adams wrote of the event, saying, "This Destruction of the Tea is so bold, so daring, so firm, intrepid and inflexible, and it must have so important Consequences, and so lasting, that I can’t but consider it as an Epocha in History." He, along with the rest of the world, would soon find themselves embroiled in these "important consequences."

The British government saw the destruction of the tea as an act to be punished, and responded by closing the port of Boston immediately until the tea had been paid for by the colonies. Parliament passed the Coercive Acts in an effort both to punish the unruly colony of Massachusetts and bring all of the colonies back in line. Thomas Gage was appointed Governor of the Massachusetts colony, effectively overriding Massachusetts’ right to self-government in favor of a more immediate role for British rule. The colony was also limited to only one town meeting per year. The Administration of Justice Act meant that the British Governor could order trials for public officials to be held outside of Massachusetts if he felt a fair trial would not be held in the colony. This meant that witnesses would have to travel to the new location at their own expense, making it financially impossible for most colonists to testify. George Washington called this portion of the new legislation "the Murder Act," because he believed it allowed British officials to escape justice for crimes committed in the colonies. The Coercive Act also included a legal right for the governor to take over buildings in order to house British troops.

The colonists did not respond well to these actions of Parliament, and came to refer to them as the "Intolerable Acts." Citizens in Massachusetts who had not taken part in the Boston Tea Party felt they were being unfairly punished for the actions of a few. Citizens in other colonies were concerned by the enforced reorganization of the government in the Massachusetts colony, and feared it could happen just as easily to them. Instead of settling the revolutionary state of the colonies, the Coercive Acts had the effect of solidifying the distrust and dissatisfaction with British rule.


Chapter Three

Out of Many, One

“I am not a Virginian, I am an American.”

—Patrick Henry

As a result of the growing unrest, the thirteen disparate colonies began to join together, with England as the common enemy. Most citizens were not as yet convinced of the need to separate from England, but the actions seen as tyrannical rule were universally resented. To cement the unified resistance, the First Continental Congress was held in September 1774 at Carpenters’ Hall in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Several men who would come to play a key role in the American Revolution attended this first meeting, including George Washington, John Adams, Samuel Adams, Patrick Henry, and John Jay. The Congress resulted in boycotts of all British trade, as well as an appeal sent to King George requesting the repeal of the Coercive Acts. They also decided they would meet again the following year if the appeal did not have the desired effect of halting the enforcement of the acts. In the meantime, the representatives determined that the colonies should be raising militias in preparation for repercussions from England.

In response to the increasing militarization in Boston and the surrounding area, the British government declared Massachusetts as a colony in rebellion in February of 1775. British troops were ordered to capture and destroy stockpiles of military supplies rumored to be held by rebels in Concord. The colonists became aware of the secret orders issued to British troops and prepared to defend their armory. In Boston, when local patriots became aware that the British troops were on the move and were planning an attack by traveling the Charles River, they set in motion the plan to notify militia groups in the nearby towns to prepare. Famously, two lanterns were hung in the tower of Boston’s Old North Church to notify watchers on the other side of the river of the British movements. Also, patriots Paul Revere and William Dawes raced toward Lexington and Concord on horseback to carry the warning and raise troops along the way. Church bells rang out, drums beat throughout the night, and more riders took off in other directions, carrying the news to the country-side. Paul Revere made it to Lexington by midnight where he was able to warn Sam Adams and John Hancock.

When the British troops advanced on Lexington on the morning of April nineteenth, they were met by colonial militia forces. It is unknown how the battle began, but the first shots of the war were fired at sunrise in Lexington. After the initial skirmish, the outnumbered colonial militia fell back and British troops continued on to Concord and split into companies in their search for military supplies. Colonial militia fighters took advantage of the smaller numbers of the British search groups and attacked a group of about four hundred soldiers at Concord’s North Bridge. Even though the militiamen outnumbered the British troops they were engaging, both sides suffered casualties before the British forces retreated to join the rest of the forces in Concord. As the entire force of British troops marched back toward Boston, more militia members joined in along the route and harassed the British line all the way to Charlestown. The events of this day were memorialized by Ralph Waldo Emerson in his poem, "Concord Hymn," in which he described the initial gunfire in this skirmish as "the shot heard ‘round the world."

As the letter sent by the First Continental Congress in 1774 was seen to have no effect, the Second Continental Congress was held on May tenth of 1775. The congress was held in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania one month after the events at Lexington and Concord. This second meeting of representatives included members from all thirteen colonies and also brought in two men who would play memorable roles in the years to come: Thomas Jefferson and Benjamin Franklin.

The Second Continental Congress started out facing a war, based on the fighting that had already occurred. In June, the group voted to establish a Continental Army. The army was at first made up of the militia groups already in existence around Boston and commanded by General George Washington, the representative from Virginia. The congress created two seemingly contradictory documents, the Declaration of the Causes and Necessity of Taking Up Arms, and the Olive Branch Petition. The declaration, as its name suggests, spelled out the reasons the colonists found it necessary to take up arms against Great Britain, including what they felt to be violations of their rights as British citizens and reiteration of the efforts that had been made to address the issues peacefully. The petition was a final attempt by the members of the congress to reconcile with the British government. It reiterated the loyalty of the colonists to Great Britain, and pleaded with the king to address the issues enumerated in the letter sent by the First Continental Congress.


Chapter Four

War in Earnest

“Don’t fire unless fired upon, but if they mean to have a war, let it begin here.”

—Captain John Parker

During this time, the colonists in Massachusetts became aware of British troop action meant to set up positions on the hills surrounding Boston, effectively cutting off the city. So, with little time to prepare, and with its commander still involved in the activities of the congress, the newly formed Continental Army began constructing its own fortifications on Breed Hill. The original battle plan had called for the use of nearby Bunker Hill, but the army, under Colonel William Prescott, settled on the closer hill. The ensuing action would be forever known as the Battle of Bunker Hill.

On June seventeenth, 1775, Major General William Howe led British troops from their landing on the Charlestown Peninsula toward the waiting colonials on Breed’s Hill. Colonel Prescott is famously supposed to have ordered his men not to fire on the approaching British soldiers until they could see the whites of their eyes. This command may have been a strategy to conserve ammunition, but it may also have been a reflection of the inaccuracy of many of the militia’s weapons.

The initial British attack was repulsed by the punishing fire from the colonial guns; however, they quickly recovered and struck again. The outnumbered colonial militia men were forced to retreat and the British won the day, in spite of the large numbers of casualties the Americans had been able to inflict. It is estimated that the British forces suffered a thousand dead or wounded while the Continental Army bore one hundred dead and three hundred wounded. Even though the battle resulted in British control of Boston, the colonials were encouraged by the amount of damage they had been able to inflict. This battle was the first real indication that the newly formed army stood a chance against the might of professional British soldiers.

It was after the battle of Bunker Hill that General George Washington joined the soldiers already making up the Continental Army in Cambridge Massachusetts. There he found a disparate group of volunteer riflemen with inadequate weapons and supplies. While some of the wealthier militia groups had uniforms and consistent weapons, most of the soldiers wore simply their normal civilian clothing and carried their personal rifles. Even when the colonial government attempted to outfit the troops, it was difficult because of the lack of manufacturers for the needed supplies.

The majority of the men that made up the army had very little experience in soldiering other than whatever they had learned as a militiaman. Many were young men leaving home for the first time, some as young as sixteen years old. Discipline and cohesion were nonexistent in his new command, and he was faced with the daunting challenge of preparing to fight the most powerful, professional and well supplied army of Europe.

In October of 1775, Parliament officially declared war on the American Colonies. During this time, the Continental Congress in Philadelphia decides to ban black soldiers, whether slave or free, from serving in the Continental Army because Southern slave owners were against arming black Americans. Britain took advantage of this stand taken by the colonists to issue a proclamation freeing any slaves or indentured servants, regardless of color, who join the British army. This resulted in a rash of slaves rushing to support the British cause against the already outnumbered Americans.

Great Britain responded quickly and in force. The British navy, then the greatest naval force in the world, sailed for New York. General George Washington prepared for battle.


Chapter Five

Voices of Liberty

“There is something very absurd in supposing a continent to be perpetually governed by an island.”

—Thomas Paine

The popularization of the teachings of the Enlightenment movement raised a new desire for personal freedom, as well as disillusionment with the idea of the divine foundations of monarchical rule. New ideas were coming to the forefront of public consciousness, and adherents to these ideas engaged wholeheartedly in speech and in print with the goals of revolution.

One famous American who spoke publicly in the cause of freedom and revolution was Patrick Henry. Politician, planter, and lawyer from Virginia, Henry gained recognition for his oratory prior to the Revolution. His efforts to raise opposition to the hated British Stamp Act led to his most famous speech, which gave rise to the impassioned phrase, “Give me liberty or give me death!” His words were used as a rallying cry for revolutionaries fighting for independence from Great Britain.

In the opening days of 1776, a new voice joined the revolutionary cause. Thomas Paine was a recent immigrant to the United States from Great Britain. He wrote a pamphlet entitled “Common Sense,” which was published in Philadelphia on January tenth and immediately became a best-seller. “Common Sense” was a stirring call to revolution, based on many of the same ideas as Enlightenment works popular in Europe, but expressed in the language of a Protestant sermon, which all of the colonists were very familiar with.

Paine used “Common Sense” to detail various forms of government throughout history, and discuss the purpose of government in society. He laid out examples of the failures of monarchy as a system of government as part of his argument for independence from Britain. He put forth a plan for a governmental structure for the colonies that would be completely new, as befitted a nation that would be founded on independence and natural rights. Paine’s suggestions very closely resemble the government that was eventually adopted by the new United States of America.

Thomas Paine would continue his writing career with great success over the course of the American Revolution. Although “Common Sense” was his most popular and influential work, many of his later works would also chart the course of the growing American discontent and then the war. “The American Crisis” was also published in 1776, and its tone of encouragement in the face of desperate odds illustrated the sweeping changes that had taken place once the exhortations of “Common Sense” had been enacted by the Colonials. General George Washington had the pamphlet read aloud to his troops in an attempt to raise morale with Paine’s fiery rhetoric.


Chapter Six

Independence

“My hand trembles, but my heart does not.”

—Stephen Hopkins, Rhode Island delegate

In July of 1776, the Continental Congress decides to declare the thirteen colonies independent from Great Britain. Representative Thomas Jefferson is chosen to write a formal Declaration of Independence to explain the rationale behind the vote to separate from Great Britain. Thomas Jefferson’s first draft is edited and finally ratified by the Congress as a whole on July fourth. The declaration was widely distributed throughout the colonies in order that all citizens of the newly christened “United States of America” might read the rationale behind their revolution.

The opening line of the Declaration of Independence states, “We hold these truths to be self-evident, that all men are created equal, that they are endowed by their Creator with certain unalienable Rights, that among these are Life, Liberty and the pursuit of Happiness.” This one line from the Preamble is ground-breaking and provocative in and of itself. The idea that a high moral truth could be proven and upheld simply because it was commonly evident, without the intervention of some higher authority, would have widely been considered blasphemous mere decades before. The audacious claim is that all men should be equal was in direct opposition to the cherished Western tradition of the divine right of kings to rule, as representatives of God’s will on Earth. It was a direct rejection of the British monarchical government as unnatural and unjustly founded. Further, the claim that the common man did have rights granted by their Creator apart from laws of man was revolutionary.

The assertion of unalienable rights enshrined in the founding document of the United States is controversial from the start in a nation where slavery was legal and upheld. Slaves across the colonies understood the contradiction between the high principles in the statement and the reality of their daily lives. Hundreds took this as an announcement of their own right to freedom and escaped from slavery. Slaves owned by Thomas Jefferson and even George Washington escaped, starkly underlining the hypocrisy written into the nation’s consciousness.

After the powerful Preamble, the Declaration goes on to detail a list of oppressions that King George had unjustly visited upon the American colonies. The list of oppressions included: the king’s failure to assent to laws passed by the colonial government, and even to ignore pressing legislation altogether; the dissolution of representative bodies that allowed the people to take part in legislation; the creation of new governmental offices with their accompanying “swarms of Officers”; the maintenance of military forced in the colonies during times of peace; depriving colonial citizens of fair trials while setting up “mock trials” for members of the military who stood accused of crimes; the issuance of taxes without representation; and the dispatch of more military troops “to compleat the works of death, desolation and tyranny, already begun with circumstances of Cruelty & perfidy scarcely paralleled in the most barbarous ages, and totally unworthy the Head of a civilized nation.” In summary, British rule was depriving the colonists of the freedoms they felt were theirs by natural right, and they were therefore justified in declaring independence from that rule.

The signed document was sent to the British Parliament. This was a point of no return for the colonists. The men who signed the declaration were now criminals in the eyes of the British government. Benjamin Franklin addressed the group saying, “Gentlemen, we must now hang together or we shall surely all hang separately.”


Chapter Seven

New York

“Let us convince every invader of our freedom.”

—Samuel Adams

New York City, at the time of the Revolutionary War, was of course not the iconic metropolis that it is today, but by virtue of location it was already a strategic jewel in the conflict between the colonists and the British. Situated on the coast and with the mighty Hudson River as a portal to the interior of the continent, the city was an obvious port city with an impressive natural harbor. Controlling New York City meant control of the eastern seaboard. Founded by the Dutch as a trading center and originally called New Amsterdam, it was captured by English forces in 1664 and renamed New York City in honor of the Duke of York. The city was the setting for many of the fiercest battles of the war, and American prisoners of war were held throughout the war on British battleships anchored in the harbor.

The British attack on New York under General Howe continued unceasingly and forced American troops out of New York by September. In a rout, colonial lines broke and soldiers fled away from the city. Over a thousand of the colonial troops were left behind as British prisoners. Rather than taking on the remnants of the scattered army, the British forces hold and allow the Colonial army the chance to escape and continue the battle.

Colonial troops retreated north along Manhattan in disgrace. The leadership of George Washington fell under question and many members of the army deserted. The British army was left in control of New York City and the Hudson River. It was a crushing defeat for the Continental Army.

In an attempt to regain momentum in the war, General Washington planned an audacious attack on Britain’s paid Hessian mercenaries. Knowing that the Hessians would celebrate the Christmas holiday and be unprepared for battle, Washington arranged an attack on the British stronghold in Trenton, New Jersey. Forces of the Continental Army crossed the partially frozen Delaware River in shifts on the night of December twenty-fifth, using whatever crafts they could find along the shore. Once across, they stealthily surrounded the British position and readied themselves to attack.

The attack resulted in an overwhelming victory for the Continental Army. The Hessians, who had indeed been celebrating with copious amounts of alcohol, were completely unprepared. Men stumbled, partially dressed, to confront the attackers, but were soon subdued and surrendered the post. The colonists captured more than a thousand prisoners, along with their stores of muskets, powder and artillery. The victory bolstered Washington’s position as the military leader of the Continental Army and also improved the morale of the soldiers who had seen defeat throughout the preceding year.

Fighting continued the following year, most notably at Fort Ticonderoga on Lake Champlain. The Fort had been of great strategic value during the recent French and Indian War, and had ended as a British possession. In the current action, the strategic value was not seen as important as it had been previously due to the location of the combatants. The British troops manning the fort had been lulled into a false sense of security by their years of service in what was then a wilderness outpost. They were unprepared for attack, and the fort had been captured by the Americans in 1775 in a joint action led by Colonel Benedict Arnold and Ethan Allen’s Green Mountain Boys, allowing for much needed stores of weapons and ammunition to fall into American hands. Ethan Allen took full credit for the capture of the fort, not even mentioning Arnold in his report to Washington. This slight is considered as part of Arnold’s motivation in plotting to betray the Americans toward the end of the war once he was in command of West Point.

In July of 1777, however, Fort Ticonderoga was retaken by the British force under Lieutenant General John Burgoyne. When the commander of the occupying forces of the Continental Army, General Arthur St. Clair, saw that Burgoyne had the fort surrounded and his army seriously outmanned, he ordered his troops to withdraw and escape. Although there was some gunfire, and a few casualties, the British force was able to occupy the fort with very little effort, though they would not hold it for long.

After several months of fighting with few victories to show for it, including the uncontested loss of Fort Ticonderoga in July, the fortunes of the Continental Army were about to change for the better. Having been forced into a strategy of slow retreat, the Continental Army spent some time encamped near Stillwater, New York. Aware that British forces under General Howe and General Burgoyne were moving south towards the location of the colonial camp, General Washington ordered reinforcements from nearby militia to join the army at Stillwater. Under the command of General Gates, the Continental Army moved north, towards the oncoming British. They set up fortifications on the defensible Bemis Heights near Saratoga, where the terrain created a funnel through which British troops would have to pass. The two armies faced off on September 19th, 1777.

Action began when advanced scouting parties led by Daniel Morgan’s men, largely frontiersmen skilled in woodlands combat, and the light infantry troops commanded by Henry Dearborn came in contact with an advance company of General James Hamilton’s forces. Initially attacking the British force by use of marksmen sniping from locations in the surrounding forest, Morgan’s men were able to quickly eliminate most of the officers in the opposing company. The hardy frontier riflemen lived up to their reputation on this day. They accounted for close to six hundred British casualties in the battle. They followed the initial deadly barrage with a charge, and were able to drive back the advanced force. In the confusion, the main body of the British army opened fire on the force coming toward them, killing several of their retreating comrades.

The American victory did not stand for long, however. The full complement of the British Army under Burgoyne fought back, leading to a day of intense fighting interrupted by breaks in the action and retreats by one side or the other. By the end of the day, the British army held the field, while the Continental Army was content to withdraw and wait.

General Burgoyne received word the following day that desperately needed reinforcements under Henry Clinton would arrive in ten days. With his forces weakened and outnumbered, dwindling supplies, and food rationing already in place, the forces facing him seemed too formidable to face. He decided to wait to push his attack until Clinton arrived. Daily clashes between scouts and pickets of the two armies took place, but full engagement was avoided. The American sharpshooters harassed British troops almost continuously, picking off their targets with deadly accuracy while remaining unseen in the trees. British soldiers deserted, unwilling to continue with the army’s desperate plight and the constant threat of sniper attacks.

When September slipped into October with no sign of the hoped for reinforcements, General Burgoyne’s force was in a desperate situation. Several officers suggested retreat, but Burgoyne insisted that retreat would be disgraceful. The army engaged in another attack on the American position, outnumbered and undersupplied. The British attack was quickly defeated, leaving General Burgoyne to retreat with his surviving soldiers, now outnumbered three to one by the Continental Army that drove them off. The British army under General Burgoyne was forced to surrender on the seventeenth of October. General Burgoyne returned to England, and never commanded an army again.

The Battle of Saratoga was a much-needed victory for the Continental Army. For the first time, the British were convinced that the Americans were a respectable foe, with the ability to fight a successful war. Also impressed by the American victory, the French chose finally to openly enter the war in support of the rebellious American colonies and declared war on Great Britain. When French allies including Spain and the Netherlands joined the American cause, the revolution became a world war.


Chapter Eight

Valley Forge

“We began a contest for liberty ill provided with the means for the war, relying on our patriotism to supply the deficiency. We expected to encounter many wants and distressed’ we must bear the present evils and fortitude.”

—George Washington

With winter setting in after a year of hard-fought campaigns in 1777, the Continental Army set up winter quarters in Valley Forge, Pennsylvania. At this point, the army was so under-supplied that only a third of the men had shoes to wear as they marched, leaving bloody footprints in the snow. Many soldiers died of exposure as they didn’t have adequate clothing, and the shelters in the camp were overcrowded and took time to set up. The army lived on cakes made from flour and water, with small amounts of meat as it could be obtained. Many of the army’s horses died from starvation or exposure. The close quarters and privations led to epidemics of typhoid, dysentery, and smallpox. This was a hard winter that taxed the morale as well as the supplies of the rebel army. By the time spring finally arrived, over two thousand soldiers had died of exposure and illness.

In January of 1778, five members of the Continental Congress came to review the situation at Valley Forge in response to General Washington’s repeated requests for food and other supplies. After seeing the pitiable condition of the troops, the representatives went back to Congress and worked in favor of providing more support for the army. By February, Congress had approved needed funds for supplying the army, as well as organized the commissary department to maintain supply lines going forward.

In spite of the terrible conditions and the shortages of basic necessities, the winter at Valley Forge is seen in hind-sight as a turning point in the Revolution. The arrival of Baron Friedrich Wilhelm von Steuben from France with a letter of introduction from Benjamin Franklin was a much-needed boost to the effectiveness and the morale of the army. General Washington immediately named him Acting Inspector General in charge of developing a training program for the troops. A long-time veteran of the Prussian army, Baron von Steuben was an ideal candidate to train the troops. Although he spoke very little English, he carried out training and drills in a mixture of German and French, assisted by a translator. He also wrote a training manual for the troops that could be used to provide uniform and consistent instruction throughout the colonial army. A staff of translators worked tirelessly to prepare his work for use. This new manual, “Regulations for the Order and Discipline of the Troops of the United States,” would be used as the official training guide for American military forces until the War of 1812.

Throughout the winter the troops drilled every day, learning how to move in orderly fashion between formations. They trained on how to accurately and quickly load, aim and fire their rifles. They learned how to effectively mount a bayonet charge. Baron von Steuben worked directly with the troops, giving commands and instructions from dusk until dawn. In the spring of 1778, the newly organized Continental Army held a grand parade to celebrate the official French entrance into the war against Great Britain. They displayed the new orderly maneuvers and discipline learned over the hard winter, showing themselves to have become a unified fighting force ready to continue the struggle for Independence.


Chapter Nine

France

“Insurrection is the most sacred of rights and the most indispensable of duties.”

—Marquis de Lafayette

France had been a clandestine ally of the American revolutionaries since the beginning of the war by secretly sending supplies, but in June of 1778 France officially recognized America as an independent nation and declared war on Great Britain. Spain and the Netherlands followed France’s lead, also declaring support for the Americans, leaving Great Britain standing alone against an alliance of European powers and the Continental Army.

The French were largely motivated to join the fight because of the long-standing animosity between France and Great Britain, including the recent loss of territories as a result of the French and Indian War. Benjamin Franklin, noted American writer and inventor, was the American minister to France between 1776 and 1783. He played an important role in convincing the French to send supplies and to eventually declare support for the colonies in the war.

Not the least of France’s contributions to the American cause was in the volunteer service of Frenchman Marie Joseph Paul Yves Roch Gilbert Du Motier, better known as the Marquis de Lafayette. Lafayette was a French nobleman who came to the aid of the newly formed United States in 1777, joining the Continental Army at their winter quarters in Valley Forge. He was made a major general in the Continental Army under General George Washington. Lafayette proved his worth in his initial action, the Battle of Brandywine on September 11th of 1777. Lafayette was shot during this battle and still managed to organize a retreat of American forces. He soon became a close friend of General Washington’s and remained a staunch ally throughout his life. He not only served as a successful commander in battle, but also used his considerable reputation in his home country to help garner more aid for the Americans from Europe. Lafayette would command multiple battles in the years to come, including the Battle of Barren Hill in which Lafayette was able to evade an attack by General Howe. Lafayette was instrumental in convincing the French to join in the war on the side of the Americans.

In the fall of 1781, the French navy and the American Continental Army tightened the noose around the British forces. The French navy, including the whole of France’s Caribbean fleet under Francois Joseph Paul, the comte de Grasse, defeated the powerful British navy sailing under Rear Admiral Sir Thomas Graves in the Battle of Chesapeake Bay. This gave France command of the sea lanes around Virginia, and allowed for reinforcing of the French and American troops under Lafayette. When Nathaniel Green, American commander of the Continental Army in the south, forced General Cornwallis and the majority of the British Army to the Yorktown Peninsula in Virginia, the blockade by the French navy kept the British from escaping by sea, and also prevented any hope of reinforcements arriving. This cooperative effort by ground forces and naval assets became known as the Siege of Yorktown.


Chapter Ten

Surrender

“Yet let’s be content, and the times lament, you see the world turn’d upside down.”

—British marching tune

The British force was effectively penned in, with the Continental Army and French ground forces on one side and an angry ocean afloat with French battleships on the other. The French and Colonial troops set up and began bombarding the British position. Two attack groups were sent to engage the remaining British defenses. French troops overran one emplacement, while a division of the Continental Army took over the other. American artillery was able to take up a closer and more commanding position in order to continue the bombardment of the British holding. French gunmen fired upon the British fleet trapped in the harbor and were able to set fire to several of the ships. General Cornwallis ordered a desperate escape attempt. Troops were to be ferried across the York River to Gloucester Point, where they might have some hope of breaking through American lines and escape to the fortified city of New York. The first group made the crossing safely, but then the weather seemed to conspire with the besieging forces. A storm swept in, making the already dangerous river crossing an impossibility. The first group of soldiers was cut off from the rest of the army and also trapped behind enemy lines.

On October 14th, General Cornwallis sent a messenger to the Continental troops requesting terms for surrender. Two days of negotiations between the opposing forces followed, to take place at the Moore House. Negotiations were conducted between representatives of all of the forces involved. Lieutenant Colonel Thomas Dundas and Major Alexander Ross represented the British, while Lieutenant Colonel Laurens stood for the Americans, and the Marquis de Noailles for the French. French and American representatives would share equally in all aspects of the negotiation and surrender, as a reiteration of the alliance that had made the victory possible. The official ceremony of the surrender took place on October 19th, 1781.

With the entire complement of the Continental Army on one side of the road and the French forces lining the other, the defeated British contingent numbering over seven thousand soldiers marched toward the American commander to give their surrender. General Washington had denied General Cornwallis’s request that the army be allowed the traditional Honors of War, which meant they would march out with dignity, their flags yet waving, with shouldered arms and with the band playing an American marching tune, because the general had denied this honor to the troops under Benjamin Lincoln when the British had taken Charleston. Instead, the surrendering army would march to the tune of “The World Turned Upside Down” with their flags bundled and their weapons reversed in shame. General Cornwallis, commander of the British forces in North America, did not attend the ceremony, claiming illness. Instead, the General’s second General O’Hara was given the task. Upon approach, General O’Hara at first attempted to offer his sword to Lieutenant General the Comte de Rochambeau, whose troops were arrayed behind him in full French military regalia. Rochambeau directed O’Hara to General Washington, who, in turn, indicated that the surrender would be accepted by his second in command, Major General Benjamin Lincoln. Lincoln marched the British troops to an open field adjoining, where they were ordered to ground their arms. Many of the defeated soldiers flung their weapons into the ground with force, attempting to destroy them before turning them over to American hands. Many soldiers are also said to have wept as they threw down their gear.

The surrender of General Cornwallis and his army meant the loss of over eight thousand British troops, artillery and horses, along with several warships and their crews. When the British fleet that had been dispatched to rescue the army arrived, they were informed by British loyalists of the surrender. General Washington sent a messenger to Philadelphia to inform the Continental Congress of the victory, and the entire town celebrated for days. It is said, when Lord North, British Prime Minister, was informed of the defeat, he responded by saying, “Oh, God, it’s all over.” Although King George was set to continue fighting, Parliament prevailed and Great Britain was forced to come to terms with the upstart colonies.


Chapter Eleven

An Independent Nation

“Objects of the most stupendous magnitude, and measure in which the lives and liberties of millions yet unborn are intimately interested, are now before us.”

—John Adams

In the spring of 1782, talks began in Paris, France, between delegates of the United States and Great Britain with the purpose of negotiating peace. The United States was represented by Benjamin Franklin, John Jay, John Adams, and Henry Laurens. Unfortunately, the ship that was transporting Henry Laurens was captured by a British battle ship. He was imprisoned in the Tower of London until after the treaty was signed. Representing Great Britain were David Hartley and Richard Oswald. These talks would continue for the next year.

Many points of common concern were discussed, including issues of fishing rights off the North American coast, trading regulations, and debt collection, but the key point to be agreed upon was Great Britain’s recognition of the United States as an independent nation. The territories previously claimed by Great Britain between the Allegheny Mountains and the Mississippi River were given over to the control of the new nation, effectively multiplying the area of the thirteen colonies ten-fold. The United States agreed to return property confiscated during the war to British Loyalists.

At the same time, Great Britain was engaged in negotiations with the other nations who had allied with the Americans during the war: France, Spain, and the Netherlands. The group of treaties was signed by the representatives of the affected nations on September third, 1783 at the Hotel du York in Paris. The document signed by the United States and Great Britain that gave the United States Independence was called the Treaty of Paris. The separate treaties with all the nations together as a whole were called the Peace of Paris.

France did not gain much in the treaties of the Peace of Paris. The expense of supporting the American cause had been great, and negatively affected an already strained French treasury. The economic situation would be an instigating factor in the French Revolution which would follow a few years afterwards.


Chapter Twelve

Constitution

“We have it in our power to begin the world over again.”

—Thomas Paine

In May of 1787, representatives from twelve of the thirteen former colonies, now states, gathered in Philadelphia with the intent to amend the Articles of Confederation passed by the second Continental Congress into a federal constitution that would be the basis for government of the new nation. With this goal in mind, the group became known as the Congress of the Confederation. It was soon clear that while many of the ideas embodied in the Articles of Confederation would remain influential, the assembled group would be creating an entirely new document in creating the constitution.

The meetings of the Congress of the Confederation were held in Independence Hall, the same location that had been used by the writers of the Declaration of Independence. The building would be the scene of furious debates over the next four months as these representatives sought to forge a government that could unite the interests of the different states and represent the wishes of the people it governed. Issues such as equal representation for all states or representation based on state population brought arguments between small states and large ones. The controversial issue of slavery caused explosive debate between slave holding states and those represented by abolitionists. The importance of limiting the power of government was vital, considering the treatment the colonies had endured under British monarchical rule. Finding a solution that would work for all concerned was the beginning of a new structure for government.

The controversy between the states regarding representation in government was resolved by the creation of two powerful governing bodies; the Senate and the House of Representatives. The Senate would represent all states equally, with two Senators per state. The House of Representatives would represent the states with numbers of representatives based on state populations. Both would have power in the legislative process.

The issue of slavery was deemed too controversial to be solved by the Congress of the Confederation. Compromises were made to allow the constitution to move forward, but the issue remained unresolved. The compromise here was that the power to regulate the slave trade would move from the purview of the states to the central government after twenty years. In this way, the current situation was retained, but a forced reevaluation was stipulated for the future.

The necessity for limitation of power was met by the establishment of a multi-branch government with checks and balances built in to maintain the power of the government in separate hands. The first three articles of the Constitution detail the separation of powers. Three branches, the Executive, Judicial, and Legislative, would work together to govern the people while preventing the unequal rise to power of any one branch. Articles Four, Five, and Six describe the rights and responsibilities of state governments, especially in relation to the federal government. The new government would also reallocate power to the states, creating a power sharing model unlike anything existing at the time.

The formation of the Executive Branch was a special case. For colonists who had fought to be free from the rule of a king, a powerful executive was a controversial idea, but monarchy was the most familiar form of government at the time. Arguments were made for a single executive officer and also for a three-person counsel such as that used in ancient Rome. In the end, the vote carried a single President to head the new nation.

The Constitution was designed to be amended as the need arose. The representatives at the Congress of the Confederation hoped that they were designing a living document that would adapt to future unforeseen circumstances without losing the main governmental structure. The Constitution has been amended twenty-seven times since its passage, and remains the guiding force in the government of the United States today.

After four months of deliberation and debate, the final text of the Constitution was prepared. On September seventeenth, 1787, thirty-nine delegates signed the document, which was then submitted to the states for ratification. Article Seven of the Constitution details the procedure that would be used by the thirteen states to ratify the document. Several of the states were opposed to the Constitution, and submitted amendments to it as an addendum to approval. Ten amendments were approved by Congress simultaneously during the first session, which became known as the Bill of Rights. The Bill of Rights included: freedom of religion and freedom of speech and press, the right to keep and bear arms, provisions for the quartering of troops, freedom from unlawful search and seizure of property, the right to due process of law including the proscription against double jeopardy and seizure of property under eminent domain, the right to a speedy trial by an impartial jury with the ability to confront accusers aided by counsel, the guarantee of jury trials for federal civil cases, freedom from cruel and unusual punishment and excessive fines, the assurance that the rights specifically listed in the Constitution are not the exhaustive listing of the rights held by the people, confirmation that rights not delegated to the United States in the Constitution will be reserved to the states and, or, the people. The Bill of Rights served to allay many of the fears and concerns raised by the states, and soon led to ratification of the entire Constitution of the United States of America.


Chapter Thirteen

The President

“Example, whether it be good or bad, has a powerful influence.”

—George Washington

The final step in setting up the new government of the United States was the installation of the executive officer, to be known as the President of the United States. The first presidential election was held in 1789, and former general of the Continental Army George Washington was elected. Washington’s popularity and proven devotion to the cause of the revolution led to his receiving a vote from every elector in the Electoral College. To this day, he is the only president in American history to be unanimously elected. John Adams, representative of Massachusetts, himself a future president, was the first Vice President elected to the government of the United States.

As the first president, George Washington set the tone and traditions of the office that continue to be upheld. Although many in Congress suggested titles for the office that mimicked the pomp observed in European courts, such as “His Majesty the President,” “His Exalted Highness,” “His Elective Highness,” and even “Most Illustrious and Excellent President,” George Washington felt that the country had had enough of titles and insisted upon simply, “Mr. President.” Washington also avoided any of the trappings associated with royalty that he could easily have assumed. He wore no crown or other “royal dress,” instead wearing the clothing he would have worn as a wealthy businessman.

George Washington served two terms as president, during which time he took steps to secure the future of the new nation. Policies intended to resolve the national debt and build a strong financial footing were enacted. Treaties with Native American tribes as well as European powers gave the nation a foundation emphasizing peaceful relations. He approved the bill that established a permanent location for the nation’s capital by forming the District of Columbia so that the capital would not belong to any one state, but to all. The newly established capitol was named for President George Washington. Washington helped establish the layout of the city, including the location of the Capitol Building and the White House. Although he oversaw construction of the White House, he never took up residence there.

After his second term in office, Washington faced pressure to continue his service as President. Knowing that his term in office would serve to set a precedent for future government he retired from public office, establishing the standard of the presidential two term limit that has only been set aside once in the history of the United States. Washington returned to Mount Vernon, his Virginia estate, to live out his life as the gentleman farmer he had always considered himself. When George Washington passed away at the age of sixty-seven from a sudden illness on December fourteenth, 1799, the news spread quickly through the country. The nation mourned the loss of a great national hero, and even the British fleet paid tribute to his memory while the French observed an official ten-day mourning period.

Washington served his country as a soldier, as a military leader, a congressional representative, a contributor to the Declaration of Independence and the Constitution of the United States, and as the first President. He also served, unofficially, as an example of what the leader of a free nation should be. He was offered the chance to rule as a king, but chose instead to serve as a citizen.


Conclusion

“Whatever may be the judgment pronounced on the competency of the architects of the Constitution, or whatever may be the destiny of the edifice prepared by them, I feel it a duty to express my profound and solemn conviction . . . that there never was an assembly of men, charged with a great and arduous trust, who were more pure in their motives, or more exclusively or anxiously devoted to the object committed to them.”

—James Madison

The United States of America, a nation born out of bloody battle and a fierce desire for independence, has grown from its humble beginnings to become a leading power in the world. Moving forward on the foundation set by the men who fought for freedom in the American Revolution and created a new form of government, the United States has often struggled to live up to the lofty ideals of its founding.

Eighty-seven years after the signing of the Declaration of Independence, the thirteenth president of the United States Abraham Lincoln gave a speech honoring the soldiers who fought in another battle on American soil. He described America as a nation “conceived in liberty, and dedicated to the proposition that all men are created equal.” These qualities instilled by the revolutionaries remained a powerful aspect of American identity so many years later. Ironically, the battlefield at Gettysburg, Pennsylvania which Lincoln dedicated with his address was part of a devastating civil war rooted to some extent in the failure to address the conflicting beliefs of equality and the legality of enslaving men and women based upon the color of their skin.

Although one result of the American Civil War was to outlaw slavery in the United States, the issues arising from the selective nature of the equality presented as a natural right of humanity in the American Declaration of Independence have haunted the nation throughout its history even to the present day. In 1866, the Civil Rights Act gave native born Americans citizenship, but not the right to vote. It is ninety-three years after the signing of the Declaration of Independence before the Fifteenth Amendment to the Constitution, passed in 1869, granted black men the right to vote. It was not until 1920 that the Nineteenth Amendment was passed, guaranteeing the right of American women to vote. Racial and gender-based inequality as a matter of law, and the philosophical ramifications of the delay in correcting it, remain a divisive force in American culture in spite of great strides towards the cherished ideal woven into the country’s identity. In spite of the concerns involving equality though its history, the United States of America has been a champion of freedom and human rights around the world. The nation’s military and naval forces, which seemed so insignificant when taking on the might of the British Empire in 1775, have become a preeminent force in world affairs.

The original thirteen colonies have evolved to form a nation of fifty united states covering a swathe between the Atlantic and Pacific Coasts, Alaska and Hawaii. The vision of the men who wrote the Constitution was a society based on individual liberty and natural rights, safeguarded by laws to prevent tyranny and ruled by the people for the people. Though their efforts did not result in a perfect government and mistakes were made that have impacted the nation for centuries, they created an entirely new form of government based on the will of the people. History thus far seems to show their faith was well founded, and the United States of America remains “the land of the free and the home of the brave.”
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Introduction

The War of 1812 is a complicated war with as many as four different sides, each with its own plan for success. Pitched against each other were the United States, Canada, the Native tribes, and Great Britain.

The Americans objected to the British blockade of trade with France and the continent. When the Royal Navy began boarding American ships to search out sailors suspected of being British citizens, the Americans tried both political and physical means to assert their neutrality on the seas. War Hawk politicians in the United States, on the other hand, started eyeing the taking of Canadian territory as a suitable retribution against British aggression. Canada, though still a British colony, found itself fighting for independence against the Americans. Native Americans, unhappy with recent treaties and forced movements westward, sought a solution and a homeland in the turmoil. Many tribes joined under Shawnee Chief Tecumseh in alliance with the British in an effort to gain political power against the Americans and secure sovereign territory for themselves in the interior of America. Through it all, Britain fought to hold on to its interests in North America.

The United States was still a new nation sometimes unsure how to proceed with acts of governance. In 1810, the Twelfth Congress had been elected and was seated the following March in accordance with the schedule in the Constitution. The Democratic-Republican Party, also the party of President James Madison who was elected to a four-year term in 1808, held the majority in both the House and the Senate.

Despite President Washington’s warning against the formation of political parties, America quickly became a two-party nation. The Federalist Party, promoting centralizing policies, was run by Alexander Hamilton while the Democratic-Republican Party, organized by Thomas Jefferson and James Madison (but not related to either of the two modern parties known by the same names), opposed strong centralization and supported states’ rights even to the extent of allowing states to nullify a federal law.

The 1810 national census revealed the United States to be a fast-growing nation. The increase in population over the preceding decade was 36.4 percent. The actual population total was 7,239,881, mostly in the north where the four largest cities—New York City, Philadelphia, Baltimore, and Boston—were located. Seventeen states were now in the union, up from the original thirteen, and new territories were forming westward.

James Madison had the challenge or misfortune to become president in a time of political crisis. Declared by future generations both a Founding Father and the Father of the Constitution for his work in drafting the document, his achievements in office have generally been judged as above average in recent surveys of political historians. This judgment is reflected by his decisions and actions during the years leading up to and during the conflict of the War of 1812.


Chapter One

Uneasiness in the New Century

“The present situation of the world is indeed without a parallel, and that of our own country full of difficulties.”

—James Madison

History books rarely note that the 1803 Louisiana Purchase had disturbing consequences for Native American tribes. Until Napoleon quietly ceded the massive tracts of the Louisiana Purchase west of the Mississippi to the United States, native tribes did not expect to be pushed continually westward. Immediately after the Louisiana Purchase was made, the American government increased negotiations for more white settlement on remaining Indian lands east of the Mississippi.

One region that was particularly strategic for trade routes and river traffic was the portion of the Mississippi River Valley from Prairie du Chien, Wisconsin, south to East St. Louis, Illinois. The first governor of the Indiana Territory, which included the present state of Illinois, was the future president, William Henry Harrison. Taking advantage of sudden unrest between the Sauk and some settlers due to an argument ending in a settler homicide, Harrison demanded that the Sauk meet with him and bring the accused. Five Sauk warriors came, apparently expecting that they were going to negotiate traditional compensation for the relatives of the killed man, “to cover the blood” in their words, as was done among the tribes. In no way did these five men have authority to negotiate land sales, and Harrison knew that well. The man who was the killer was not released but, to the others’ dismay, executed for murder that day. The warrior Black Hawk later wrote in his autobiography that the Sauk men did not understand the document they had signed on November 3, 1804. Its official name is Ratified Indian Treaty #43, sometimes called the Treaty of St. Louis. Harrison and the government insisted the treaty gave to the United States all Sauk and Fox rights to lands extending over large parts of Wisconsin, Illinois, and Missouri.

Dealings with Native Americans to the west were not going well for all concerned. To the east, on the ocean and in Europe, continuing wars disrupted trade. The United States wanted to be treated as neutral by England and France, but there were maritime blockades and restrictions to consider.

In July 1805, the British Admiralty Court ruled that the Royal Navy had been correct to seize the U.S. merchant ship Essex on its way from Massachusetts to Cuba. The Essex, which began its voyage from Spain, had violated the Rule of 1756 stating that trade normally not occurring between certain partners in peacetime was likewise not allowed to occur in wartime. Specifically, Britain was at war with France and was preventing French and Spanish ships from making contact with their American colonies. American merchants, such as those operating the Essex, were forbidden to take goods from Barcelona to Salem, Massachusetts, and then onto Havana for profit and still claim neutral status at sea. The stop at an American port was primarily for the appearance of legality. Since American merchants did not normally run this trade to and from the foreign colonies in peacetime, they could not do it when a British war blockade was in effect. After the Essex Decision, many American merchant ships were seized, and although the ships and some crew might eventually be released, the Americans responded with anger.

This was the beginning of a series of measures and countermeasures between the British and Americans that escalated into war. In 1806, still under the second administration of Thomas Jefferson, Congress enacted the Non-Importation Act. In response to the Essex Decision and the ongoing impressment of American sailors, Congress and Jefferson sought an economic means to assert American sovereignty. A number of items formerly traded between Britain and America were now banned. A brief list includes: all articles made chiefly of leather, silk, hemp, flax, tin, or brass; expensive woolen clothes and hosiery; window glass and glassware; silver and plated goods, nails and spikes; hats; beer, ale, and porter; and pictures and prints. Penalties were severe.

The Non-Importation Act failed for several reasons: American merchants complained loudly about lost profits; other countries quickly took over as middlemen for banned products; and the provisions of the bill were poorly written and difficult to enforce. Rather than amend the bill, Jefferson suspended it for long periods until it was replaced by the Embargo Act.

The Monroe-Pinkney Treaty of 1806 was another failed effort that led to escalating conflict. James Monroe and William Pinkney on behalf of Thomas Jefferson negotiated with Lords Holland and Auckland representing Lord Grenville in an attempt to renew the Jay Treaty of 1794. Jefferson’s chief concerns were the continuing impressment of sailors from American ships and America’s claims to neutral shipping rights. An estimated 6,000 Americans were impressed onto British ships in the years leading up to the war. The policy of impressment of alleged British deserters was important to the British because their ships suffered from a manpower shortage. The final treaty offered neither neutrality nor a cessation of impressment. Jefferson refused to sign it when he examined it in March 1807.

The same year also brought a serious physical confrontation between British and American warships, the H.M.S. Leopard and the U.S.S. Chesapeake. At this time, American, French, and British warships were all present in the Chesapeake Bay. British deserters took the opportunity to sneak over to several of the U.S. Navy ships. The British complained without result. On June 22, as the Chesapeake was leaving, the Leopard’s command demanded to examine a muster of the American crew. Although his ship was not ready to fight, the American Commodore Barron refused. A quick exchange of fire led to four deaths, seventeen injuries, and Barron’s surrender of the ship. The British boarded, impressed four foreign sailors (two were ultimately returned as mistaken identifications), and returned the ship and crew to Barron. The United States Navy suspended Barron from service for five years. This incident caused the War Hawks in Congress to clamor for war, but Jefferson postponed action until passions had cooled.

Britain meanwhile passed Orders in Council forbidding French trade with Britain, its allies, and neutrals. Napoleon answered with the Berlin and Milan Decrees asserting that neutral shipping using British ports or paying British tariffs would be regarded as British and seized. With the failure of the Non-Importation Act the previous year, the Americans replaced it with the Embargo Act, but it suffered the same problems of enforcement while stirring up more domestic protests against the government in Washington and its handling of impressment, captures, and seizures. All these actions occurred in 1807.

The news from the west became more distressing. James Madison won the election of 1808, becoming president in March 1809. Fighting escalated in the Indiana Territory under Governor William Henry Harrison. His primary opposition, it was increasingly perceived, was the Shawnee Chief Tecumseh, born 1768 in Ohio, who had joined with his brother Laulewasikau, also known as the Prophet Tenskwatawa, both calling for a return to traditional cultural values and rejection of white influences. Tecumseh envisioned a large Indian confederacy preserving native lands and cultures while holding back white encroachment. He attracted many followers among the younger braves of numerous tribes, but the older leaders seemed to fear for the disruption of authority while Harrison and local white settlers felt threatened.

Harrison’s aggressive treaty practices and documented tendencies to offer temporary support to someone, or some group, particularly when he needed cooperation from them, would become a focus of conflict in his future interactions with Tecumseh. Harrison’s driving objective was the acquisition of land for the United States. With the 1809 Treaty of Fort Wayne, he is said to have worked through the tribes involved, beginning with the agreeable Potawatomie who convinced the unwilling Miami to sign. Harrison and the Miami then offered the Wea, who were absent at the first negotiations, a subsidy to sign. Finally, Harrison promised the Wea an additional subsidy if they could also get the Kickapoo to sign. The treaty was finalized in the spring of 1810, ceding over 3,000,000 acres of Indian land to American settlers.

Tecumseh was outraged. He proclaimed that Indian lands belonged to all tribes, and no lands could be sold without the consent of all. Tecumseh now set out intentionally to convince all tribes of this policy and of the necessity for a great Indian confederacy.

Tecumseh was elsewhere in 1811 garnering support when Harrison made a sudden attack with an army of 1,100 soldiers on Tecumseh’s settlement, Prophet’s Town. The town was burned, and more critically, the food supply was destroyed. Laulewasikau responded but was defeated in battle—according to original accounts. In more modern assessments, Harrison’s forces took a beating, and the result was more of a draw. Harrison had twice as many men as Laulewasikau and suffered 200 casualties of whom 60 died. Tecumseh’s people lost 50 warriors with perhaps 80 wounded. Unfortunately, Laulewasikau had promised his warriors that the white men’s bullets would not hurt them. When this failed to be true, he and Tecumseh lost credibility. The confrontation on November 7 became known to Americans as the Battle of Tippecanoe. Harrison made the tale of the battle into his greatest victory and the core of his later presidential campaign.

The battle turned the tribes against the idea of a confederacy, and support for Tecumseh’s plan dispersed. White settlers in the Indiana Territory became much more confident of their safety. Tecumseh needed another plan.


Chapter Two

War Hawks and Neutrality

“Poor is his triumph, and disgrac’d his name,

Who draws the sword for empire, wealth, or fame.”

—A New England Farmer [John Lowell, Jr.]

British provincial forces traditionally had kept an open relationship with native peoples in America, and this policy was about to be put to the test. The British Governor in Canada, Lieutenant-General Sir George Prévost, hearing the murmurs of war on all sides and noting the setback of Tecumseh’s alliance at Tippecanoe, proposed to discuss an alliance with Tecumseh and his warriors. Prévost saw Tecumseh’s followers as useful allies in the coming defense of Canada against the Americans. In fact, the British had been giving arms and ammunition quietly to the natives since about 1807. With mounting tensions after the Chesapeake-Leopard Affair, the British government felt war was inevitable and native allies helpful. The British were more interested in stopping the northward expansion of the Americans than their westward movement, but both goals were beneficial to British interior trade. To most native tribes, Britain was the lesser of two white evils and might help them keep their lands.

Tecumseh’s followers, by some estimates about 4,000 warriors, were not the only Native Americans interested in fighting back against American expansion during the war. The Creek nation, numbering about 20,000 in the southern United States, also sought more favorable terms. According to an 1805 treaty, a federal road, or horse and wagon path, ran through Creek territory from central Georgia to Mobile, Alabama Territory. Increasing numbers of white migrants with their black slaves passed westward along this road, and white squatters were settling on lands still not open to them.

The Creek Indians knew about Tecumseh’s confederacy and learned the “dance of the Indians of the lakes,” a spiritual ritual from the Shawnee prophets and warriors in the Ohio Valley. Some Creek warriors called themselves Red Sticks and were led by prophets seeking cultural renewal and freedom from the European invaders through mastery of the spirit world. The Red Sticks obstructed the federal road and killed travelers. Although a corn-cultivating society, the Creek ultimately fled for the spiritual power and protection of the forests where the women learned how to increase the food supply by gathering.

But as in the north, not all southern tribes fought against the Americans. Native American society was not organized with supportive political institutions in such a way that enabled large confederacies to remain stable for a long time. It took a strong, charismatic statesman like Tecumseh to bring an alliance of warriors from different tribes and the British together, and it would not outlive him.

The voices of war that Tecumseh, Prévost, and many others heard were the voices of the War Hawks in the United States Congress. The War Hawks originated out of the Jeffersonian Democratic-Republican Party. Jefferson dreamed of an agrarian nation of independent landowners. He disliked the growth of cities, industry, and trade, which he associated with corruption and inequality. The Democratic-Republicans were also anti-Federalist because the Federalists were interested in developing exactly the opposite trends: banking, trade, industry, and economic growth. Alexander Hamilton, until his death in 1804, had been the leader of the Federalists. Under presidents Jefferson, Madison, and afterward, Monroe, for 24 years, the Democratic-Republicans dominated the executive branch of government and often all of Congress as well. Their agrarian policies fueled westward expansion.

The only way to encourage an agrarian society is to give it massive amounts of land. Jefferson made the Louisiana Purchase of 530,000,000 acres of land in 1803, and numerous Indian treaties added many more. Still the War Hawks coveted Canada.

The War Hawks appeared in Congress during Madison’s first term. Their numbers were mostly made up of the younger representatives in the House from the southern and western states. More senior members of Congress sometimes ridiculed them as “boys,” but in December 1811, charismatic War Hawk Henry Clay of Kentucky was elected by his party as Speaker of the House, the most powerful leadership position in the House of Representatives. With Clay as their leader, the War Hawks could push steadily for war with Britain in spite of Madison’s reluctance.

Unlike many members of his own party, Madison was not a strong expansionist. He had served as secretary of state for President Jefferson, and in that role, it had been Madison’s job to design the restrictions of the trade embargoes intended to restrain British incursions on American neutrality. Madison continued to work hard to resolve disagreements peacefully, and some in his party accused him of weakness for it.

The War Hawks had no use for embargoes. They argued that war was the only way to truly protect American honor and sovereignty, to stop impressment, and to retaliate against British agents who armed Indians on the western frontier. The agrarian imperative to expand necessitated the use of war in order to annex Canada and Florida—another piece of real estate on the War Hawks’ lists. With these added territories, all Americans would be able to own their own land, be fully independent, and depend on no one else for survival.

The voices of the Federalists, who came mostly from the northeastern part of the country, were outnumbered in the government. Federalists saw the current problem as more simply a matter of trade interference and favored a diplomatic solution. War, they feared, would cut off all trade and be devastating to America’s economy, especially in the northeastern cities. On the practical side of political matters, adding new land would ultimately result in more agrarian states that would vote Democratic-Republican, so this war effort was also a maneuver to use the party system to tip the political balance even further from Federalism. Above all, the Federalists felt it was unjust that the country should go to war when the war only favored one section of the country while doing serious damage to another.

The desire to annex Canada was initially strong. Many Americans had settled in Canada, and by 1812 made up three-quarters of its population. War Hawks in Washington expected Americans living in Canadian territories to flock to the invading troops in support, although that did not happen. In the northeastern United States, where international trade policies had had the most adverse effects, Americans still mostly opposed the war, and during the conflict, many New Englanders carried on illicit trade with Canada, aiding the British war effort with foodstuffs, timber, and other supplies.

The Americans who lived in Canada desired that trade as well. Many nearby districts of Canada had been settled by economic migrants from the United States. They had moved to Canada for the free land and lower taxes and generally felt only casual allegiance to the British Crown. Yet their American origins did not make them favor the American side of the coming conflict either. These migrant farmers wanted only peace in order to preserve their agricultural and trading interests. Despite their neutrality, they eventually saw more land-based hostilities than any other region of the continent.

There were other reasons for leaving the United States for Canada in the years after the American Revolution. Some Americans who moved to Canada did so because they had been Loyalists during the Revolution. Not all Loyalists felt the need to move immediately, and so their migration northward was a gradual process. Religious pacifist groups also desired to leave the pugnacious young country. Life in Canada seemed quieter. Mennonites, Quakers, and other members of the historic peace churches called war an “anti-Christian practice,” in the words of Quaker James Moore in the tract, “A Lamentation for Pennsylvania.” They did not support the fighting of a violent revolution for any purpose, no matter how noble seeming. Many protested the impending second conflict and refused to pay the militia tax when it was imposed.

Not all peace church members felt the need to leave. In a commitment to religious freedom, the Militia Act of 1808 in the United States allowed members of peace churches to be exempt from military service. This ruling worked well for the Quakers who regarded themselves as members from birth. However, among the Mennonites and the Brethren in Christ, members had to choose to join and usually did not do so until they were 21. This meant that males aged 16 and up, who were not yet members, could be called into service. In Canada, where peace churches were also recognized, this problem was resolved by the lobbying of ministers, elders, and members. The 1810 Upper Canadian law exempted minors in these churches, provided their fathers were eligible for military service exemption.

Military service of males was not the only onerous requirement for pacifists. Armies in those times expected the citizenry to provide for their needs while on campaigns. In Canada, the 1809 Act for Quartering and Billeting, on Certain Occasions, his Majesty’s Troops, and the Militia of this Province required farm families to provide lodging and a means to cook for militia and soldiers. Often they were also asked to provide food for which they hoped to be compensated after the war. Boats, horses, oxen, sleds, and wagons might also be commandeered by the armed forces with a modest rental payment or promise of future compensation. Refusal was met with a monetary fine at least.

While everyone objected to their property being conscripted, members of peace churches also objected on moral grounds. They did not wish to assist the war in any way. Some paid fines for noncompliance. Others fled into the woods, their property or goods confiscated for use or auctioned to pay fines. Between 1808 and 1810, as a consequence of their resistance, peace church members endured financial penalties totaling more than 243 pounds. Those who faced prison as a consequence of their principles risked death in squalid conditions, as was the case with Joseph Roberts who died from exposure in the York (now Toronto) prison during a harsh winter.


Chapter Three

Declaration and Reaction

“And whereas, by the same order, ‘all trading in English merchandise is prohibited, and every article of merchandise belonging to England, or coming from her colonies, or of her manufacture, is declared lawful prize.’”

—Order in Council, November 11, 1807

The Orders in Council, passed by Britain in 1807, were by 1811 causing damage to British exports. These fell by nearly 18,000,000 pounds in value over one year. The causes were partly Napoleon’s recent actions on the continent—inhibiting British trade as well as American involvement in Atlantic trade, inflation, and speculation. The British suffered from the economic slump of 1811, but even the Americans felt it. Within Britain, the price of bread rose, aggravated by two years of poor harvests. Popular discontent against the Napoleonic war grew.

Beginning as early as November 1810, Napoleon had started to loosen the constraints of the Berlin and Milan Decrees in so far as they covered American trade. President Madison asked the British several months later to revoke the Orders in Council of 1807. By November 1811, both France and Britain had eased their respective trade restrictions so that merchants were feeling relief. Goods such as cotton, quinine, sugar, coffee, tea, and dyes could move more freely from colonial ports, and ships under different flags had fewer constraints. Economically, conditions looked a little hopeful.

Isolated political incidents continued to occur. In a preserved letter draft at the National Archives, dated ca. March 6, 1812, Secretary of State James Monroe wrote to Sir Augustus John Foster, British Minister Plenipotentiary to the United States about two cases involving the capture or detention of American ships Catharine and Julian, both carrying colonial produce. Questioning the legal justification for the actions, Monroe reminded Foster that these matters were “gross injuries to the US & may be made a cause of war,” but he also noted some concerns were a matter between the United States and France only. The Catharine and the Julian were caught between the Orders in Council and the Berlin and Milan Decrees.

Despite concessions on the economic front, Congress was gearing up for war. The big difficulty, however, was that America was not ready for war. Neither Jefferson nor Madison had done anything to rebuild the military institutions that had languished after the Revolution. The Federalists were the party of strong government, but they had been out of power for many years. And where would the money come from? Alexander Hamilton’s Bank of the United States had been created with a 20-year charter, and that had been allowed to expire in 1811. Without a bank, it was difficult for America to establish credit with other countries, and America simply needed to accumulate some capital. Nevertheless, the country moved ahead without worrying yet about how it all would happen.

In June 1812, Madison could delay no longer. As was stipulated in the Constitution, he asked Congress for a declaration of war. The House passed one in three days, in a vote of 79 to 49, while the Senate took nearly two weeks with a final vote of 19 to 13 on June 17. Augustus Foster met Madison later that afternoon at one of the First Lady’s weekly Executive Mansion socials. They spoke cordially, and Foster noted that Madison looked extremely pale, undoubtedly affected by thoughts of what the future portended.

The Congressional act of war was signed by Madison on June 18. It is worth noting that of the five wars that have been formally declared in United States history, the vote in 1812 was the closest. Only Democratic-Republicans voted for war, and about two dozen of them refused their support. All Federalists opposed the war. Although some thought that the war would be a boon for the agrarian, expansionist goals of the Democratic-Republicans, the war also had the effect of giving a stronger voice to the opposition seeking a stronger economy of trade and industry in the United States.

It is sometimes pointed out as an irony or miscommunication that just five days after Madison signed the Declaration of War—and 17 months after Madison had made the request—Great Britain finally revoked the hated Orders in Council of 1807. These orders had for so long stirred up feelings of abused American sovereignty and neutrality rights. By the time they were revoked, it was too late to stop the War Hawks’ push for action on the battlefield.

Cooperation with the war effort was not reliable. Ever since the Non-Importation Act passed under Jefferson, New England merchants had been suffering from federally-imposed American embargoes and the numerous restrictions created by the other nations engaged in the European wars. In many New England communities, up to half of working men were unemployed. Debts went unpaid, and local banks failed. New England states were hurt far more severely than southern states. Yet, when war was declared, Massachusetts governor Caleb Strong was loud in his condemnation. When Madison asked for the Massachusetts Militia’s help in the war effort, Strong refused to send his soldiers out of the state. In response, Madison sent no infantry to all of New England.

Strong set about building defenses in Boston against British invasion, but the governor was so opposed to the war that even his construction of Fort Strong was of limited worth for defense. Luckily for Boston, the British never attacked, although they did fire upon some other coastal towns. New England leaders were never as angry at the British as they were with Washington during the course of the war. Frequent talk of secession from the union nearly came to a head late in the war with the Hartford Convention.

Elsewhere, especially in the south, Federalists could expect to meet with violence for communicating anti-war sentiment. Just days after war was declared, the publisher of a Federalist newspaper in Baltimore, Maryland, was determined to express his point of view, but Democratic-Republicans saw any anti-war talk as unpatriotic and worthy of severe punishment without any due process of law. The publisher of the Federal Republican, Alexander Contee Hanson, succeeded in provoking the mob to the extent that they destroyed his office and printing press. For Hanson, “The last hope of civilization, law, and order was old Mother England.”

A month later, Hanson was settled in another office space inside a home. He had asked Federalist friends to join him there and protect the premises from the anticipated mob as he started up his new press. Among Hanson’s friends were General Henry “Light-Horse Harry” Lee and General James M. Lingan, both of Revolutionary War fame. Lee, in particular, devoted himself to the cause with a strategic plan for defending the house which the group implemented, but soon the mob became exceptionally destructive. In the interest of general safety, Hanson and his friends bowed to the civil authorities and took refuge at the Baltimore jail.

Later that night, Hanson and the others unwisely chose to rush the mob in the darkness and escape. It was a tragic disaster. Reportedly armed with clubs, knives, and hot oil, the mob attacked the Federalists with murderous intent. Lingan was killed while eleven others were severely injured. Henry Lee was thought dead but made a partial recovery until he succumbed to his injuries in 1818. Alexander Hanson was badly injured and died in 1819 at the age of 33. A witness to the riot reported the crowd was shouting, “We’ll root out the damn’d tories. We’ll drink their blood. We’ll eat their hearts.”

Did the Baltimore mob follow through and enlist in the local militia? In 1812, the actual number of soldiers in the United States army was about 7,000. The United States Navy consisted of gunboats built by Jefferson for coastal defense. Leaders viewed the army as the means for offensive strikes, the “sword” of their military metaphor, whereas militia defended the homeland and were the “shield.” With such a small standing army, many militiamen were sent on invasive attacks into Canada for which they were ill-trained.

Madison’s administration planned to increase the size of the army to 36,000 men using volunteers. Army volunteers were preferred because they were less likely to desert or refuse to reenlist. Militia terms of service were often short, only weeks or months, and militiamen were often farmers who planned to return home in time to bring in the harvest. During the War of 1812, an estimated 13 percent of soldiers deserted the ranks.

Volunteers were also preferred because they were recruited directly by federal authorities. State governors could not interfere with the orders that were given them. On the other hand, it fell squarely on the federal government to pay volunteers.

Finally, the militia had a lack of discipline, poor training, and unreliability under combat conditions. These problems improved greatly as they gained experience, and those militias from frontier and border regions were more skilled from the outset, but in general, leading them into battle was a challenge. Before General Henry Lee was disabled in the Baltimore Riots, he had asked Madison, despite their different political beliefs and the fact that Lee was in retirement, for an army commission on the western frontier but had requested regular army soldiers instead of militia.

Despite the preference for volunteers, only about 70,000 participated on the American side during the entire war. The remaining 458,000 soldiers were militiamen.


Chapter Four

The Campaign of 1812

“The acquisition of Canada this year, as far as the neighborhood of Quebec, will be a mere matter of marching, and will give us experience for the attack of Halifax the next, and the final expulsion of England from the American continent.”

—Thomas Jefferson

Optimism was high at the beginning of the war despite the lack of preparation. Meanwhile the attention of the British royal forces was still directed toward Europe. Given the general lack of an American Navy, it is surprising that the first major American victories were at sea, but both involved the U.S.S. Constitution, noteworthy for its exceptional construction. That, of course, is not to say that America was the superior sea power—far from it. The United States had merchant marine strength rather than a battle fleet such as the British had.

After the Revolution, the United States sold all its warships, but in 1794, six frigates were built to fight against privateers from the Barbary State of North Africa. In 1812, there were four classes of vessels in use: the sloop with one mast and one deck; the brig with two masts and one deck; the frigate with three masts and two decks; and the man-of-war—or ship of the line—with multiple masts and decks. The United States had no ships of the line. At the beginning of the war, the American Navy counted only nine frigates, including the heavy frigate Constitution, and the remainder of their ships in smaller classes, although different sources vary in the exact number.

In terms of manpower, the British naval ranks were far more numerous than the American. The Royal Navy listed approximately 140,000 seamen on wages, of whom 31,000 were trained marines. The Americans, on the other hand, had 5,000 seamen and 1,000 marines. But Royal Navy ships suffered from a lack of manpower for which the hated policy of impressment was their best solution. Impressed sailors could be expected to lack loyalty. American shipboard conditions were no better, but many sailors came from coastal communities and were experienced on merchant, whaling, and fishing ships. They were motivated to fight for their freedom to trade, and their officers had practical combat experience against the Barbary States.

The American frigates were built larger and heavier than Royal Navy frigates. As a result, when they engaged in single ship combat, the odds were on the American side. On August 19, the Constitution burned and sank the H.M.S. Guerriere, having done the ship so much damage that it was not worth taking as a prize. On October 25, the U.S.S. United States captured the H.M.S. Macedonian, and on October 26, the Constitution captured the H.M.S. Java. After such losses, the Royal Navy became more cautious choosing its encounters, but these victories were all cheerful news for the Americans who were simultaneously stinging from defeats on land in Canada.

The first major land movement in the war came from Michigan Territorial Governor General William Hull who led American forces into Canada from Detroit. The governor was a veteran of the Revolution and a lawyer not skilled in military tactics. Hull met Brock’s forces and Tecumseh’s warriors and was pushed back across the border into Fort Detroit which he surrendered on August 16, reportedly without firing a shot. Convicted of cowardice and neglect of duty, Hull was sentenced by military court to death. Madison upheld the judgment but set aside the sentence. Hull’s surrender at the outset of the war had a damaging effect on national morale.

After Hull’s ill-fated invasion, his replacement throughout the remaining area under American control was William Henry Harrison from Indiana Territory. The Northwestern territories then experienced coordinated Indian raids and British attacks led by Major General Henry Procter. Harrison found it difficult to defend widespread settlements and trading posts.

To the northeast, United States Brigadier General Henry Dearborn, charged with attacking Montreal, was having trouble with New England militias under his command. Dearborn, a well-seasoned veteran of the Revolution, had served as Secretary of War under Thomas Jefferson and was responsible for the construction of Fort Dearborn once located within modern Chicago. Despite his earlier military experiences, Dearborn could not get his troops to cross the Niagara River. Instead, U.S. Major General Stephen Van Rensselaer and his advance units crossed on October 13, 1812 and took a position above Queenston on the heights. The main part of Van Rensselaer’s less disciplined militia force, however, was unable to follow across the river due to British artillery and fear, allowing the British to capture nearly 1,000 of the advance troops.

Although the British were victorious at Queenston Heights, General Brock was lost, shot on the battlefield while leading the charge. With Brock gone, Major General Roger Hale Sheaffe from Fort George took over command. Sheaffe was assisted by 300 Mohawk warriors. Although the Mohawks soon retreated, they had frightened the Americans. Seeing that the bulk of his forces were still on the wrong side of the river, Van Rensselaer crossed back to reorganize them but to no avail. His next thought was to send boats over to collect his retreating men, but no one would assist. Among the American prisoners who surrendered to the British were Brigadier General William Wadsworth of the New York Militia and five lieutenant colonels. Van Rensselaer resigned from his post in response to the defeat. Queenston Heights, like Detroit, was a serious loss for the United States.

Sheaffe proposed a temporary truce and allowed Van Rensselaer to send surgeons to treat American wounded on the British side. After the battle, Van Rensselaer was replaced as senior officer on the Niagara River by Brigadier General Alexander Smyth, who strangely had been among those who had failed to support Van Rensselaer’s invasion attempt. Smyth began publishing proclamations including his invasion plans for Canada on November 10 which ought to have alerted the British. His officers launched a successful raid to enable a full-scale invasion at the Battle of Frenchman’s Creek, but then Smyth failed, through poor planning, twice to cross the river at Fort Erie. It was November 31. By then, confidence in Smyth’s command had plummeted, and many of the troops were ill. Smyth’s men went into winter quarters. Three months later, Madison removed him from active duty.

Meanwhile, James Madison had hoped to bring the war to an early end. From U.S. Ambassador to Russia, John Quincy Adams, son of John Adams, Madison received the message that the tsar might act as a mediator between the United States and Great Britain. Madison was happy to accept the proposition and sent Albert Gallatin and James Bayard to join Adams as potential commissioners for that purpose in St. Petersburg. However, in September 1812, England was not at all interested in mediation.

America had planned a four-pronged attack on Canada. As it happened, two of the attacks failed, and two were not launched. Dearborn and his army remained relatively inactive at Albany, New York and seemed to be in no hurry to attempt an invasion. After the defeat of Van Rensselaer, Dearborn’s reluctance to act only increased, and he soon retired.

The 1812 Canadian campaign was a failure for the Americans, but the loss of General Brock was nevertheless a major blow to the British. Brock had inspired his troops, the militia, and civilian authorities in Canada by his confidence. General Sheaffe, his successor, was rewarded for his victory at Queenston Heights, but he did not receive the same esteem. He was a harsh disciplinarian and did not lead by example. Sheaffe’s success in Brock’s place could not help him escape criticism for not having followed up the victory at Queenston Heights with an attack on Fort Niagara. The American fort had been evacuated by its garrison after a bombardment from British batteries the afternoon of the battle and could have been taken.


Chapter Five

The Campaign of 1813

“You, too, will be driven away from your native land and ancient domains as leaves are driven before the wintry storms. Sleep not longer, O Choctaws and Chickasaws, in false security and delusive hopes. Our broad domains are fast escaping from our grasp.”

—Tecumseh, Shawnee chief

The Battles of Frenchtown, also called the Battles of the River Raisin, and the Raisin River Massacre that followed it, had reputedly the largest number of American casualties of the entire war. The attacks took place in the area of Frenchtown founded in 1784 on the River Raisin in Michigan Territory. The two battles occurred on January 18 and 22. January 23 was the day of the massacre.

Brigadier General James Winchester had been ordered to remain close to Major General Harrison’s Army of the Northwest about 30 miles south of Frenchtown. The two generals had been in conflict over precedence of command for several months. Winchester began the previous March as commander of the Army of the Northwest, but Winchester’s forces were from Kentucky, and since Harrison held a militia commission from Kentucky, he took charge of Winchester’s forces in the summer. In September, Winchester recovered his command only to lose it several days later when Harrison was promoted to major general. So although Winchester was to follow the more cautious Harrison, in January he sent part of his force without orders to try to recapture Frenchtown from the Canadians and British.

The January 18 battle went well for Winchester who detailed a detachment of 667 Kentuckians and about 100 Michigan militiamen under Lieutenant Colonel William Lewis to go north to Frenchtown along the frozen River Raisin. The 63 Canadian militia and 200 Potawatomi at the British and Indian camp charged several times and then retreated, “fighting log by log” in the dense woods according to an officer. Kentucky Rifleman William Atherton’s memoirs describe enemy fighting, stating, “Their method was to retreat rapidly until they were out of sight (which was soon the case in the brushy woods) and while we were advancing they were preparing to give us another fire.” After a two-mile withdrawal, the British forces slipped away, and the Americans reclaimed Frenchtown.

General Winchester caught up with Lewis two days later on January 20. Harrison was pleased with the outcome but also worried. He sent additional men to Frenchtown and ordered Winchester to prepare for attack.

Winchester did not pay attention to warnings of gathering British troops. By early January 22, 600 regulars and 800 Indians attacked. Winchester had placed his guards poorly, and the Americans quickly lost ground. There are several versions of what happened next, but it seems that Winchester’s troops were split and neither part could hold their position. Winchester was captured by Chief Roundhead of the Wyandot, and he surrendered to General Procter in return for protection and aid given to the wounded, but according to eyewitness accounts, 68 of the severely wounded were killed by the warriors. Harrison had not arrived in time.

The native rationale for killing the prisoners was that the prisoners were too badly injured to march from the battle site in Michigan Territory into Canada where the army needed to go. General Winchester himself was taken into Canada and kept in prison for over a year. The news angered Kentuckians back home, and thousands more from that territory volunteered for military service as a result.

The invasion of Canada was reorganized, this time with an attack on York (modern Toronto) in April. After heavy fighting, the American forces held York and captured some valuable military stores aside from those not already destroyed by the British. One incident of the battle that has achieved more importance in recent years was the deliberate explosion of the great munitions magazine set off by the retreating British troops at Fort York. The massive explosion sent rocks, cannonballs, and masses of debris flying into the Americans who were just advancing within range. Recent archaeological excavations of the crater left behind have created a new appreciation for the force of the explosion. An American explorer and general, Zebulon Pike, was approaching when he was killed by a rock that crushed his chest. More than 250 other Americans were killed or maimed. The explosion was so deadly and destructive that the Americans did not accept it as a normal act of property destruction by a retreating army and sought revenge.

York was plundered by an outraged U.S. army from April 28 to 30. The buildings of the Legislative Assembly were burned, and the Parliamentary mace of Upper Canada was taken to Washington and not returned until 1934 by President Franklin Roosevelt. The national printing office was destroyed. The American commander, Major General Henry Dearborn, appeared to do little to control his troops’ destructive behavior.

It took the Americans another month to regroup for an assault on Fort George. This effort, too, was successful for the Americans, but at the same time Canadian Governor Sir George Prévost prepared to attack Fort Tompkins at Sackets Harbor. It was a close fight, but in the end the British withdrew.

The siege of Fort Meigs in present-day Ohio returned the fight to the west. General Procter arrived with Chiefs Tecumseh and Roundhead and their warriors along with heavy artillery previously captured at Fort Detroit. Procter arranged his forces at Fort Miami across the Maumee River and began bombardment on May 1, 1813. William Henry Harrison and his army were already inside their home base of Fort Meigs. Noting the danger of the British artillery, Harrison sent word to General Green Clay and his Kentucky militia to come and overrun the British guns. This they did well but disobeyed the orders by chasing the British into the woods where the Kentuckians were ambushed. The siege dragged on. Most of the natives abandoned the operation, and the Canadian militia began to return to their farms. On May 9, Procter gave up the siege.

Although the Americans had already done well on the Atlantic Ocean, the Great Lakes were not easily dealt with. The British had seized control of Lake Erie from the onset of the war, but important American forts and settlements were on its southern shore. Americans also had no way to hold Lake Erie. By late 1812, the American naval ships on the lake were only a brig, two schooners, and a sloop. A new squadron of ships was constructed at Presque Isle in Lake Erie for Master Commandant Oliver H. Perry, who would use them after July 1813 to block British supplies heading toward Fort Amherstburg near Fort Detroit. Britain ordered Captain Robert Heriot Barclay and his squadron to engage Perry.

The Battle of Lake Erie was a long and violent battle on September 10 with a famous twist. When Perry’s flagship, the Lawrence, was so disabled of damaged guns and wounded crew that it could no longer fight, Perry took his personal banner and rowed to his second frigate, the Niagara. Meanwhile, the Lawrence surrendered itself but not the fleet since Perry had left, taking his banner and its ironic emblazoned motto, “Don’t Give Up the Ship.” These were among the last words of Captain James Lawrence, mortally wounded on the U.S.S. Chesapeake on June 1, 1813. Then with speed and fortunate winds, the Niagara—which was relatively undamaged because its captain had hitherto avoided the fighting—incapacitated Barclay’s remaining large ships while the smaller ships attempting to escape were chased down.

Perry’s unexpected maneuver of changing flagships reversed the outcome of the battle and enabled the United States to capture all six British ships. After the Battle of Lake Erie, Fort Amherstburg was abandoned by Procter, and the United States gained control of Lake Erie.

The victory on Lake Erie was a welcome boost to American morale. As a result of American control on the lake and lack of supplies, Procter took his forces and non-combatants on a retreat toward York along the Thames River. The retreat was badly managed. Food and morale were both low. At this time, Harrison had more than double the fighting men of Procter. Harrison’s army found the British on October 5 and sent a cavalry charge led by Colonel Robert M. Johnson. Some of Johnson’s men were survivors of the Raisin Massacre, and already the rallying cry “Remember the Raisin” was heard. Procter and some men escaped, but others were taken prisoner and held until the end of the war.

The outcome was a victory for the United States. Tecumseh was a major casualty of this charge, as was Roundhead. Hunger may have played a role in the poor performance of the British regulars. The conflict has been known both as the Battle of the Thames and the Battle of Moraviantown. Along with the events on Lake Erie, it gave control of the Northwest Territories to the United States, and with Tecumseh’s passing, the confederacy dissolved.

One last engagement of note in 1813 was the battle at Crysler’s Farm on November 11. A British and Canadian force about 60 miles southwest of Montreal defeated a much larger American army. The United States plan to take Montreal had been the primary occupation Secretary of War John Armstrong, Jr. for much of 1813, and one more attempt would be made.


Chapter Six

1814: War in the Balance

“I do not believe it would have been possible to have continued [after Napoleon] for the purpose of carrying on an American war.”

—Prime Minister Robert Jenkinson, 2nd Earl of Liverpool

With most of the military action focused on Canada and the Northwest Territories, it is easy to forget that there were those in Washington seeking to expand American lands in the south at the expense of southern tribes. On August 30, 1813, Creek warriors, calling themselves Red Sticks, had attacked Fort Mims in modern Alabama. Sometimes called a battle and other times a massacre, this conflict killed over 500 soldiers and settlers and 100 warriors. Tensions existed before, but now they were stirred higher and culminated in the March 27, 1814 Battle of Horseshoe Bend.

The Creek Indians had been trying to adapt to advancing white settlement. Originally a hunting and gathering society, many Creek were adjusting to an agricultural lifestyle including animal herding imposed by restricted settlement areas. Having been exposed to European goods, the Creek resented the government’s limitations on access to imports through official trading stores and the continuing pressure on resources from settlers.

The Creek were a large, well-organized confederacy of settlements capable of bringing a great many warriors under a collective leadership. In many ways, they were a more formidable but lesser known native opposition to the Americans during the war than Tecumseh’s confederacy in the north. When General Andrew Jackson led his militia against 800 Creek warriors at Horseshoe Bend, he won national attention with a victory that gave the United States a treaty ceding more than 21,000,000 acres of Creek lands.

Back in the north along the Canadian Niagara frontier, efforts were made to improve American army performance. Secretary of War John Armstrong placed Major General Jacob Brown and Brigadier General Winfield Scott in command of American forces. Their orders were to train troops and attack the British base at Kingston, Ontario, with intent to move in the direction of Montreal. Scott took over training tasks and was particularly effective at drilling instruction and enforcing camp sanitation.

When the army moved north, it encountered Major General Phineas Riall’s British force at Chippawa Creek. Riall tried to advance against Scott’s line but was pushed back. The Battle of Chippawa was short but a welcome victory for the Americans as well as a precursor for the Battle of Lundy’s Lane on July 25 when the two armies met again.

On July 25, as he approached Lundy’s Lane, Riall was reinforced by additional troops under his commander in chief, General Gordon Drummond. Ready for each other with higher stakes, casualties on both sides were much higher than at Chippawa Creek. Riall, Drummond, Scott, and Brown were all badly wounded. Eventually, the exhausted American troops withdrew and were not pursued. Their advance was halted, and they retreated to Fort Erie.

While armies were approaching Lundy’s Lane in Ontario, William Henry Harrison and Michigan Territory Governor Lewis Cass were negotiating the Treaty of Greenville with American and Canadian tribes, including the Wyandot, Delaware, Shawnee, Seneca, Miami, Potawatomi, Ottawa, and Kickapoo. The United States sought to disconnect these tribes from their British alliances and to obtain promises that no separate peace would be made by them with Britain. In return for “the faithful performance of the conditions of this treaty, the United States will confirm and establish all the boundaries between their lands and those of the Wyandots, Delawares, Shawanoese, and Miamies, as they existed previously to the commencement of the war,” signed by all parties on July 22, 1814.

By the time the Treaty of Greenville was signed, William Henry Harrison had already resigned his major general commission over a disagreement with the Secretary of War. This treaty was his last act in the Northwest Territory.

After both Generals Brown and Scott were wounded at Lundy’s Lane, Brown ordered Brigadier General Eleazer Ripley to take the retreating army to Fort Erie and hold the post with Brigadier General Edmund Gaines in command. Improvements were quickly made and troops added to the fort in preparation for action.

British General Drummond’s first efforts in the siege of Fort Erie began on August 3 but not until the night of August 15 was a direct assault mounted. After heavy casualties, Drummond resumed the siege, later receiving reinforcements. On August 29, Gaines was wounded and replaced by Ripley. Brown, still recovering from earlier wounds, did not trust Ripley’s tenacity and returned to command. By September 21, Drummond called off the siege. The Americans, however, were not able to hold Fort Erie for long. British control of Lake Ontario made supplying the fort impossible. American forces were withdrawn, and the fort was razed to prevent it being of use to the enemy.

Britain began planning naval strikes down the eastern American coast. Rear Admiral George Cockburn had already been raiding the Chesapeake region, and Vice Admiral Alexander Cochrane was sent in support. In Washington, a worried Madison called a Cabinet meeting on July 1, but Secretary of War Armstrong insisted that the capital was an unlikely target although Baltimore might be in danger. Armstrong gave military command of the region to the inexperienced Brigadier General William Winder who proceeded uncertainly.

A brigade of Napoleonic war veterans under Major General Robert Ross arrived on August 15. Contrary to Armstrong’s expectations, the British forces aimed for Bladensburg, Maryland near the District of Columbia on August 24. The point of battle was so near to Washington that both Monroe and Madison initially went to the scene. The weather was sultry and threatening. Winder’s militiamen were not prepared for the blast of the British artillery, and they did not know how to withdraw in an orderly fashion. When the line broke, it collapsed. Later commentators sarcastically referred to the retreat as the “Bladensburg Races.” Madison and his contingent barely stayed ahead of the retreat. By evening, the British reached D.C. Among the buildings burned, in retaliation for the American treatment of York, were the Capitol, the Executive Mansion, and the Treasury Building.

First Lady Dolley Madison did not leave the presidential home until the last moment when she received the news of the battlefield defeat as Ross and Cockburn marched on Washington. Although she had wisely already packed all of the important state papers into the carriages standing ready to flee, Mrs. Madison is most famous for having thought only at the last moment to save the Gilbert Stuart portrait of George Washington.

James Madison caught up with his wife the next night (August 25) at Wiley’s Tavern in Virginia. Having confirmed her safety, they made plans to preserve the government. For two days after the burning of Washington, hurricane-force storms impeded the armies and all travelers as they both headed toward Maryland. Madison, having first attempted for Maryland, heard that the British had left Washington and therefore summoned his cabinet on August 27 to join him in D.C. Mrs. Madison also returned and went to live in the home of her sister and brother-in-law until she could arrange a house for her and the president.

From the beginning of the war, in keeping with Madison’s abhorrence of a government creating a mighty war machine, the president had promoted the use of some 500 privateers to capture British ships and steal their goods and crews during the war. This was one way to interfere with the enemy without giving additional power to the government. The British believed that Baltimore was the seat for many of the American privateers, and therefore, an assault on Baltimore was the next objective. The assault by land would approach under Ross’s command via North Point while the naval attack under Cochrane aimed for Fort McHenry.

The Americans needed more time to prepare and so sought to delay the British. On September 12, Ross incautiously led an advance party toward North Point and was shot by marksmen. He died later that day. Colonel Arthur Brooke took command and engaged the American line for much of the afternoon at which time the Americans retreated and formed a new line. Brooke did not move forward. By the next day, the American defenses were strengthened, and Brooke could only wait for Cochrane’s evening bombardment on Fort McHenry before he could move. When the fort did not surrender by September 14, Brooke withdrew back to the fleet. Witnessing the overnight bombardment of Fort McHenry, which lasted 25 hours, Francis Scott Key was moved to write the words that would become the lyrics for the American national anthem.

While Baltimore was under heavy fire, Plattsburgh in northeastern New York became another target in Sir George Prévost’s eastern seaboard attack plan. Both sides brought land and naval power. On September 11, the U.S. naval squadron disabled the British fleet, forcing their army to retreat. With these battles, Britain and the United States were ready to begin discussing a treaty of peace at Ghent, Belgium.


Chapter Seven

Final Conflict and Peace

“Being deprived of my trade, in consequence of losing my arm in the service, and having received several very severe wounds, it was with great difficulty I could support my wife and children in a respectable manner; my pension at that time being only nine pence per day.”

—Shadrach Byfield, Private, 41st Regiment of Foot

Throughout 1814, discussions of peace in Europe were at a stalemate while unrest grew in New England. By December, Federalists decided to call delegates from the northern states to attend a convention to discuss “Mr. Madison’s War.” In particular, they were concerned about the president’s ability to bring all of the states into a war that some opposed. On December 15, delegates from Massachusetts, Rhode Island, Connecticut, New Hampshire, and Vermont met at Hartford, Connecticut. New Hampshire and Vermont, however, did not choose to join in an official capacity.

The participants included some of the most influential men of New England. Their biggest mistake was to decide to meet in secret although secret conventions were not unusual in those times. Rumors swirled that the Federalists were planning secession or treason, and Madison sent a regiment to Hartford pretending to collect recruits but in fact trying to gather information.

The convention made public its discussions on January 5 to the immediate relief of many. The participants had only worked to propose constitutional amendments on behalf of avoiding foreign wars. None of these proposals was ever seriously debated. As the war ended and Americans came to view it as a victory for the country, the Federalists at Harford looked increasingly unpatriotic. The Federalist Party was never a major force in politics again.

The Hartford Convention delegates did not know that while they were meeting, a peace treaty was at last achieving completion in Ghent. As the fortunes of war had shifted in 1814, the negotiations had changed course, but news traveled slowly across the Atlantic. Meanwhile Britain encountered trouble with Russia at the Congress of Vienna over ending the Napoleonic conflict and became more eager to get the North American discussion out of the way.

What is most interesting about the Treaty of Ghent is what it did not settle. It did not discuss neutral rights or the impressment of seamen. It also did not discuss native land rights. On the other hand, Britain agreed to surrender all territory it had claimed within the Northwest Territory. Places of boundary disputes between the United States and Canada would be referred by both parties to arbitration commissions. The United States and Britain also agreed to work to abolish the international slave trade. On paper, little had changed since 1812.

The British and American negotiating teams signed and sealed the treaty in Belgium on December 24, 1814. It was approved by Parliament and the prince regent in London on December 30. General Andrew Jackson did not hear of it until after he had fought the Battle of New Orleans in January 1815. General Pakenham, the leader of the British forces at New Orleans, had been warned secretly through channels that a treaty was in progress, but he was killed in the same battle on January 8. The treaty took weeks to reach America by ship, and it was not ratified by the United States Senate until February 17, 1815.


Conclusion

After the British forces involved in the campaign to capture New Orleans heard the Treaty of Ghent was approved by their own government, hostilities ceased, and the troops sailed to their base in the West Indies. England’s tasks were not over, however, for Napoleon escaped from his prison on Elba on February 26, 1815, and Britain had no more time for North America. In fact, Britain was very annoyed with the United States. For years Britain had been fighting the major threat of Napoleon while Madison and their old colonies had been such a nuisance. Britain never expended more than seven percent of its military effort in the American war and afterward barely seemed to acknowledge that it happened. Their only real goal had been to keep Canada intact. Success achieved.

The Canadians were relieved that they were still a separate colony with their own identity. If anything, the war had given them an identity. Canadian communities had been burned and looted by American troops during the war, and although time healed all wounds, Canadians felt they had successfully stood their ground against their southern neighbor. It was also a benefit that the Canadian economy had gained a wartime boost. Life was good.

The combatants who lost everything in the War of 1812 were the native tribes. They had hoped to win an agreement to keep their lands and peoples intact, to not be forced into further westward migrations, altered economies, or marginalization, but although the British made some effort to keep their promise to Tecumseh, the American negotiators at Ghent were not interested in hearing about making land concessions to the Indians. The conversation was soon dropped and forgotten with no further thought of giving representation to the Native Americans. By the end of the war, American possession of Indian lands had greatly increased, and the push for westward expansion amplified. No one cared to consider the costs to the Native Americans.

For Americans, this war is difficult to understand, but it gave the young country some useful lessons. The United States’ first experiment with declaring war produced the one war agreed by many historians as the most hated in American history. The country knew less about managing a standing army and navy than it realized, and despite some brilliant and dedicated minds, it had a lot to learn about diplomacy. As the War Hawk generation matured, it faced the much more complicated and dangerous rising tide of civil war over slavery. Although they could not put out that conflagration, years of compromises attempted to postpone it. The one lesson that was not learned for a very long time was when a country is built on equality, it cannot function without including all the people living within its borders.

Did Americans see those problems in 1815? No, not at all. They felt good about themselves. They had fought Britain and won. They had many heroic stories to tell, a national anthem, room to expand, flourishing trade, and self-confidence. The administration of the next president, James Monroe, ushered in the “Era of Good Feelings.” That said it all.
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Introduction

The American Civil War officially began on April 12, 1861, when Confederate troops fired on the United States’ Fort Sumter off the coast of Charleston, South Carolina. Yet like so many times in history when humans have fought each other, the origins of the war stretch back much farther, perhaps even to the arrival of the very first slaves in the English colony of Virginia in the early 1600s. What is more, the full story of the Civil War does not end with General Lee’s surrender on April 9, 1865 (and official disbanding of his Army of Northern Virginia three days later); the war’s impact was felt for decades afterward, and is arguably still with America today.

Few would question that the Civil War was a pivotal moment in American history, perhaps the young nation’s most important to date. As such, each generation of historians has told its story differently, hoping to harness its legacy for a variety of cultural and political ends. The way that Americans have remembered the war is just as important as the war itself, as it shaped future momentous events, including the Great Depression, the Civil Rights Movement, the War on Drugs, and many others.

One perennial topic of debate has been what, exactly, caused Americans to take up arms against each other, and the answer to this question more than any other has changed the most over the decades. While we will explore why successive generations fought about this question and why the truth was subverted, it is important to understand from the outset that the cause of the Civil War was slavery. More specifically, the cause of the Civil War was not primarily the defense of slavery where it existed already, but the protection of the spread of slavery into new and future territories of the United States. Slavery was not only an extremely lucrative form of labor that was beneficial to the enormously profitable style of agriculture in the Deep South, but the internal slave trade was a big business onto itself. After the United States closed the African slave trade and forbade the importation of slaves in 1807, the four million slaves in the country themselves became much more valuable. Their reproductive capabilities were a huge factor in their value and children, too were commodified. Especially in Upper South states like Maryland and Virginia, enslavers literally farmed human beings; they made incredible sums of money by selling their slaves into the cotton kingdom of the Lower South, with Georgia, Alabama, Louisiana, and Mississippi providing some of the most lucrative slave markets. What is more, manumission became completely out of reach for virtually all slaves in America, as they themselves were far too valuable to be dispensed of in such a manner. Thus, even in states where slaves were becoming a less important form of labor, slavery remained profitable and valuable. Other issues on which past historians have placed blame for the war — including states’ rights, the tariff, and blundering politicians — would not have been issues at all had it not been for the nature of American slavery.

At the same time that the story of the Civil War includes its causes and its impacts, it is not only about the battles, either. During the war, many other factors played hugely decisive roles its outcome. These included the politics and government of both the United States (commonly referred to as the “Union”) and the rebellion, or the Confederacy; the roles of women, immigrants, free blacks, and slaves; as well as cultural and social differences between North and South. All of these factors will be explored herein, and I encourage any reader who finds any particular aspect of this story interesting to explore further; historians have written more books on the Civil War than the number of days that have passed since the war’s end. There is much to learn.


Chapter One

America in the Antebellum Era

As previously stated, the complete, complex story of the Civil War should probably begin at least with the landing of the first slaves in what would become the United States. However, for the sake of simplicity and space, we will begin our discussion with the framing of the American Constitution, the document that has shaped American government since its infancy. This document, and the debates that surrounded it, formed the basis of the conflict to come. The issue of slavery was one of the most divisive for the new nation, even before the Constitution was written and ratified. For one thing, the nature of slavery ran contrary to the ideals on which the new nation was built: freedom, equality, and opportunity. In fact, there was a rash of slaveholders who manumitted their slaves in the immediate aftermath of the war. America’s “Founding Fathers” grappled with the issue of slavery, and in the end, the Constitution awarded major concessions to the states in which slavery was prominent (slavery was legal in almost all the states at this time), and many of these concessions would haunt American politics until the South finally made good on its promise to secede in 1860. In other words, the divisiveness of slavery did not appear in 1820, or the 1830s, or the 1850s; it was present from the nation’s birth. Over ensuing decades, slavery never ceased to be an issue in American politics, especially national politics. While all of the manifestations of the issue cannot possibly be explored herein (nor in a monograph ten times this length or more!), proceed with the knowledge that it continued to play a role in economic, cultural, social, political, and class issues in the nation.

While slavery was an ever-present problem, it flared up at certain points. One issue that the Constitution did not address directly was the spread of slavery. While it allowed for the abolition of the African slave trade, it did not rule on whether slavery should spread as America grew in size, and this question more than any other manifested itself time and again. The nature of American slavery necessitated that it be able to spread, for several reasons. For one thing, slavery was profitable because slaves produced cash crops, which are crops produced in mass quantity for sale at market, often the international market. In the United States these included tobacco, rice, and indigo, but primarily cotton. In order to continue to be profitable, markets must expand. As markets expand, demand for the raw materials — the cash crops — increases. Throughout the antebellum period, cotton especially became more and more profitable. Amazing technological developments in textiles meant that factories in the North and in Great Britain were producing more cheap clothing to meet demand, and hungrily gobbled up more and more cotton. This meant that more cotton needed to be grown in order for Southerners to remain competitive in the global cotton market, and it meant that Southerners needed more land on which to farm. As the United States acquired territory and new states were admitted, it was of absolute economic necessity to Southerners that slavery also be allowed to expand.

Secondly, slavery was an industry onto itself. The trade in human beings was one of the most active and lucrative trades in the country, and accounted for a significant portion of the wealth in the United States. What is more, much of the wealth of slave owners was held in the bodies of slaves, much as your wealth might be in property or stocks instead of cash. If the value of stock that you own decreases, the value of your share of that stock goes down, too. Slaves were an investment; should slavery become less important or less profitable, the humans that slaveholders owned also became less profitable. Thus, any threat to the survival and spread of slavery — real or perceived — was a threat to the wealth of anyone who owned slaves.

The third major reason why the spread of slavery was important to Southerners is directly related to the other two, and deals with the way the American government was set up at the time. While this issue is quite complex, simply put, maintaining a balance between “free states” and “slave states” became vitally important to both sides. The U.S. Congress — The House of Representatives and the Senate — passes legislation, and maintaining the free/slave state balance meant maintaining some semblance of balance in representation between the two factions, so that neither the North nor South could further their own interests on the slavery issue unchecked. Keeping this balance meant that the slave states could protect the spread of slavery, which meant protecting not only a way of life, but an entire economic system. Most of the major crises that erupted in U.S. politics during the antebellum period revolved around the spread of slavery, and almost every time, the South’s leaders either subtly or overtly threatened to secede from the Union — this meant that they would break away from the United States to form their own separate country. It is also important to note that this did not necessarily mean that a civil war would be fought; it was not outside the realm of reality that the remaining U.S. states would simply allow the South to leave without a fight.

One of the earliest of these major crises occurred in 1820, over the admission of Missouri into the Union as a state. Missouri was not clearly Southern or Northern, but its admission as either slave or free would tip the balance in either direction. The debate raged on, becoming more virulent, until a Senator from the state of Kentucky named Henry Clay stepped in. He came up with the Missouri Compromise, which allowed Missouri to be admitted as a slave state, while Maine broke away from Massachusetts and became a free state. What is more, he believed that he solved the territory question by drawing a line straight across the continent and declaring that everything below it was slave territory and above it was free. This system did remain in place for a few decades, but would prove insufficient in the long term.

Over the ensuing decades, the nature of American slavery changed quite a bit. As discussed above, slavery became more valuable as cotton became more lucrative, and slavery as an institution became more deeply entrenched. Fights over the extension and protection of slavery in the halls of Congress were an ever-present problem. Other social and cultural differences also drove the sections apart. The North, especially the cities, was industrializing rapidly. The Industrial Revolution changed the nature of work and daily life for Northerners. The North also saw an enormous influx of immigrants, particularly from the 1840s and on when the Irish potato famine struck. This inflated the population of the North, diversifying its people and creating cultural problems and adaptations that were unique to that section. In other words, the North and the South were looking more and more different as time went on. Although the vast majority of Northerners were not abolitionists — people who favored and fought for the emancipation of slaves — there was a growing anti-slavery sentiment in the North. Some of it was political: especially among Northern Democrats, but increasingly felt by those of all parties, there was growing discontent with the “Slave Power.” Some of it, though, was cultural, especially since slavery saw no signs of slowing down or abating, more and more it was becoming a national shame. Most of the world’s nations had outlawed slavery: France, Mexico, Great Britain and the British Empire, and several other Latin American and European countries freed their slaves. This humanitarian impulse was growing during the later antebellum era.

The 1850s opened with another major crisis that again involved the spread of slavery. What is often referred to as the “Compromise of 1850” was the passage of a series of bills meant to avoid a secession crisis. Although it is so named, it gave major concessions to the South and helped to fuel the sectionalist fire. The North was especially outraged at the strengthened Fugitive Slave Act, which compelled all people in the nation to help capture runaway or suspected runaway slaves. The decade did not improve sectional relations, which were exacerbated by rising cotton prices. The decision by the Supreme Court in Dred Scott v. Sanford outraged Northerners, who were then compelled to protect slavery everywhere in the United States. The publication of Harriet Beecher Stowe’s Uncle Tom’s Cabin, as well as slave narratives from escaped slaves like Frederick Douglass and Solomon Northrup, opened Northerners’ eyes to the horrors of slavery and fueled anti-slavery sentiment. Crises in the two major political parties also played their part. The Whig Party, which had favored a stronger federal government and maintained a national coalition of Northerners and Southerners, fell apart in the 1850s. In their place, eventually the Republican Party rose, and posed a serious challenge in the presidential election of 1860. This party was more sectional, almost entirely Northern, and some of its leaders openly opposed the spread of slavery (not the existence of it). At the same time, the Democrats were thrown into crisis by the election of 1860; the factions of the party could not come together on a candidate, and ended up running three candidates, which split the Democratic vote and essentially handed victory to the Republican Abraham Lincoln. Southerners believed Lincoln was a direct threat to the institution of slavery, and several states called secession conventions.


Chapter Two

Secession and the First Shots

The immediate cause of secession was the election of Abraham Lincoln, a Republican, to the presidency in 1860, though the conflict between North and South had clearly been building for decades. Abraham Lincoln was actually not President when secession occurred. He was elected in November of 1860, and in the months between his election and inauguration in March 1861, seven states seceded from the Union. South Carolina, which had long advocated for secession, was the first, in December 1860. During January, Mississippi, Georgia, Louisiana, Alabama, and Florida followed suit, and Texas seceded in early February. President Buchanan, who was a Democrat, was in office at the time, and chose not to take action. Rather, he preferred to let his successor handle the crisis, since his election had brought it on anyways. During the time between his election and inauguration, Lincoln was clear that he did not believe that secession was constitutional and planned to take action. It was not clear what that action would be, but most Americans, North and South, suspected war.

Lincoln did not immediately declare war upon taking office. He did not want the North to be seen as the aggressor. What is more, he was determined to treat secession not as an act of a sovereign nation, but as a domestic rebellion: he never acknowledged that the South was an independent country, and truly believed that they were not. He also allowed the South to become the instigator. The state of South Carolina was a hotbed of secessionist fervor and protection of slavery; some of the most ardent supporters of secession and Southern rights throughout the antebellum period hailed from the state. Charleston was a very busy port city in the state, and as such, was an important site of the internal slave trade. It also attracted politicians and politics. The United States had established a fort on a small island off its coast, Fort Sumter. It remained occupied by U.S. troops after secession, and by April, their supplies were dangerously low. The Confederacy warned Lincoln that they considered the fort within their domain, but since he did not acknowledge the legality of secession, he felt it was necessity to resupply the U.S. fort and its men, even though he suspected to be met with hostility. As he attempted to do so, Southern troops fired on the fort on April 12, 1861.

As the artillery battle waged, Charlestonians gathered along the Battery to watch in a very festive atmosphere; not knowing the horror that was to come, they welcomed the opening of hostilities. The troops on Fort Sumter returned fire, but were subdued. They surrendered the following day and were allowed to evacuate. The three casualties of the battle were caused by issues with their own equipment. Nonetheless, this was a momentous occasion: it prompted President Lincoln to call for troops to fight the Confederacy and reunite the Union. Both Northern and Southern men answered the call in droves. What is more, the opening of the war on April 12 and the call for troops on April 15 prompted four more states to hold secession conventions. By May, Virginia, North Carolina, Arkansas, and Tennessee had also seceded. These were not all of the “slave states,” though. As more states fell to secession, Lincoln moved to protect those that remained in the Union. Kentucky, Missouri, Maryland, Delaware, and after 1863, West Virginia were called “border states.” They occupied both a real and imagined border between the U.S. and the Confederacy: they were slave states that lay between the seceded South and free North, but they also provided a kind of legal buffer-zone between slave and free. All of these states did have to deal with pro-Confederate factions, and there was much violence and guerrilla fighting within them. The divisions within these states reflected how divided the nation itself had become.


Chapter Three

Early Battles and the Turning Point: April 1861-July 1863

There were many, many skirmishes, battles, and engagements during the Civil War. Nearly 300 named battles are recorded, but hundreds of other smaller clashes occurred as well. What is more, all of these engagements were marked by their ferocity and at times, cruelty. There was much anger and hatred on both sides, as each blamed the other for the long-suffering and enormous casualties. Several smaller, less decisive engagements were fought in the few months after the firing on Fort Sumter, but it was not until the summer months that both sides had raised sufficient armies for major battles to occur. The First Battle of Bull Run, or First Battle of Manassas, was fought on July 21, 1861. The North wanted to put down the rebellion quickly, and the surest way to achieve that end was to seize the Confederate capital at Richmond, Virginia. Thus, Union troops headed in that direction. They met the Confederates in Virginia, north of Richmond, close to Washington, D.C. While both sides suffered from poor leadership and were not prepared for battle, it was technically a Confederate victory, as the Union forces were forced to retreat. Although it would be far from the bloodiest battle of the war, it was the bloodiest that Americans had experienced in any war up until that point; it was a sobering experience. Both sides realized that the war was likely to last much longer than they anticipated, and Lincoln called for 500,000 more troops. In many ways, this battle set the somber tone for the war.

The military action of the Civil War is usually separated into the eastern and western theaters. While many of the major battles were fought in the east, fighting was nonetheless ferocious in the west. During the summer of 1861, another major engagement occurred, this time in the west, in August. Missouri, where the Battle of Wilson’s Creek was fought, was divided during the war. Although the state never seceded, southern sympathizers waged guerrilla warfare in the south of the state especially, and supported the Confederacy. This battle, another Confederate victory, bolstered Southern spirits and support for the Confederacy in the state.

Several more small or medium sized battles were fought during the remaining months of 1861 and early 1862 in several states and territories in both the east and west. Although none proved decisive in the course or the outcome of the war, they certainly had an impact on leaders’ decision making, and the casualties added up. It was not until February, however, that the Union achieved its first major victory at the Battle of Fort Donelson in Tennessee. In the early years of the war, the North suffered from poor leadership: none of their generals or commanders proved themselves capable of winning the war, and leadership of various divisions of the army changed hands several times. At the Battle of Fort Donelson, however, a lower-ranking General named Ulysses S. Grant caught the attention of Lincoln and his Secretary of War. Over a five-day battle, he managed to capture the Confederate fort on the Cumberland River on the border of Kentucky, an important strategic victory. He also forced an unconditional surrender. This battle helped boost the morale of the Union, which they sorely needed. Over the course of the next several months, they would win more victories, including at the Battle of Pea Ridge in Arkansas, another large battle.

The Battle of Gettysburg (discussed below) is widely regarded as the most important battle of the war, and the battle that turned the tide in favor of the Union. The Battle of Glorieta Pass, fought in March, 1862 in the New Mexico territory, is lesser-known, but nonetheless dubbed the “Gettysburg of the West.” While it was certainly less decisive than the actual Battle of Gettysburg, it was probably the most important military event in the far western territory, occurring on March 28, 1862. Confederates hoped to break U.S. control over the territory, and initially, they were successful in forcing the Union troops to retreat. However, they were unable to maintain their supply line, and eventually they too fell back, never to regain that ground again. As the war back east became fiercer, the west became less important, and there was never another engagement in the New Mexico Territory of as much importance as this one.

In the next couple of weeks, two extremely important battles were fought east of the New Mexico territory. The first was the Battle of Shiloh in Tennessee, where the Union forces were again led by General Grant in the western theater, and were again victorious. On the morning of April 6, the Confederate commander of the western theater, General Johnson, launched a surprise attack on General Grant’s army, camped on the Tennessee River. Chaos ensued, as Union soldiers scrambled to answer the attack and Confederates scattered in the swamps and heavily forested areas. Johnson himself perished from a gunshot to the leg; when his second in command, General Beauregard, took over, he decided that the troops were too tired from fighting all day to launch a final assault that night. During the night, though, Grant’s army was reinforced in large numbers, and this time, he launched the surprise morning attack on the Confederates. The battle was a Union victory, but at great cost. It was the bloodiest battle of the war up to that point: Union casualties numbered over 13,000, Confederates over 10,000. Grant’s reputation also suffered, as many in the North blamed him for being unprepared for battle, while U.S. General Sherman, who would later emerge as one of the war’s other decisive leaders, won acclaim for his heroism.

Over the course of the rest of the month, the U.S. forces worked to capture the city of New Orleans. The Battle of Fort Jackson and Fort St. Philip greatly weakened Confederate defenses of the city, which finally fell by the beginning of May. This was an enormous victory for the Union, and an even bigger blow to the Confederacy. It cannot be overstated how important New Orleans, located near the mouth of the Mississippi River, was. It was the South’s most prosperous city and busiest port. The loss also meant that supplying the army along the Mississippi River would be much, much more difficult. Additionally, the U.S. would not stop here: they continued the offensive throughout Louisiana, and the state would be the first of the Confederacy to fall.

The summer months would see several Confederate victories, however. General “Stonewall” Jackson — so nicknamed for being a “stone wall” against his opponents — won a decisive victory in Winchester, Virginia in May. In June, General Robert E. Lee, commander of the Confederate forces, won a seven-day battle against General McClellan at the Battle of Gaines’ Mill in Virginia. Their armies met several more times during the summer, with victories bouncing back and forth, but Lee winning the more decisive engagements. In August, Lee won another key victory at the Second Battle of Bull Run (or Second Battle of Manassas) against General John Pope. Like the first battle on the same grounds outside of Washington, D.C., this win was a huge morale booster for the South and just the opposite for the North. Unlike the first battle, though, casualties were very heavy on both sides, and this battle was considerably bloodier, perhaps representative of the more vicious turn the war had taken in the interim. General Pope was also dismissed from commanding the Union Army of Virginia, one of many changes in command that the Union ranks went through during the war.

The fighting would only get bloodier from here. Had any Americans, Northern or Southern, been told that they had not yet seen the bloodiest days of the war, they probably would not have believed it. Antietam changed that. Fought in Sharpsburg, Maryland on September 17, 1862, this would be the bloodiest day of the entire war (though not the bloodiest battle). What made it more disheartening for both sides was that the Battle of Antietam (or the Battle of Sharpsburg) was not a resounding victory on either side. Lee attempted to make headway into Northern territory by invading Maryland, but McClellan was able to stop his offensive. Lee retreated back to Virginia, but Lincoln was infuriated that McClellan ended the fighting upon Lee’s retreat and did not chase Lee’s army and deal a decisive blow. Because Lee retreated, it was technically a U.S. victory, though casualties — totaling almost 23,000 — were about equal on both sides. Shortly after the battle, Lincoln took the opportunity to announce his plans for an Emancipation Proclamation.

At no point during the war did fighting cease. Battles continued to rage in Missouri, Florida, Kentucky, Mississippi, Texas, Arkansas, Virginia, North Carolina, and even Indian Territory. The year of 1862 ended with a major Confederate victory at the Battle of Fredericksburg in Fredericksburg, Virginia between December 11 and 15. The fighting took place not only on battlefields, but also throughout the streets of the small town. With General Burnside at the helm, the Union Army of the Potomac launched an offensive on the Confederate stronghold. Sporadic and at times heavy fighting continued for a couple of days. Burnside knew that in order to take the town, he would need to defeat the Confederate stronghold on the heights outside the city, known as Marye’s Heights. However, they were heavily fortified, and his attacks failed miserably. He finally retreated after suffering over 12,000 casualties, more than twice the losses on the Confederate side. Southerners were ecstatic at the news, and celebrated over the holiday, many sincerely hoping that the victory was the beginning of the end of the war. The opposite tone prevailed in the North, as both Lincoln and his commanders came under increased scrutiny in the press. The year 1863 would bring much controversy and much perlustration for the president.

The rest of the winter and early spring brought continued bloodshed and battles throughout the country, even in places as far away as present-day Idaho. By late spring, though, a series of decisive battles would be fought, and by midsummer, the tide of war had turned significantly in favor of the North. Certainly, the issuance of the Emancipation Proclamation changed the tone of the war. Several important battles occurred in May of 1863. The first was the Battle of Chancellorsville, a seven-day engagement that began on April 30 and ended May 7 in Virginia, near where the Battle of Fredericksburg took place. General Hooker was now in charge of the Union Army of the Potomac. Hooker was cautious, and this ended up costing him a victory to Lee’s Army of Northern Virginia, which was about half the size of his. Lee took a huge chance by splitting his smaller army in two, allowing them to make separate counter-strikes against the U.S. forces. This decision proved genius, and is often cited as proof that Lee was a great general. The battle was not without losses, however; Lee’s attacks on the second day of the battle produced huge casualties, and it became the second bloodiest day of the war. Worse yet, Stonewall Jackson was mortally wounded in this battle, which was a huge blow to the South. Not only was he an effective leader, he was a Southern military hero. Nonetheless, the victory was a morale booster for the South, and raised frustrations in the North over military leadership and the course of the war.

While the fighting around Washington, D.C. in Virginia and Maryland was not progressing in Lincoln’s favor, two other generals were achieving victories in the west: Grant and Sherman. Grant won several Mississippi battles during early May near the city of Vicksburg, and his siege of the city began on May 18. Vicksburg is located on the Mississippi River and was a crucial supply line for the Confederates, especially after losing New Orleans. The siege finally ended when the city and army, suffering from shortage of food and unable to continue to fight, was forced to surrender to General Grant. They surrendered on July 4 — Independence Day, which marks the signing of the Declaration of Independence. Well into the twentieth century, Vicksburg did not celebrate this American holiday; for them, it was anything but a triumphant moment. At the same time, Port Hudson in Louisiana, also on the Mississippi River, was also under siege. They surrendered just a few days later, on July 9. After the surrender at Vicksburg, Port Hudson was the last Confederate stronghold on the Mississippi. The loss of these two cities was a huge blow to the Confederacy, not only to their morale but also their strategic ability. Northern leaders recognized the huge advantage they now had.

Frequent fighting continued through May and June. As with previous months, victories bounced back and forth, but frustratingly, many of the battles in Virginia especially were inconclusive. The victories in July on the Mississippi River had clearly changed this tone, but not as much as the Battle of Gettysburg, July 1-3, in Gettysburg, Pennsylvania. The meeting of Lee’s Army of Northern Virginia and the Union Army of the Potomac, led by General Meade (who took command just a few days before the battle) would be Lee’s second and last attempt to invade the North. He and his men were encouraged by their victory at Chancellorsville, and the invasion in Pennsylvania into strictly Northern, free territory (Pennsylvania had never allowed slavery) was meant both to demoralize the North and relieve the fighting in Northern Virginia, which had been long-term and especially fierce. The first day of the battle took place north of the town, where Union forces scrambled to defend their position. Their lack of preparedness forced them to flee through the town and to the south.

On the second day of the battle, the Union and the Confederacy were both better prepared. The Union assembled in a long, curved line, forcing the Confederacy to launch offensives in separate locations. Very heavy fighting with huge casualties occurred on locations like Little Round Top and Devil’s Den. On the opposite flank (the left flank), the other half of Lee’s Army attacked at Cemetery Hill and Culp’s Hill. Both sides suffered many deaths and injuries, but because they were in a defensive position, the Union was able to hold their lines and ended up victorious. On the final day of the battle, Lee ordered the Confederacy to launch a final offensive on the Union position on Cemetery Ridge. Union troops were positioned at the top of a very steep hill (so steep that the National Park Service has since built a special path so that the top of the hill would actually be accessible to visitors). In what became known as Pickett’s Charge (named for one of the three generals who led it), Confederate infantrymen scaled the steep, almost one mile hill as artillery was used to try to weaken Union defenses. However, it was in vain - more than half of the 12,500 men who attempted to breach the hill became casualties, and those who reached the Union army were quickly subdued. The offensive ended Lee’s invasion of Pennsylvania, and the defeated men began the journey back to Virginia. The Confederates would never again attempt an invasion of the North.


Chapter Four

The United States and the Confederacy

Other factors besides battles and military actions decided the outcome of the war. Politics played a major role, as did the governments of the two sides. In these regards, the North had major advantages. On an obvious level, the North was not tasked with creating a new government for a new “country” while fighting the war. However, the political problems were much more nuanced than this. The United States of America had been in existence for at least eighty years, and the Constitution had governed the land for most of it. Americans of all kinds — politicians and leaders, civilians, soldiers, immigrants, free blacks — were familiar with the laws of the land, including electoral politics for governing bodies. While certainly vast differences existed between states who remained in the Union, they were at least on the same page when it came to making decisions, levying taxes, choosing officials, et cetera. In other words, there was some level of unity. There was also at least some consistency with leadership as well: Lincoln was able to win re-election in 1864, even after suspending the writ of habeas corpus and making other controversial decisions.

The South, on the other hand, did not have this benefit. There was much quarreling over who should lead and how the government should function. Not all of the states were equally enthusiastic about secession; Virginia needed to be bribed with placing the capital at Richmond to convince her to secede in the first place. The Vice President of the Confederacy, Alexander H. Stephens, spent most of the war at home in Georgia writing letters that attempted to undermine the president, Jefferson Davis. He actually met with Lincoln in February 1865 without Davis’s knowledge to discuss a possible peace agreement. While all were united on the issue of protecting slavery, little else engendered the men in the Confederate states to one another; defense of slavery was not quite the same as the ideals of liberty and freedom that had united the Founding Fathers a generation ago. What is more, while certainly some Northerners opposed the war, probably very few opposed the actual existence of the country or expressed great fidelity to the Confederacy. In contrast, Southerners had spent their lives as Americans. Many Southerners owned no slaves, and while the Confederacy was able to cultivate a great deal of loyalty among its population (otherwise, they could not have raised an army), they certainly faced more insubordination and resistance to their very existence than the North. In fact, the U.S. state of West Virginia was formed out of Virginia during the war, since the western portion of the state was so virulently anti-secession and anti-Confederate.

International relations also played a role in the war. Other countries, many of which traded with the United States, were not sure how to react to secession. Would they acknowledge the Confederate States of America as a sovereign nation, or were they merely an American rebellion that the United States was working to put down? Siding with, supporting, or even merely trading with the Confederacy could seriously endanger relations with the U.S. government. At the same time, other countries relied on Southern cotton. No other country felt this pressure more than Great Britain. While today America considers Great Britain an absolute ally, in the mid-nineteenth century, this relationship was not as strong. The United States and Britain fought in the War of 1812 just a few decades ago, and relations remained strained at times. Britain also imported a great deal of Southern cotton for their textile factories. The Confederacy actively courted British support, but in the end, they gained little. For one thing, the U.S. Navy had effectively blockaded Southern ports, so getting cotton out or supplies in was not only risky but also dangerous. Additionally, as the war raged on, cotton production in the South suffered, and Britain discovered that they could supplement the shortage from other parts of the world (including India). What is more, Great Britain had long ago turned its back on slavery. They outlawed the African slave trade early in the century and actively worked against it, and they emancipated all slaves in all their territories in the 1830s. France, whom the South also courted, abolished slavery during their turbulent revolutionary era. As it became clear that the North was also fighting to free the slaves, neither Britain nor France could support the Confederacy and stay true to their ideals. In the end, the South received little support from other nations anywhere in the world, and this had a negative impact on their effectiveness in the war. The South did not have many factories or manufactures, so the lack of imports really hurt them as well.

Geography also played a major role in the impact of the war on the North and South. Most of the fighting took place on Southern soil. The Battle of Gettysburg was fought in Pennsylvania, and a few large battles took place in Maryland (a slave state that did not secede), but otherwise, the South saw much more of the fighting and consequently, a far greater amount of devastation. Damage was done to their infrastructure, such as roads and bridges and railroads, supplies of food dwindled, and there were more civilian casualties and destruction of civilian property than in the North. As the war dragged on, morale sank increasingly lower, and desertions became a problem as Southern soldiers returned home to help and protect their suffering families.

In addition, while the main goals of the war were clear for both sides, how that translated into tactics varied a great deal. As the war dragged on, the North realized that they needed to bring the Confederacy to its knees and prevent it from functioning as a nation. This became especially true after Lincoln issued the Emancipation Proclamation and passed the Thirteenth Amendment; unconditional surrender would be necessary to enforce emancipation in the slave states. The blockade of Southern ports was a major component of total war for the North, as the South was cut off from most international trade. Blocking supply lines, especially railroads, was another. Also, confiscation of property, including food, became another tactic. While the story of General Sherman burning his way through Georgia is largely a myth (in actuality, the Confederates burned their own land and property to prevent it from falling into Union hands), the South saw far more devastation of property than the North, and their daily lives and routines were more disrupted. This is said not to downplay the loss of life in the North, however. Both sides endured terrible loss of life, as well as injury. Men missing arms and legs, or with terrible scars, remained a constant visual reminder of the devastation of the war for decades to come.

The North did not necessarily have all of the advantages. One major disadvantage the North faced was in its military leadership. Lincoln changed command of the Union Army several times throughout the course of the war, due either to insufficient leadership or insubordination on the part of previous commanders. In some ways also, while the North had greater unity among its population, it was not as enthusiastic about the cause of the war as was the South. The South launched a successful campaign to convince non-slaveholders to fight, often painting tithe struggle as as the next American Revolution. While many Northerners desired to preserve the Union out of patriotic duty, or were incensed by the arrogance of the South, others questioned what preserving the Union was worth, especially as the war dragged on and casualties touched more and more lives. Not everyone believed in emancipating the slaves, either. The draft was also an issue of contention, and the class and race issues that surrounded it erupted in New York City in 1863. Infuriated by the new draft laws passed by Congress while also struggling with a diverse population and a still-powerful Democratic party, working-class New Yorkers, among them many Irish immigrants, rioted in protest. These protests quickly turned racial, however: whites began attacking blacks mercilessly, believing them to be the cause of the war, and fearing that emancipation would threaten their own economic livelihood. Lincoln was forced to divert U.S. troops to put the riot down, many of them fresh from the fields of Gettysburg. By the time the riot was ended, more than one hundred people were killed, including eleven lynched African-Americans, hundreds more were injured, and thousands of dollars’ worth of damage had been done. The riots revealed deep-seated divisions in the North over the course and outcome of the war.


Chapter Five

Women and Blacks in the War

While the battles have proven endlessly fascinating, it would be a terrible shame to overlook the important roles that women and blacks played in the outcome of the Civil War, just as we needed to pause in the last chapter to explore the differences between the governments and societies of the North and South. The very nature of femininity helped shape the level and kinds of female participation in the war in both regions of the country, and this issue played a role in the war’s outcome. Prior to the Civil War, Northern women — particularly middle class, but also upper class women — were active in social movements, and this was socially acceptable. Lower class women were also frequently outside of the home for work. A religious awakening helped bring women into leadership roles, as did advocacy for issues such as temperance (the banning of alcohol). They became active community advocates for social issues and for the poor, and had experience working in groups to enlist awareness, support, manpower, money, and other resources for various causes. This experience became invaluable during the war, when Northern women banded together to support troops and the war effort in a variety of ways. Of critical importance, it was also socially acceptable for women to serve as nurses and tend the wounded or sick. Remember, there was no such thing as antibiotics at this time, and many men died from infections in hospitals or especially disease in the field. The additional labor of women to not only heal the wounded, but cure and prevent sickness by providing good food, cleanliness, awareness, clean supplies, et cetera not only saved lives, it ensured that the U.S. Army was healthier when they went into battle than their foes.

In contrast, women in the South had not participated in such efforts. The social structure of the South was not only complicated, but also extremely rigid. Simply put, women were at all times subordinate to the men in their lives, be they husbands, fathers, or sometimes even sons, cousins, uncles, et cetera. Taking an active role outside of the home was not acceptable for these women. What was more, doing so would not only have disgraced themselves, but these men in their lives as well; the obedience and deference of women was one place from which Southern men derived their status. At the outbreak of the Civil War, Southern women did not have the kind of structures in place that would have allowed them to participate more actively in the war effort, and they did not develop them as the war waged on far longer than anyone anticipated. This was much to the detriment of the Confederacy: not only did it not have the infrastructure or the political unity of the North, it also did not have the kind of social structure needed to support the military.

In addition to women, black Americans played an absolutely crucial role in the outcome of the Civil War. First, they served as soldiers in the North. Whole divisions of black soldiers fought in key battles and bolstered enlistment numbers in the North. While it had been diminishing throughout the antebellum years, there was a free black population in the South that also played a role in the outcome of the war. Many of them, too, served in the U.S. forces, and also worked in other ways to undermine the Confederacy.

Even though they were still held in bondage in the South, slaves, too, had a huge impact on the war, and on Lincoln’s decision to issue the Emancipation Proclamation. As they had always attempted to resist slavery, they also tried to resist the Confederacy. This happened especially as word of Lincoln’s intention to free the slaves spread, but slaves also recognized long before that point that this war was over their own bondage. As their owners and other white men left to fight, many slaves ran away. Southerners had viciously fought against runaways throughout the antebellum period. Slave patrols prowled the woods and waterways looking for runaways; slave catchers made fortunes returning suspected or actual runaways; and the physical and sometimes psychological retribution visited upon runaway slaves was terrifying. In fact, slave owners were known to sell slaves away from their family and friends, or sell close family members of runaways, such as spouses and children, in order to punish a runaway. The people who worked the Underground Railroad, which was a network of safehouses designed to help guide slaves from bondage in the South to the North or to freedom in Canada, were incredibly brave and noble. However, most slaves realized that the odds of succeeding in running away were slim, and the threat of violence kept them in place.

Thus, when the war broke out, in the absence of many of their former enslavers or would-be captors, slaves took advantage of diminished numbers of whites and attempted to flee the South. This hurt their owners in three major ways: first, they denied their owners of the investment made in their own bodies; second, they denied their owners the fruits of their labors; and third, their absconding was incredibly demoralizing, and even drew men away from the military in order to protect their families and property back home. Black refugees became especially common in areas of close proximity to Union forces. Literally thousands of slaves fled behind “enemy” lines, so many and so frequently that Lincoln and the U.S. government was forced to create policies to deal with them. Historians have long debated the role of the slaves themselves in achieving their freedom. Certainly, the massive numbers of slaves who quit their plantations and fled to Union encampments, most of them willing to fight or work, played a substantial role.


Chapter Six

Military Events, 1863-1865: The War Ends

After the Battle of Gettysburg, Lee and his Army of Northern Virginia had to return home. They had been in very high spirits on the approach: fresh from victory, they were relatively healthy and the weather was more pleasant in late spring and early summer. The retreat proved the opposite: thousands of the men were injured, making movement slow, and they often relied on the healthy for help. Obviously, morale was very low, as everyone understood how significant the loss was. However, bear in mind also that many of the healthy and the sick had been fighting for two years, seeing the carnage and destruction grow worse and worse. Where would it end? The weather was bad on the retreat as well, dampening spirits, and they endured periodic Union raids. When they finally reached the Potomac River at the Virginia border, they found the water level too high to be easily crossed. It seemed there was no relief from the unending misfortune.

The Battle of Gettysburg is often regarded as the turning point in the Civil War, and not just for military reasons. As can be imagined, Southern morale plummeted. Attacking the North had the potential to end the war in their favor, and it failed miserably. The death and destruction were also unparalleled: Gettysburg was easily the bloodiest battle of the war, with around 50,000 casualties, but President Lincoln also played a role in the changed tone with his Gettysburg Address. One of the most famous speeches in American history, it took just over two minutes to deliver at the dedication of the National Cemetery on the battlefield grounds in November. In it, he re-framed the purpose of the war: not only was it a fight to preserve the Union, but it was a fight for the freedom and human rights of all people. It gave the war a much higher purpose at a time when the North needed it, and did just the opposite for the South: they were losing the fight not only for their independence, but also for their very way of life.

Just as it had before, fighting continued throughout several states and territories over the months between Gettysburg and Lincoln’s Address. Just days after he delivered it, Grant delivered another major victory to the North by capturing Chattanooga, Tennessee, the last major engagement of 1863. Grant had been given command of the army in the West, and General Sherman helped reinforce them. With this defeat, the Confederate Army of Tennessee was forced to retreat over the border into Georgia. Tennessee was essentially won (though fighting there would continue), and this also meant that the U.S. could begin to wage war in the Deep South. It also made Sherman’s March through Georgia possible.

Fierce fighting continued in Tennessee, but in the last weeks of 1863 and early months of 1864, this began to shift southward, with more battles in places like Mississippi and Georgia. In Virginia, General Grant and General Lee fought a series of very famous, very fierce, and very close battles: the Battle of the Wilderness May 5-7, and the Battle of Spotsylvania Court House from May 8-21. Frustratingly for both North and South, both battles were inconclusive, despite huge casualties. Very frequent fighting continued in Virginia throughout the summer, as both sides desperately tried to hold onto towns and push the enemy back. Ultimately, the Union’s strategy would prove superior; Lincoln and his advisers knew that the Confederacy could not afford to hold Virginia and protect Georgia, especially Atlanta.

The Atlanta Campaign was in full force by July 1864. Several battles took place around the city, and Confederates desperately tried to hold on. Atlanta was incredibly important: it was one of the few remaining major cities that the Union had not captured, and it was a large railroad depot used to resupply the army. Their efforts were in vain, however; Atlanta fell on September 2, 1864, after the Battle of Jonesborough, and General Sherman continued his march through Georgia, from Atlanta to the sea. After Sherman had ordered all civilians to leave Atlanta, he instructed his men to destroy all military targets in the city. However, the destruction that followed included not only tactical targets but also a great many residential homes and shops, effectively razing the city to the ground. The burning of Atlanta would set a dangerous precedence among Sherman’s increasingly undisciplined Union soldiers.

Throughout the rest of 1864, the United States won almost every major battle: Opequon and Cedar Creek in Virginia; Westport in Missouri; Franklin and Nashville in Tennessee. Although the Confederacy fought on, and desperately tried to make a comeback, 1865 would open with much the same story: the U.S. continued to defeat the rebellion in more battles in Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Florida, Alabama, and Texas. The Confederacy saw few victories, and won no major battles in 1865 at all. Their troops were exhausted and morale was as low as it could be, and many, who had heard horror stories on the devastation back home, simply left. Finally, on April 9, 1865, General Robert E. Lee’s Army of Northern Virginia met General Ulysses Grant and his men in Appomattox. After a relatively brief battle, Lee surrendered, signing documents of surrender that very afternoon at the Appomattox Court House. His army was disbanded just days later, and quickly, the other Confederate armies also surrendered, falling like dominoes. The American Civil War, which no one had anticipated would last so long or cause so much destruction, was finally over.

However, the last casualty of the Civil War had not occurred. Just days after Lee’s surrender, Lincoln attended a play at Ford’s Theater in Washington D.C. with his wife when John Wilkes Booth, an actor, shot him in the head. There are conflicting reports about what Booth said upon leaping onto the stage after firing the shot, but several witnesses report that he shouted the Virginia state motto (“Sic semper tyrannis”— Latin for “Thus always to tyrants”), or “The South is avenged!” The assassination was part of a conspiracy that also included simultaneous plans to kill Vice President Andrew Johnson and Secretary of State William Seward, though both failed. Booth died during the manhunt for his capture, while several other conspirators were tried and hung (including one woman). Lincoln himself languished until the following morning, when he passed away. While Booth’s attempt to reinvigorate the Southern rebellion failed, he did turn what should have been a triumphant moment for the North into a period of mourning. The war truly ended tragically for all.


Chapter Seven

Reconstruction

The Civil War caused untold destruction, especially to the South. Not only physical destruction, but the unconditional surrender meant acceptance of the Thirteenth Amendment. Slaves were freed and had to be guided out of slavery, allowed to become functional members of the new social order which whites also had to adapt to. States had to not only re-write their constitutions, but also reconstruct their economic systems without slavery. It was a massive, daunting task, all to be taken on by Lincoln’s incompetent successor, Andrew Johnson.

The events of Reconstruction can fill (and have filled) volumes. In no way, on no level, was the period easy. First, political problems raged. In the initial phases, the North was infuriated with Johnson’s forgiving attitude toward the South, and elected far more left-leaning members of their party, dubbed “Radical Republicans,” to Congress. They divided the South into military districts and occupied them, hoping to protect freedmen from angry whites and force emancipation on the unwilling society. Of incredible importance, they passed the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments to the Constitution. While the Thirteenth had freed the slaves, these gave them citizenship, the protections of citizenship, and afforded them the right to vote. For a period of time, the military occupation did fulfill its promises; freedmen enjoyed access to services and opportunities, voted, and even served their government at the local, state, and national levels. The House of Representatives even went to far as to impeach President Johnson, though the Articles of Impeachment were not approved by the Senate and he was not removed from office.

While civil rights did improve during these years of “Radical Reconstruction,” no victory was without a price, and white Southerners fought hard. As more states ratified new Constitutions, rejoined the Union, and sent representatives to Congress, they worked to exercise political power against Reconstruction, regaining the right to vote and mobilizing to fill politics with old Southern loyalists. At home, the Ku Klux Klan and other similar terrorist organizations were formed to frighten blacks away from the polls, away from whites, and away from action. They issued violent threats and visited unspeakable retribution on those who did not respond accordingly, including widespread torture and murder of individuals and their families.

As the South fought on in these ways, the North grew weary. They had been at war with their own countrymen since 1861, and by the mid-1870s, they were ready to be done. Additionally, new, more pressing issues were drawing their attention, including the rise of big business, the arrival of new immigrants, and increasing labor unrest. Northerners were more concerned about divisions between classes of Americans rather than sections, and thus were willing to capitulate to the Compromise of 1877: in the contested presidential election of 1876, Republican Rutherford B. Hayes became the victor. In exchange, he and the Republicans agreed to withdraw troops from the South, ending the period of Reconstruction. In the years that followed, Southerners would use political, legal, and violent methods to reduce the black population to a state of virtual slavery. While their fathers had fought and died in the divisive war to free the slaves, the sons made blacks the sacrificial lambs of national reunion.


Chapter Eight

The Legacy of the Civil War

Though the war ended in 1865, and Reconstruction ended in 1877, the legacy of the war lived on for generations, and is arguably still a factor today. Civil War memory is a rich historical subject, which we will only briefly touch on here. Many scholars have explored how the South and North reunited, allowing old enemies to once again become fellow countrymen. One powerful way was through how the country remembered and commemorated the Civil War. The war itself, as well as the antebellum periods, were romanticized, even mythologized. Americans began to think of the “Old South” as a gentle place with a stately way of life, ignoring the fact that much of what they waxed nostalgic for was literally built on the backs of millions of enslaved human beings. By ignoring and even working to undo the memory of slavery, Americans were able to whitewash the war, erasing its most bitter, most embarrassing, and more destructive aspects. Northerners and Southerners came together on the battlefields upon which they fought to erect monuments, and later generations still gather to reenact battles or visit the sites, without a second thought to the true cause and ultimate failure of the war.

After the end of Reconstruction, Southern whites, particularly those who had been powerful before the war, worked to regain their power and again subordinate the freedmen. For the sake of reunion, and out of their own racism, the rest of the country allowed it to happen. Southerners used several tactics to do this, not the least of which being terrorism, but also including mass incarceration, sharecropping and debt peonage, denial of access to any sufficient public services including education, and legalized segregation (called Jim Crow laws). The South was not alone in exercise of racial discrimination; at best the North stood by and allowed Southerners to exercise this kind of domination, and at worst, they, too participated in it. In fact, during the Great Depression in the 1930s, President Franklin D. Roosevelt was only able to pass some of his famous New Deal legislation by appealing to Southern Democrats by blocking African Americans from access to any of the programs.

Racial discrimination continued to be virulent well into the twentieth century, throughout the country. Finally, conflict erupted during the Civil Rights Movement, which lasted from the 1950s-1960s. It was anything but static, taking on different forms and different tactics, as well as different leadership throughout the period. Poignantly, in 1965, at the 100th anniversary of the end of the Civil War, President Lyndon B. Johnson signed the Civil Rights Act into law, a key piece of legislation that purported to fulfill many of the failed promises of Reconstruction. The previous year, the Voting Rights Act would finally deliver the rights supposedly guaranteed in the Fifteenth Amendment.

Issues of race continued to impact the United States throughout the rest of the twentieth century and into the twenty-first. In the 1970s, riots erupted over forced integration of schools in Northern cities, especially Boston. Epidemics of poverty, drug abuse, mass incarceration, violence, even the AIDS virus continue to impact the black community much more than the white, and especially recent historians have shown how these issues are rooted in the legacy of slavery and discrimination. While it is no longer acceptable in most places to express the kind of open hostility toward African Americans that was the norm into the 1950s and beyond, recent events like the Rodney King riots in the 1990s, attacks on President Obama’s birth certificate, the shootings of unarmed black men by police officers, and the resulting Black Lives Matter movement, remind us that despite the loss of life in the Civil War, the legacy of slavery lives on.
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Introduction

The ten-year period between 1929 and 1939 was one of the most tumultuous ever experienced in American history. It threatened the very nature of American society, from the nation’s fundamental belief in capitalism to its dominant ethos of rugged individualism. These ideas would be fundamentally changed by the time the depression was over and the United States entered World War II.

The cycle of the United States economy, but especially the 15 years leading up to 1929, provided the major causes of the depression that would define the 1930s in American history. The causes came from various fronts. One was the state of American farming in the 1920s; second was the lack of oversight and caution with regards to the stock market. Finally, United States foreign policy not only harmed the American economy but also contributed to the depression becoming a global phenomenon.

The shock waves caused by the collapse of the stock market set off a chain of events that touched every level of American society. Lack of creative leadership was apparent even to contemporaries of President Herbert Hoover. Many of the private social agencies, such as churches and civic clubs, were overwhelmed by the rise of people needing assistance. A great number of Americans were displaced in various regions of the country, going from place to place looking for work and relief. A famous group of people looking for relief was the Bonus Army. These men were World War I veterans appealing to Washington for bonus payments promised them.

The election of 1932 was a turning point. For the first time since the end of World War I, the Republican Party lost control of both the House of Representatives and the Senate. Franklin Roosevelt assumed the presidency in 1933, and his first 100 days became a standard measure for all future presidents. This collection of action, which lasted well beyond the first 100 days, coalesced under the title of the New Deal.

Even at the nadir of the depression, Americans found various methods of coping with the harsh realities of the era. Many Americans joined political groups and social movements, partook in many cultural institutions, and rediscovered many aspects of traditional American culture. Many of these movements were aided by government programs that were part of the New Deal.

The election of 1936 solidified the president’s and the Democratic Party’s position of power. Roosevelt and the Democrats were able to build an effective coalition of American voters. Urban centers, especially immigrant communities, African-Americans, and southern segregationists propelled the Roosevelt administration to elective success election after election.

But Roosevelt had his critics and his missteps. Huey Long and Father Charles Coughlin were among the harshest critics of Roosevelt and the New Deal. The Supreme Court ruled against many of the New Deal legislative gains. Many Americans were taken aback by Roosevelt’s attempt to pack the Supreme Court with judges sympathetic to his programs. In 1937 and 1938, the economy experienced a recession that saw a sharp rise in unemployment, a number that had been on the decline since 1934.

Americans returned to work as Europe prepared for war. By the time the Second World War started and the United States was providing weapons and supplies to Great Britain and France, the Great Depression was over. After World War II many of the institutions and programs created by the New Deal to combat the depression remained. Though a number of recessions occurred in post-war America, another depression has been avoided.


Chapter One

Causes of the Great Depression

“There may be a recession in stock prices, but not anything in the nature of a crash.”

—Irving Fisher, 1929

For convenience sake, the Great Depression is given the start date of 1929. Like any historical event, there are antecedents that can be traced to years, even decades, before the event took place. This is also true of the Great Depression. A number of causes from the decade before brought about the economic and social calamity of the 1930s.

The Treaty of Versailles brought an end to World War I, the worst conflict the world had ever seen. Millions were dead from four years of brutal fighting, and millions more were displaced because of the damage caused by the conflict. The treaty that officially ended the war not only required Germany to accept all blame for the starting the war but also obliged the country to assume the economic responsibility. Germany was expected to pay France and Great Britain over $30 billion in reparations. Unfortunately, Germany was almost completely bankrupt from the war and had no means to repay such a staggering amount. Conversely, France and Britain were unable to repay the United States for their support during the war. Calvin Coolidge, president of the United States from 1923 to 1929, refused to restructure any of the war debt, thereby keeping the European economy suppressed and ultimately unable to purchase from U.S. companies.

Toward the end of the 1920s, American companies needed consumers anywhere they could get them. After the war, many people in the rush of new products, for instance cars, bought much of their goods on credit. As personal debt rose, spending eventually decreased. American business, however, did not slow production—not of consumer goods nor the large industries that supplied them. Major industries such as textiles and steel were especially hard hit. One of the stalwarts of American business for the past 60 years, the railroad industry, experienced decline because of the rise of automobiles. By 1929, close to half of American families had cars. Between 1925 and 1929, new housing construction also declined.

One sector of the economy was hit harder than all of the rest: agriculture. The 1920s are often remembered as a time of great prosperity, but not for farming. During this time, the McNary-Haugen Bill was introduced and passed in Congress. It required the U.S. government to buy surplus crops from farmers to prevent them from realizing another loss. The government would, in turn, sell the crops on the world market, though the market in Europe wasn’t nearly as lucrative as it had been immediately following the war. More than likely, the government would be selling the crops at a loss. In order to recover the losses, taxes would be raised in the United States. Calvin Coolidge vetoed the measure twice saying he was resisting the “tyranny of bureaucratic regulation and control.”

Though the New York Stock Exchange was founded in 1773, the buying and selling of stocks was not common practice in the United States at least among the middle-class. In the past, there had been limited buying of bonds and commodities by the middle-class, but after World War I, investing in companies became much more common. Two methods of buying, however, were especially risky. First, speculating on stocks was quite common in investment circles during the 1920s. The second method was a bit of a corollary to speculation: buying on margin.

Buying on margin is the practice of using credit to secure the purchase. For instance, to buy an expensive stock, an investor needs, as an example, $100. The investor only has $50, so they must secure the additional funds somehow, namely credit. So the buyer secures a loan for 50% of the price, or 50% margin. This strategy works out great if the stock’s value rises. The investor can take their profit, pay off the loan, and pocket the rest. If the stock falls, however, the money isn’t only lost, but the investor still needs to pay back the loan. If enough stocks fall in value at the same time, the investors who were trading on margin would be in a precarious position. In the late 1920s, American investors were buying as much as 75% on margin.

After the election of 1928 and the ascendency to the presidency by Herbert Hoover in the spring of 1929, these warning signs weren’t readily apparent or simply ignored and dismissed. The American economy had always been cyclical in nature, and even if the prosperity of the 1920s was coming to a close, it didn’t mean anything devastating was going to happen. There was still a great deal of optimism concerning the American economy. As Hoover said during his campaign, “with the help of God be in sight of the day when poverty will be banished from this nation.”

September and October of 1929 saw a great deal of volatility in the stock market. It was apparent that the market was in the process of a correction. On Thursday, October 24, 1929, over 12 million shares were dumped by investors, losing 2 percent of its value. The market rebounded on Friday, in large part thanks to investment banks buying stock to stimulate the market. But it wasn’t enough. The market fell again on the following Monday, and on October 29, Black Tuesday, the market moved over 16 million shares, causing a 12 percent loss of its total value, the largest single-day loss in the history of the market. The stock market would continue to fall for the next three years. It would not reach its record high of September 1929 until 1954.

The crash of the stock market caused a chain reaction throughout the financial sector of the United States. Shortly after the final sell-off of October 29, 1929, bank customers wanted to become liquid, that is, they wanted to have their money in hand. The banks were unable to provide funds for the amount of customers demanding their money. Banks were the main institutions helping investors buy on margin. When the market crashed, those lenders did not see a repayment on the loans, hence the shortage of cash available. As news of the shortage of funds spread, people panicked and went to their banks. The banks tried to pay back their customers, sometimes as little as twenty cents to the dollar, but more often they simply couldn’t pay. When a bank couldn’t make its payments, it was forced to close, and all that was deposited was lost. In the 1920s, about 70 banks closed each year. From October 1929 until October 1930, over 700 banks were forced to close. By 1933, shortly before Herbert Hoover left the presidency, another 4,000 banks closed.


Chapter Two

The Depression and the Hoover Administration

“If, with all the advantages I’ve had, I can’t make a living, I’m just no good, I guess.”

—Unemployed Person, 1933

After the stock market crash and the ensuing run on the banks, many, including President Hoover, believed the worst was over. In fact it was just the beginning. Purchasing was already slowing before the crash; now it was at a crawl. Businesses began to lay off workers as demand evaporated. Unemployment rose dramatically. President Hoover elicited a promise from major manufacturers not to continue the layoffs in order to help people return to spending. At first, employers tried to comply with the president’s request but eventually could not honor the pledge. By 1933, between 25-30% of Americans were out of work.

As people lost their jobs or saw their wages drastically cut, the consequences were often devastating. In large urban areas that had grown significantly since the 1890s, public charitable organizations were inundated with requests for assistance. Some were forced to close because of the high demand. Others like the Catholic Church helped as much as they could, but their efforts to relieve the poor had historically been a temporary measure. Their works of charity weren’t meant to be long-term. Though churches didn’t close, sometimes all they could offer was prayers.

Incomes shrank or became non-existent, many were forced out of their homes for not meeting their mortgage payment or, more likely in the case of the working class, were unable to pay their rent. Shantytowns, called Hoovervilles after the president, sprang up around the country, populated with people made homeless by the economic hardships of the depression. Others took to traveling, searching for work wherever they could find it. Though transient homelessness had been around since the beginning of the United States, the increase in wandering homeless men was significant during the depression.

Those wandering from city to city and town to town weren’t the only transients in the United States. In 1930 due to drought and poor soil conditions, a massive erosion of land occurred throughout the Midwest. High winds propelled the dirt and dust to blacken out the sun and create large drifts of soil across the plains. More popularly known as the Dust Bowl, the harsh climate condition made farming from the Dakotas to Texas virtually impossible. Many people from the region, including Oklahoma, Nebraska, and Texas, moved, predominantly toward California in hopes of working on the bountiful farms rumored to be there. The transients, collectively known as Okies and immortalized in the novel The Grapes of Wrath by John Steinbeck, did not receive a warm welcome in the Golden State. Like everywhere else in the United States, work was hard to come by, if it could be had at all.

Appeals to the government for aid were largely unmet. It wasn’t because of cruelty or callous nature, but there simply weren’t many mechanisms in place to help such a large amount of people in need. Even more, the culture of the United States, especially within the halls of government, was averse to providing aid or welfare to its citizens. Herbert Hoover embodied this attitude. He was born to modest means and worked his way up in local and then national government. Though Hoover was a self-made man, he wasn’t unfeeling to the plight of those suffering. After World War I, he directed the American relief effort to Europe, taking special care to provide for those displaced by the fighting. Hoover, however, like most politicians of his generation, believed it was his duty to be a good steward of the nation’s finances. To that end, he thought it was negligent, almost immoral, to have a deficit in the national economy. Better to endure some short-term hardship than saddle the nation with a greater problem like a financial deficit.

Unfortunately, the suffering wasn’t short term. Hoover wanted to help, but it was from an outdated perspective. His administration thought the best strategies was to ensure that the nation didn’t fall into debt. In order to stave off the possible shortfalls from decreased revenues, Hoover proposed a tax increase in 1931. Though Hoover’s Republican Party controlled Congress, they voted against such a strategy.

Another example of resisting a relief effort in order to preserve the budget was an episode remembered as the Bonus Army. In 1924, well before the economy took its historic tumble, Congress passed a bill to pay World War I veterans bonuses for their service to the nation. As circumstances became direr, it was proposed in 1932 by Congress to make the payments sooner rather later, as was originally proposed. In order to show support for the legislation, an estimated 43,000 veterans and their families arrived in Washington. Ultimately the bill did not pass, but the veterans stayed on in the capital, remaining in a camp they had established in an area of Washington called the Anacostia Flats. After the city police failed to disperse the Bonus Army, Hoover decided to send in the U.S. Army.

Under the command of General Douglas MacArthur, with Dwight Eisenhower in his staff and George Patton commanding a cavalry regiment, the army charged the “bonusers” using fixed bayonets and tear gas. While there were no deaths from the action, 55 veterans were injured and 135 arrested. The Bonus Army was a black eye for the Hoover administration and it, along with his ineffectual response to the depression, seriously damaged his bid for reelection.


Chapter Three

The Election of 1932 and the Rise of Franklin Roosevelt

“The only thing we have to fear is fear itself.”

—Franklin Roosevelt, 1933

The fall of 1932 approached and with it the first presidential election during the worst economic crisis the United States had ever known. Though chances for reelection were slim, the Republican incumbent Herbert Hoover was the representative of the Grand Old Party. His challenger was from a prominent New York family, cousin to former president Theodore Roosevelt, Franklin Delano Roosevelt.

Harvard educated, former secretary of the Navy, and former governor of New York, Roosevelt was an unlikely representative of the more populist Democratic Party. While the Republican Party was relatively united behind Hoover, the Democratic Party was far more divided. The progressive-urban wing of the party, which Roosevelt represented, the less progressive remnants of machine-style politics, and southern segregationists all had influence under the Democratic banner. Uniting those disparate voices, as well as defeating Hoover in the general election, was the task confronting Roosevelt.

Roosevelt and the Democrats were up to the task. In the popular vote, Roosevelt won 57% of the vote to Hoover’s 39%. The margin in the Electoral College was far more telling. Roosevelt received 472 electoral votes to Hoover’s 59. In both houses of Congress, the Democrats won solid majorities, gaining close to 100 seats in the House and 12 seats in the Senate. It was clear that the people of the United States wanted change. The voters rallied around Roosevelt’s promise of a New Deal—the term that came to identify the presidential and legislative plan of the Democrats. It was a promise of industrial recovery, agricultural recovery, and relief for the jobless. When Roosevelt was inaugurated on March 4, 1933, the expectation was that he and his allies in Congress would take immediate action. The new president did not disappoint.

The first 100 days of the Roosevelt presidency became the standard measure for all subsequent presidents. Washington was a flurry of action in the first three months of the new administration. As Roosevelt himself explained, “it is common sense to take a method and try it: If it fails, admit it frankly and try another. But above all, try something.”

The first task was to get the country back on secure financial footing. To achieve this, Roosevelt proposed a bank holiday through the Bank Holiday Emergency Funding Act. All banks in the United States were closed for four days and analyzed by the government. Those that could be saved were given funding to help them recover. Those that were seen as too far gone were forced to close. The end result was a healthier financial structure that hopefully people would trust again.

To further build that trust, the Roosevelt administration created the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). The purpose of the FDIC was to protect the money of bank customers regardless of the condition of the bank. If a bank failed and was insured, the FDIC was authorized to pay up to $2,500 to each depositor. The FDIC has become ubiquitous throughout American banking reaching an insured rate of $250,000 for each depositor.

Other aspects of the economy needed assistance as well. The stock market was the target of the Federal Security Act, which contained two important provisions. The first was that it enforced limits on the amount of stocks that could be bought on margin. Second, and most long-lasting was the creation of the Security and Exchange Commission (SEC.) The SEC was intended to be a watchdog over the financial sector, preventing unfair and dangerous trading practices. Though its effectiveness has waxed and waned over the decades, it still provides a measure of security regarding the stock market that did not exist before 1933.

Industry wasn’t overlooked in the legislation of the New Deal. The National Industry Recovery Act promoted cooperation between competitors and various industries to adjust prices and create wage stability for workers. The two main aspects of the act were the National Recovery Administration (NRA) and the Public Works Administration (PWA.) The mission of the NRA was to promote fair competition between businesses, often through the use of regulations. In the first two years of the NRA, it created over 700 new codes that businesses had to follow. The NRA also established rules promoting fair labor practices. The legislation made it legal for workers to join a union if they chose. Further, it outlawed “yellow dog contracts.” These were contracts between worker and employer, pledging that the worker would not join a union; if they did so, the employee was terminated.

Along with protecting workers rights to join unions free of harassment, later legislation in the New Deal—but still in the first term of Roosevelt’s presidency—was the creation of the National Labor Relations Act. Most significantly, the NLRA created the National Labor Review Board. This agency, still in existence today, promotes fair labor practices throughout the United States economy and provides a body to voice grievances to and act as an arbiter between employers and workers. The original 1935 act made it legal for workers to collectively bargain. This was a monumental step in American labor history. Prior to 1935, the right to collectively bargain was not guaranteed and often actively fought against by American employers.

Rural and agricultural America was also touched by the New Deal. In the first 100 days, three programs were enacted to aid the rural heartland of the country. The Agricultural Adjustment Act provided funding to farmers who reduced production on their farms. This way the surpluses that plagued the 1920s were vastly reduced. Unfortunately, the Agricultural Adjustment Act hurt some of the poorest citizens who were hit the hardest by the depression. Sharecroppers in the south and itinerant farmers in the midwest and west were put out of work. If the land wasn’t being worked, there was no incentive to keep the workers.

Though it did not help displaced farm workers, the Civilian Conservation Corps created in 1933 did provide work to many. It provided opportunities for young men to work on a variety of projects. This was a key component to many of the programs engineered by the New Deal: work. It is a particular scourge of American society that people receive payment while not working. Roosevelt was conscious of this attitude and went to great lengths to emphasize that his plan was about creating and sustaining jobs for the American worker, not giving handouts.

The third program that had a great impact on rural Americans was the creation of the Tennessee Valley Authority. This government-controlled corporation (still in operation today) was created to modernize and make the Tennessee Valley more livable for its residents. It brought electricity, flood control, navigation, and other improvements to portions of seven states, predominantly in the south. In order to bring these improvements, many more workers were needed, another immediate benefit of the TVA.

All of these acts, even with some of their focus on workers in a collective sense, didn’t touch people in a personal way. The individual, however, was not overlooked by the New Deal. The Federal Emergency Relief Act was passed by Congress in the first month of Roosevelt’s presidency. It provided $500 million (equivalent to $9.4 billion in 2017) to be distributed to state and local agencies with the stipulation that the money went to poor relief.

All of this couldn’t happen without spending. The Roosevelt administration along with the Democratic Congress spent great amounts of money, placing the country in a financial deficit. Popularized by John Maynard Keynes, deficit spending became a governmental norm that is still employed today. The theory of Keynesian Economics posits that strategically spending to a deficit will ultimately stimulate the economy and eventually become unnecessary.

What made all of this enormously popular wasn’t just the spending, regulation, and job creation; it was the personal touch most associated with Roosevelt himself. With his cigarette holder and patrician background, it might seem odd that the majority of Americans gravitated to Roosevelt. But the key to his popularity was his embrace of the newest mass media, the radio. Almost from the beginning of his presidency, Roosevelt hosted a weekly radio program detailing key events and legislation going on in Washington. These “fireside chats” were the antithesis of Herbert Hoover, derided as the do-nothing president. With each address, Roosevelt showed the American people that the government they had elected was doing something. It might not be successful, but it was action. That more than anything made people feel more confident about the future.


Chapter Four

The New Deal Continues and the Election of 1936

“They are unanimous in their hate for me—and I welcome their hatred.”

—Franklin Roosevelt

As Roosevelt’s first term continued, much to the consternation of Roosevelt and the Democrats, the depression continued as well. In 1935, after a wave of legislation that was nearly unprecedented in United States history, the economic hardships that gripped the nation were still evident. Unemployment was still about 20%. The Dow Jones Industrial Average, which had risen steadily from 1933 to 1934, had slowed the following year. Approaching the halfway mark of this initial term, the campaign for reelection wasn’t too far off nor was it a foregone conclusion.

Two of the most popular policy initiatives were enacted in 1935: The Works Progress Administration (WPA) and the Social Security Act. Both appealed to working-class voters and provided a boost to the 1936 election. The WPA was created after Congress passed the Emergency Relief Appropriations Act. Less than a month after Roosevelt signed the legislation into law, he established the WPA.

During its existence, the WPA employed over 8 million workers, with a one-year high in 1938 of 3.3 million workers employed. The work completed by the workers of the WPA changed the landscape of the nation. The WPA was responsible for the construction of 650,000 miles of road, 124,000 bridges, and 125,000 schools, hospitals, and post offices. In addition to such everyday structures like bridges, schools, and post offices, the WPA built Midway Airport in Chicago, LaGuardia Airport in New York, the River Walk in San Antonio, and the Oregon State Library in Salem Oregon, to name just a few of the more famous structures created by the administration. The blending of Art Deco, Modernism, and a working-class aesthetic make WPA projects stand out in American architecture. By the time the WPA was dissolved in 1943, it had left an indelible mark upon the country.

The other key legislative initiative of 1935 was the Social Security Act. The depression was difficult for everyone in the United States, but it was especially difficult for the elderly. With unemployment at such high levels, the prospects for workers over the age of 60 were bleak. What’s more, the idea of working to a certain age and being able to retire was quite foreign to American workers. Very few working-class people could afford retirement. A person often worked until they were physically unable and then hoped their family was in a position to help them. Some workers worked until they died.

In order to provide some relief to older workers and make the prospect of retiring a little less remote, Roosevelt proposed the Social Security Act of 1935. The plan called for employees to have part of their wages withheld by the federal government as a method of saving for the future. Employers were required to match the employee contributions. When a person reached the age of 65, they could receive the money that had been saved for them through the Social Security program.

Ida May Fuller was the first recipient of a Social Security payment in 1940, one month after she retired as a legal secretary. Though it provided a much-needed benefit to many workers, the new program did not cover certain occupations. Farmers, including sharecroppers, domestic workers, and the self-employed were not able to participate in the program. These provisions disproportionally hurt African-Americans, who made up the majority of sharecroppers and domestics in the south. Even so, Social Security is perhaps the most enduring program to come out of Roosevelt’s first term.

The popularity of the WPA and Social Security buoyed Roosevelt’s reelection prospects for 1936. Those that voted for Roosevelt in 1932 returned, and a coalition of voters returned Roosevelt to the White House for a second term. This coalition, sometimes referred to as the New Deal Coalition, was made up of Democratic voters in the south, African-Americans, women, and union members. Those that didn’t fall into these categories (and many Americans did) were inspired to vote for Roosevelt because the prevailing attitude was that he and the Democratic Party were making real progress toward recovery from the depression. All of these factors proved too much for the Republican nominee, Alf Landon, the governor of Kansas.

The election of 1932 was a large win for Roosevelt and the Democrats, but 1936 was a landslide. It was the largest percentage of the popular vote won by a presidential candidate in history, gaining 60.8% of the vote to Landon’s 36.5%. In the Electoral College, it was even more lopsided. Roosevelt gained a remarkable 98% of the vote or 523 of a possible 531 votes. It wasn’t just Roosevelt celebrating either; the Democrats won an additional twelve seats in the Senate and another nine seats in the House. The majorities Democrats enjoyed after the 1932 elections were made even stronger in 1936. From a Democratic perspective, happy days were indeed here again.


Chapter Five

The Depression and American Culture

“FDR had his role but so did Mickey Mouse.”

—Warren Susman, 1984

The Great Depression was the greatest economic hardship ever endured in the United States. Almost a third of all workers were unemployed. In the early years of the depression, very little relief was available. Even as the New Deal emerged, it wasn’t a solution for all workers. Many still remained unemployed, and many of those employed by programs only had temporary positions. After the particular job was finished, uncertainty returned. This almost constant stress took a toll on many Americans. Not being able to work caused feelings of anxiety, resentfulness, and humiliation. After the crash in 1929, suicides in the United States rose by 30% in 1930. People were in a desperate condition and were looking for ways to cope.

One of the major ways to find solace in such a harsh world was to join together with others who were in similar straights. As Roosevelt and the Democrats gained power, they promoted policies friendly to organized labor. This was a stark contrast to the policies of previous administrations, dating back to the turn of the twentieth century. By making collective bargaining legal and making it safe to join unions, membership in labor organization rose rapidly in the 1930s.

Generating this rise in union membership was a change in philosophy by many union organizers. Led by John L. Lewis, the United Mine Workers of America encouraged the American Federation of Labor (AFL) to support industrial unionism. As opposed to only being for skilled workers, industrial unionism organized workers based on the industry they were a part of, for instance the United Steelworkers, United Rubber Workers, and the United Auto Workers. At first, it was named the Committee for Industrial Organization, but when it was expelled from the AFL in 1937, the name changed to the Congress of Industrial Organizations, the CIO.

The United Auto Workers (UAW) saw the most significant gains in unionization, gaining admission to General Motors, the largest corporation in the world at the time, and Chrysler. But it did not come without a price. Thousands were arrested in Detroit and Flint, Michigan and thousands more injured as police and private security assaulted the striking workers. A battle outside of a Ford Motor Factory in Dearborn, Michigan in 1937, remembered as the Battle of the Overpass, highlighted the violence that union organizers faced, even in an era that was friendlier toward organized labor. Pictures from the event were widely circulated in the nation, causing Ford to lose a great deal of its positive public image.

Unions weren’t the only organizations that saw dramatic growth during the depression. Political organizations also grew during the decade, especially the Communist Party. There is a debate about how many members the party gained in the 1930s, but its influence was significant. A number of leading writers, intellectuals, and artists were either sympathetic to the Communist Party or became members. Ordinary workers did not necessarily flock to the Communist banner, but they were collectively more accepting of their politics than they had been prior to the Great Depression. The Communist Party played a significant role in organizing labor organizations and in being some of the first Americans to recognize the rise of fascism in Europe.

The heightened political atmosphere of the era along with a more active government than previous eras was reflected in much of the art produced in the depression. It was an era that celebrated the common man. Norman Rockwell captured scenes that many of the middle-class readers of The Saturday Evening Post could relate to. For example, the cover entitled “Springtime” from 1935 looked like a country boy of modest means, yet still carrying books.

Even more of a representative of the common man was movie star (among many other career paths) Will Rogers. A prominent supporter of Franklin Roosevelt, Rogers used his various platforms to celebrate (and sometimes needle) the president and the New Deal. He often portrayed a worldly countryman who outsmarted business types. Moreover, Rogers’ films often reasserted the power of the community over a corrupt or unfair authority.

The most enduring film legacy to come out of the depression were the films of Frank Capra. He often had characters in his movies that wanted to be heard by greater forces, such as Mr. Smith Goes to Washington. Alternatively, his films carried the message of a community rising to the aid of an individual who needs their help, like in American Madness. Mr. Deeds Goes to Town carries a similar theme, with the titular character being declared insane for providing great amount of relief to farmers from a fortune he inherited. Before the corporate lawyer can take control of the money, however, Deeds is rescued by a reporter (who is also his love interest).

Not all of the films played on themes that were easily recognized in the modern world. As much as films and other entertainments were a reflection of and inspired by the times, they often provided something else: an escape. Movies like the Wizard of Oz took viewers to a magical place, and Gone with the Wind recollected a grander time and the possibility of recovery from trying events. The Marx Brothers provided laughs, and Walt Disney amazed audiences with stunning animation in the films Snow White and Fantasia. Even Frank Capra made light films such as It Happened One Night and You Can’t Take It With You.

Comic strips came into mass distribution in the latter part of the nineteenth century, becoming a staple of the daily newspaper in the process. Comic books as we think of them today became quite popular in the 1930s, with Famous Funnies debuting in 1934. Especially significant to modern culture was the creation of the superhero comic. Superman, created by Jerry Siegel and Joe Shuster, debuted in 1938. Though geared more toward children and adolescents, even in its earliest forms, comic books appealed to adult readers as well.

Franklin Roosevelt used radio effectively throughout his presidency, and the radio was also provided entertainment straight to people’s homes. By the end of the decade, all Major League baseball teams were broadcasting their games. Variety programs were quite popular, mixing comedy and music, and broadcasts of plays were common. In the 1930s, there was an explosion of serial dramas, or soap operas, that dominated the airwaves. What better way to escape the troubles of everyday life than to be thrust into a captivating world of glamor and intrigue? It might not have been a long respite, but it was a respite nonetheless.

Any discussion of culture in the 1930s would be incomplete without a mention of the Federal Project Number One. This initiative had four main areas dedicated to art, theatre, writing, and music, all under separate auspices. The Federal Art Project supported the work of such visual artists like Jackson Pollack, Diego Rivera, Mark Rothko, and hundreds of others.

The Federal Theatre Project had a similar reach and influence. Important figures in American theatre were supported by the project including Orson Welles, Arthur Miller, and John Housman. The theatre branch of the arts initiative produced over 40 productions between 1935 and 1938. It also provided support for theatre in the African-American community. The most famous—and controversial at the time—production was the all African-American cast of Macbeth (often referred to as Voodoo Macbeth because of its Caribbean setting), performed in Harlem and directed by Orson Welles. The play was a commercial, artistic, and social success.

Of all of the components of Federal Project Number One, the Federal Writers Project was the most prolific. Like the Federal Theatre Project, it had a profound influence on the African-American writing community, aiding in the careers of Richard Wright, Margaret Walker, and Arna Bontemps. Many noteworthy authors worked on the Project’s American Life Histories and American Guides among other projects. Nelson Algren, Ralph Ellison, Saul Bellow, and many others contributed to the work of the Writers Project.

The most famous and perhaps most important collection to come out of the Federal Writers Project was the Slave Narratives. Under the direction of John Lomax, federal staffers went throughout the south and recorded 2,900 recollections of former slaves. Collected between 1936 and 1938, the work comprised 17 volumes of work housed in the Library of Congress. These records provide one of the most important sources on the United States before the Civil War and on the slave experience in particular.


Chapter Six

Setbacks and Detractors

“We’ve got everything our people need . . . Why not let all have their fill?”

—Huey Long, 1935

As the 1936 election proved, Franklin Roosevelt and the New Deal were enormously popular. Its programs provided relief to millions of Americans and its policies produced changes that seemed to be working. With Congress as a willing ally and accomplice, it appeared as though nothing stood in the way of Roosevelt’s agenda. But there was one glaring exception to this: the Supreme Court.

Upon his election in 1932, Roosevelt inherited a court that leaned more conservative than liberal. Four justices, termed the Four Horsemen by the press, were mostly appointees of Republican presidents (Pierce Butler, George Sutherland, Willis Van Devanter, and James Clark Reynolds, respectively). The lone exception was an appointee of Woodrow Wilson: James Clark McReynolds, Wilson’s former attorney general.

Starting in January of 1936, the Four Horsemen along with two other justices declared the Agricultural Adjustment Act of 1933 unconstitutional, in violation of the tenth amendment. Three other cases in 1936 voided other New Deal measures. In Carter v. Carter Coal Company, the court struck down legislation that regulated coal expenditures. In Morehead v. New York, the court struck down a law requiring a minimum wage put in place for women and children workers. The biggest blow, however, to Roosevelt’s agenda came from the Schechter Poultry Corp v. United States case. The high court ruled that the National Industrial Recovery Act, one of the first pieces of legislation passed by the new Congress and a key part of the New Deal, was unconstitutional. Specifically, the court ruled unanimously that the NIRA was an excessive use of the legislature’s power and that it blurred the line between the executive and legislative branches of government.

These legal setbacks not only angered Roosevelt but also concerned him. He was worried that all of the hard work of the previous term and what he had planned for the future might be undone by a scant court majority of five men. To combat this, Roosevelt and his advisors came up with a plan to alter the Supreme Court in their favor. For every justice over 70 years old, the president would appoint a new justice, up to six new appointees. Roosevelt proposed the plan to the public in one of his fireside chats. He argued that the Constitution and the New Deal needed to be protected from the Supreme Court, especially those members that were out of touch.

It was a proposition too far for Roosevelt to achieve. Public opinion was tepidly split at first, and as more bipartisan voices rose up against the plan to “pack the court,” it was clear that the plan was becoming more and more unpopular. A committee of private citizens, the Committee to Uphold Constitutional Government, spoke out against the bill and organized a letter-writing campaign to register their disapproval.

The plan didn’t fare well in either chamber of Congress either. The bill proposing the changes never made it to the House floor. In an unorthodox maneuver, Roosevelt then had the bill introduced to the Senate. Traditionally, bills proposed by the president start in the House and then move on to the upper chamber. In this case, it didn’t matter. The Senate did hold a hearing on the bill in the Senate Judiciary Committee, but it met strong resistance there as well. Interestingly from a Republican standpoint, the argument over the bill did not include them. Instead, it split Democratic senators. Though it eventually made it to the full Senate floor, it was lambasted and sent back to committee for revision. By the time a compromise bill passed the Senate, the issue was almost moot, and none of the stipulations for the high court were included in the final bill. Roosevelt effectively lost the battle over the court.

Roosevelt also lost the battle of public perception, one of the few times he did. The public did not turn against the president or the New Deal, but it was a little disillusioned by this attempted power grab by the president. Furthermore, Roosevelt lost many members of his own party. His vice-president, John Nance Garner, had opposed the plan and refused to serve as vice-president in the next election. Some members of the Democratic Party, also disenchanted with Roosevelt, suggested Garner run for president in 1940. He chose to retire instead.

It may be too far to call the Congress of the New Deal’s first term a rubber stamp; it was very willing to comply with Roosevelt’s wishes. After the court-packing episode, moving forward with other legislative proposal became much harder. Ironically, Roosevelt would have a major impact on the Supreme Court. As the president who served the longest (and the only one able to do so as it turns out), Roosevelt appointed eight justices in his tenure. William O. Douglass, appointed in 1939, served until his retirement in 1975. Roosevelt influenced the court for four decades, long after he died in 1945.

Roosevelt received criticism from other sources as well. One of his harshest critics was Huey Long from Louisiana, sometimes called “The Kingfish.” A brash, dynamic, and boisterous politician, Long originally supported the New Deal as Louisiana’s senator. He became disillusioned with the plan when he realized that Roosevelt and the New Deal were never going redistribute the nation’s wealth. Long also felt that the New Deal did not go far enough in its efforts to relieve the poor.

Instead, Long continued to harry Roosevelt and his programs. Long even proposed his own relief program called Share Our Wealth with the slogan “Every Man a King.” It was an ambitious plan that was popular and had many chapters across the country, but in the political climate of Washington D.C., it stood very little chance of gaining any real traction. Still, Roosevelt felt threatened by Long and his popularity. Many called him a demagogue and compared him to Hitler in style and temperament. Long was killed in Louisiana in 1935 by the relative of a political rival. Huey Long is remembered in various books, movies, and television programs. All the King’s Men, by Robert Penn Warren, is considered the best representation of Long in literature, even though Warren denied the comparison.

It wasn’t just from the left that Roosevelt and the New Deal faced criticism. As one might expect, there was a generous amount of criticism from the right as well. The former president Herbert Hoover was a vocal critic of Roosevelt and the New Deal, still clinging to ideas of a balanced budget and maintaining a pro-business attitude. Roosevelt’s former colleague, Al Smith, also felt that the New Deal went too far toward workers’ rights. William Randolph Hearst, once a supporter of the New Deal, began to oppose it when New Deal policies started to levy higher taxes on the wealthy and on inheritance. Such policies, among many others, caused some of the most wealthy and established Americans to label Roosevelt as a traitor to his class.

Though not the wealthiest of critics, one of the loudest was a priest from Michigan, Father Charles Coughlin. Father Coughlin hosted a radio program that was syndicated across the country reaching millions of listeners. At first Coughlin supported the New Deal but later opposed it when he felt Roosevelt was too soft on bankers. Coughlin had a strange outlook on world politics; he was a champion of the working class and supporter of Huey Long but was an ardent anti-communist. His anti-communist beliefs were in part formed by his opposition to internationalism, which he believed Roosevelt was trying to do with the United States. In many ways, Coughlin was reminiscent of evangelists of a bygone era, seeing corporate interests and socialists under the influence of foreign elements as the twin enemies of the real America.

Various prominent Catholic Roosevelt supporters tried to get Coughlin to lay off of the administration, but they were unsuccessful. As Europe and the world slid closer and closer to war, Coughlin’s anti-internationalism became more and more isolationist and nationalist. What’s more, Father Coughlin was espousing decidedly anti-Semitic views. Though he never endorsed Nazism, he did speak favorably of Adolf Hitler and Benito Mussolini. He held that communism was largely the result of Jewish leadership and the fascists were a better alternative.

The Roosevelt administration and the Vatican tried through various means to get Father Coughlin off the air but to no avail. It wasn’t until the eve of World War II that Father Coughlin would be removed from the air. Tighter restrictions were placed on radio stations, especially those that broadcast controversial views, for instance the idea that the United States should maintain a rigid neutrality with regards to World War II. Later, as the United States entered World War II, Father Coughlin was forced from all public activity, save his weekly homilies from his home parish in Michigan.

Though progress during the depression was often slow, overall from the low point of 1933, there was a steady improvement to the economy. Unemployment trended downward, production and wages rose. After the low point of 1932, the stock market made steady gains during Roosevelt’s presidency. By early 1937, much of the economic sector had reached 1929 levels.

Then between 1937 and mid-1938, things began to fall. Unemployment shot up to almost 20%. Manufacturing production also fell off considerably. Though wages stayed relatively stable, the number of people losing their jobs made consumers cautious, causing s slow-down in purchasing. This, in turn, caused production to be cut back even further. The stock market also tumbled throughout 1937, closing the year down 37%. People feared that the depression was returning.

No one feared this more than Roosevelt and his allies. Knowing the power an economic crisis could have in public opinion, Roosevelt was determined to reverse the trend, but also to make sure his administration didn’t take the blame. For much of 1937, Roosevelt and his political enemies fought one another over who was responsible for the downturn.

For conservatives and business leaders, the blame rested squarely on the policies of the New Deal. The feeling was that the Roosevelt administration was hostile to big business and more favorable to labor and unions. By emboldening labor, strikes resulted, hurting the economy. In addition, higher taxes were taking a toll on the economy as well. By 1937, the fruits of these policies were coming to bear.

On the other end of the spectrum, but still blaming Roosevelt, was the belief that the executive branch reversed course too soon in regards to government and deficit spending. Feeling pressure from conservative Democrats and the American tradition and value of a balanced budget, Roosevelt began cutting spending on many of the New Deal programs. This change proved disastrous for the fragile economy. It was akin to stopping a medical treatment too soon. Keynesian economists and those in the administration who adhered to the philosophy urged the president to reconsider.

For his part, Roosevelt blamed business leaders and the very wealthy. He was convinced that they were trying to undermine his administration and create another depression. He even asked the FBI to investigate and see if such a cabal existed. It did not. This didn’t stop Roosevelt and his lieutenants from attacking the wealthiest Americans by name, including the Ford family, the Morgans, and the du Ponts. Harold Ickes, Roosevelt’s Secretary of the Interior, warned that if left unchecked, the United States would become a fascist nation.

In the end, Roosevelt and Congress returned to higher levels of spending, pouring funds back into the WPA and the PWA, among other relief programs. A new Agricultural Adjustment Act was passed, spreading funding among the nation’s farmers. The Keynesian argument won out. By the end of 1938, the economy was again on the upswing, much to the relief of Roosevelt.

Ultimately, what caused and then ended the “Roosevelt Recession,” as the period between 1937 and 1938 became known, was probably a combination of the above factors (except the conspiracy theory, no evidence was ever found for that). The attempt to return to a balanced budget was premature, and some of the policies regulating business were probably becoming obsolete. As the decade was drawing to a close, however, there were other events that were causing as much, if not more, concern than the economy. By the fall of 1938, world affairs became a greater concern for many Americans.


Chapter Seven

Last Steps Toward Recovery—and War

“This nation will remain a neutral nation.”

—Franklin Roosevelt

The Great Depression was the number one concern of Americans throughout most of the 1930s. The economic collapse and hardships that followed demanded the attention of all American leaders. Franklin Roosevelt and the New Deal were determined to resuscitate the United States economy and provide not only relief to American workers, but also some measure of stability against such an event ever happening again. Though domestic issues were paramount to the Roosevelt administration, it would be a mistake to suggest foreign policy was completely ignored.

The watchword for American diplomacy in the 1930s was neutrality. In the early 1930s, many lawmakers were opposed to becoming entangled in another foreign war like World War I. A Senate committee investigated U.S. involvement before and during the First World War and found that American companies, mostly in banking and munitions, profited greatly from the war. After these facts were brought to light, the moniker Merchants of Death was used to describe those that profited from the war. Popular opinion believed that getting involved in other nation’s business was not only bad for American soldiers but was a moral wrong when it came to making money off of war.

By 1935, world events were escalating at a rapid pace toward open warfare between many countries. In response, Congress passed the 1935 Neutrality Act that prohibited U.S. companies from supplying war materials to belligerent nations. Though Roosevelt felt such acts were shortsighted and could prohibit the United States from taking quick action, he referenced the Neutrality Act when speaking about the Italian invasion of Ethiopia. He assured the American public that the United States would not get involved in the conflict in any way.

The policy of neutrality was continued in 1936 and was expanded in 1937 to cover civil wars, a direct response to some American companies selling materials to General Franco in the Spanish Civil War. The Neutrality Act of 1937 also held the provision of “Cash and Carry.” It allowed warring nations to buy American materials if they provided the shipping and paid upfront. This way there was no debt to draw the U.S. in, nor was American merchant ships at risk faring into war zones. Roosevelt also called on the United States to “quarantine” conflicts, especially aggressor nations. He was specifically concerned with Japan who had invaded China, beginning the Second Sino-Japanese War.

The Spanish Civil War was another international conflict that further ruptured the overall isolationist view of the United States and its citizens. Over 2,000 Americans volunteered to fight against the fascist forces of General Franco in the Lincoln Battalion, part of the International Lincoln Brigade. The Spanish Civil War was seen as an important struggle in the fight against fascism, especially by those on the left in U.S. politics.

Events in 1939 further chipped away at the American policy of isolationism and neutrality. The first was the German violation of the Munich Agreement by invading Czechoslovakia. The promise of “peace in our time” was broken, and the Munich Agreement has become a cautionary tale, encouraging a decisive and strong action instead of appeasement when dealing with belligerent nations. After the invasion of Poland in September of 1939, the date given as the start of World War II, Roosevelt was able to convince Congress to extend the Cash and Carry plan to aid Great Britain and France in their fight against Germany. In addition, the Neutrality Acts of 1935 and 1937 were repealed, giving the Roosevelt administration much greater leeway in deciding how to deal with warring nations.

On the home front, two incidents swayed public opinion more toward intervention. One was in February of 1939 at the German American Bund rally at Madison Square Garden. Not only was a rally of 20,000 pro-Nazis shocking, but the violence that erupted between protesters and guards of the Bund convinced many that Nazism was counter to American values.

The second incident that influenced public opinion was the voyage of the MS St. Louis. The ship left Hamburg in the spring of 1939 and arrived in Havana at the end of May. After being refused by the Cuban government, the St. Louis tried to dock in the United States. Public opinion was divided, as was the mood of Congress and Roosevelt. Many people were sympathetic to the specific situation but were also fearful of relaxing any immigration laws that, in some minds, would increase competition for jobs and resources. The refugees on board the ship sent a personal telegram to the president. Roosevelt did not answer. The St. Louis was forced to sail away from Miami. After an unsuccessful appeal to the Canadian government, the ship was forced to return to Europe. The sad coda to this story is that of the 937 passengers who embarked from Hamburg, 532 were sent to concentration camps; of those, 254 died. Though the latter information did not come to light until after the war, the story of the St. Louis was further evidence that world events would, sooner rather than later, approach American shores.

In late 1939, the political atmosphere in the United States was not ready for the full mobilization of the military. However, Roosevelt was able to push forward on a limited mobilization and called for an increase of 227,000 in the regular army and another 235,000 for the National Guard. These preparations were largely in response to the German victory in Poland and almost assured invasion of the west come 1940 and the continued war between Japan and China. In both conflicts, the United States supported, as much as they could, the invaded nations.

As the decade came to a close, this international turmoil had an effect on the U.S. economy. Unemployment fell to its lowest point since the depression had started. Industry was also responding as the Roosevelt administration called for increases in the production of aircraft and naval vessels. By the fall of 1940, a new Selective Service Act enacted a draft for the first time when the United States was at peace.


Conclusion

The Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor on December 7, 1941, thrust the United States into a worldwide conflict that radically altered the nation, at that moment and ever since. If there was any doubt that the Great Depression was coming to a close, the entry of the United States into World War II placed that question to bed. Near the end of the war, the United States was almost at full employment, with an unemployment rate at a scant 1.2%. Women were employed in record numbers, and opportunities for minorities in the United States were as plentiful as they had ever been.

But the Great Depression was not forgotten. One of the biggest fears of many Americans after the war was that the depression would return. Maintaining a strong economy was the key domestic concern of politicians in the immediate postwar era. The repurposing of manufacturing to domestic products was important, but the United States assumed a greater role in world affairs post-World War II. Part of that responsibility was the continued production of war materials. The threat of fascism was defeated, but the threat of global communism became the great fear of many in western Europe and the United States. A larger armed force was maintained by the United States and those that left the service after the war were the first recipients of the GI Bill, dedicated to the education and training of former soldiers.

Being one of a very few nations not physically decimated by the war, the United States was able to sustain a strong economy for nearly two decades. Though there were economic downturns starting in the 1970s, nothing even remotely as devastating as the Great Depression occurred in the United States until 2008. Even then, though the Great Recession was a difficult time, many of the structures put in place in the 1930s made sure a full-scale depression didn’t occur. As those that lived through the Great Depression continue to leave us, it is important to remember the hard lessons learned from such a traumatic decade. Perhaps it is best to remember that by joining and working together, any crisis can be met.
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Introduction

As Americans of the 1930s glanced across their Pacific and Atlantic barriers, they found that the insulation afforded by their cushioning oceans suited them just fine. For a nation that had been dealing with unemployment rates of 25%, the Great Depression was enough travail for its citizens to deal with, and the Americans embraced their neutrality. While it was unfortunate that, following the fall of France, Great Britain was left to fight alone against the Nazi aggression and genocide of Adolf Hitler’s Germany, it was Europe’s battle, and Americans had no wish to take part. On the Pacific side of the nation, Japanese aggression against the Chinese was likewise unfortunate, but Americans wanted no part of someone else’s war.

President Franklin D. Roosevelt was no isolationist, and he realized, as the citizens of the nation he had led since 1933 did not, that there would be no shelter from this war. America provided support to Great Britain, Free France, the Republic of China, the Soviet Union, and other Allies through the Lend-Lease program which provided food, oil, and material, including warships, warplanes, and weapons, from 1941 to the end of the war in August 1945. In exchange for the items, the U.S. received leases on army and naval bases located in Allied territory during the war years.

FDR would have liked to do more, but the Neutrality Act of 1939 limited the scope of the assistance that could be offered. American aversion to being engulfed by foreign war required that FDR had to balance his far-sighted vision for the conflict with the nearsighted perspective of the nation. With a Gallup poll taken before the war showing that 88% of Americans were against becoming involved in the war in Europe, FDR’s 1940 re-election campaign vowed, “I have said this before, but I shall say it again and again and again: Your boys are not going to be sent into any foreign wars.”

Americans, when they did think of the war, were aware that the nations in Europe were falling like low-hanging fruit to the Nazis. They knew that Japan had invaded China and seized Manchuria. They were aware that their government was negotiating with the Japanese government, which wanted the U.S. to end the sanctions that were depriving the Japanese of oil and necessary goods. But until December 7, 1941, none of this was sufficient reason for the Americans to enter the war.

That ended when President Roosevelt addressed a joint session of Congress on December 8, the day after the attack. December 7, 1941, was, he declared, a day which would live in infamy. First Lady Eleanor Roosevelt had already prepared the nation for the news in her radio broadcast the night before when she stated, “whatever is asked of us we shall accomplish it; we are the free and unconquerable people of the U.S.A.” For his part, her husband regarded the attack on Pearl Harbor as the most serious crisis that any presidential Cabinet had had to deal with since the Civil War.

With only one dissenting vote, Congress voted to go to war against the Empire of Japan an hour after FDR’s speech. The dissenting vote was cast by Rep. Jeannette Rankin of Montana. Having flung off its neutrality, the Americans reacted angrily to her pacifism. A mob that followed her as she left the Capitol after her vote forced her to hide in a telephone booth until the Capitol police came to her rescue. America was out for vengeance and was in no mood for peace until it came on American terms.

Germany and Italy declared war against the United States, but America had no more thoughts of avoiding the conflict. The attack on Pearl Harbor was the linchpin to the grenade that launched America into a global conflict for the second time in the twentieth century. But World War II would see a very different result from what World War I had brought, as the United States and its military, rising out of the burning ashes of Pearl Harbor, would emerge as the dominant power, one possessed of a terrible new weapon capable of wreaking destruction on an unfathomable scale.


Chapter One

America Opens the Door to Japan

“Our great state of California produces about sixty millions of dollars in gold every year, besides silver, quicksilver, precious stones, and many other valuable articles. Japan is also a rich and fertile country, and produces many very valuable articles. Your imperial majesty’s subjects are skilled in many of the arts. I am desirous that our two countries should trade with each other, for the benefit both of Japan and the United States.”

—President Millard Fillmore

To the young American country, Japan was an exotic mystery, one that Commodore Matthew Perry intended to solve. On July 8, 1853, he sailed two frigates and two sailing vessels into Tokyo Bay, seeking to re-establish for the first time in over 200 years regular trade and relations between Japan and the western world. Japan and the west had enjoyed profitable trading relations during the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries until 1639 when the Japanese expelled the foreigners because of what were seen as unfair trade practices and their efforts to convert the Japanese to Catholicism. After that, trade access was granted only to Dutch and Chinese ships which had special charters.

But in the middle of the nineteenth century, Chinese ports were opened to trade from the west. The United States, having acquired California and a Pacific port, wanted to capitalize on trade with Asia. American steamships needed to have coaling stations in order to take on provisions and fuel as they made the long journey to China. There were rumors that Japan had enormous repositories of coal, an enticement which only increased the intention of establishing diplomatic and commercial ties with Japan.

While the whaling trade was still lucrative, the U.S. needed safe harbors in case of shipwrecks. Before Perry’s mission, sailors from the U.S. who were shipwrecked were reportedly mistreated by the Japanese. To pacify and persuade the emperor, Perry brought gifts for the Japanese leader, not realizing that the emperor’s position was more ceremonial than political and that the actual power was held by the Tokugawa Shogunate. The gifts were intended to prove American superiority and included a working model of a steam locomotive, a telegraph, a telescope, and wines and liquors. He intended to win the government’s agreement to protect shipwrecked and stranded ships and to open at least one port for supplies and refueling.

The Japanese were decidedly unenthusiastic, but Perry refused to leave. If the government did not send a suitable representative to receive his letter from President Millard Fillmore, Perry announced, he himself would deliver the letter and use force if necessary.

Although the harbor was fortified, its defenses were not sufficient to battle Perry. After several days, they accepted his letter from the American president requesting a treaty. The next spring, Perry returned for Japan’s answer, and the Treaty of Kanagawa was signed on March 31, 1854. In addition to the sought-after concessions, the treaty included a most-favored-nation clause so that any future concessions granted to other foreign powers would also include the U.S.

In 1856, the first U.S. consul arrived. As he didn’t arrive with the naval regalia that Perry brought, the Japanese were not at first amenable to signing a more extended treaty. However, after learning that the British had forced China to open its ports through military action, Japan opted for the diplomatic approach, and in 1858, the first commercial treaty was signed. In 1860, Japan sent a mission to Washington D.C. to ratify the treaty.

Despite its initial reluctance to welcome western trade, Japan utilized the new trade economy to modernize its military and quickly became the chief Asian power in the Pacific. The changes in its commercial role also affected Japanese politics; the Tokugawa Shogunate became weaker, and the Japanese emperor gained formal control of the nation in 1868.

Japan, unlike Europe, was not dragged into the morass of World War I, and the country’s industry and trade prospered as Japan filled the gap vacated by the ruined commerce in Europe. But because Japan possessed insufficient natural resources, the nation’s manufacturers needed to import raw materials. During the period from 1918 to 1930, as Japan’s population surged, the nation could no longer meet the needs of its people. Tariffs imposed on Japanese exports by foreign nations limited the ability of Japan to pay for the food it needed to import.

The crash of the stock market in 1929 and the worldwide Depression affected the Japanese economy just as it devastated so many others in the world. At the same time, the 1930s saw the rise of militarism in Japan. While China had suffered revolution during the 1920s, Japan thought that the northern region of Manchuria, with its wealth of resources, would be the ideal acquisition if Japan wanted to expand its boundaries and solve its internal problems with its population growth.

Acting upon a fabricated terrorist threat, the Kwantung Army seized a city in Manchuria without seeking approval from the Japanese government and without offering proof of its accusations. Despite the efforts of the government to halt the Kwantung Army’s aggression, the forces continued to bring Chinese Manchuria under its control. The region was renamed Manchukuo in 1932 as a puppet state of Japan. When China complained to the League of Nations, Japan withdrew from the League, and its armies continued to invade China, stopping just before reaching Peking. The truce that was arranged barred the Chinese from entering the parts of northern China that were occupied by Japan.

By the mid-1930s, Japan was beginning to emerge from the economic shadow of the Great Depression thanks to government deficits that expanded heavy industry and the military. Young men, who had joined the army because the Depression had been so overwhelming in their rural communities, were committed to the idea that they could achieve economic security if they expanded Japan’s territory.

By 1937, China and Japan were at war, and while the United States condemned Japan’s aggressive behavior, President Franklin D. Roosevelt knew that war with Asia was not a direction favored by the American people still enmeshed in the Great Depression. Americans handled the martial encroachment by refusing to recognize the conquered territory as belonging Japan, imposing economic sanctions against the aggressors and providing military and economic assistance for the Chinese. Japan was insulted by the responses and retaliated by trying to prevent the assistance from reaching China and finding other sources for the items that they could not get from the U.S. due to the sanctions.

As Japan looked upon the landscape of the west, noting the speed and efficiency of Adolf Hitler’s military victories, the Asian power reckoned that the French, the British, and the Dutch were incapable of defending the territories those nations controlled in Southeast Asia and the South Pacific. Japan and Germany negotiated an alliance in 1940, and after that, Japan pushed for the French government to allow Japanese troops to occupy northern French Indochina. The next year saw the Japanese occupying all of French Indochina.

As a result, the U.S. increased its economic sanctions. Most threatening was the decision in late summer of 1941 to deny the Japanese the right to purchase any materials, including oil, from the U.S. Japan was almost entirely dependent upon American imports for its oil; if the Japanese didn’t have oil, how could they sustain their war against China?

During the latter half of 1941, the two countries were involved in frantic negotiations. If the U.S. would not relent in its sanctions, Japan had only months of oil remaining. Japan decided that if no agreement was reached by the end of November 1941, war was the only option. That war, the Japanese navy realized, would have to be an air strike using carrier-based planes against Pearl Harbor. It would have to be a conclusive attack with the intention of destroying the U.S. Pacific Fleet. If the American naval fleet were lying at the bottom of the ocean, its ships would not be able to impede Japan’s plans for domination.


Chapter Two

Pearl Harbor, Home of the Shark Goddess

“When reflecting upon it today, that the Pearl Harbor attack should have succeeded in achieving surprise seems a blessing from Heaven. It was clear that a great American fleet had been concentrated in Pearl Harbor, and we supposed that the state of alert would be very high.”

—Hideki Tojo

In the beginning, European explorers like Captain James Cook were not optimistic that Pearl Harbor, because of the coral bar that blocked the entrance, had potential to be a port. But as time went on, that view changed.

The connection between the United States and the Hawaiian Islands had begun during the time when the American whaling industry was booming. In 1846, the peak year for whaling, nearly 800 whaling ships, most of them carrying the American flag, came to Hawaii, whose sugar and pineapple crops were a trade lure. At that time, the American Navy patrolled the islands in order to protect the whaling ships from attack by pirates or other commercial rivals.

The arrival of the westerners galvanized activity in Hawaii, where life had previously gone on as it had for centuries. The cities of Honolulu and Lahaina suddenly were bustling with the influx of sailors. Facilities to repair ships were built. In order to accommodate the new economy, boarding houses appeared, along with laundries, blacksmiths, and other merchants.

But then, in 1859, oil was discovered in Pennsylvania, and with whale oil no longer needed for lamps and fuel, the whaling industry was devastated. What was left was vanquished by the Confederate Navy which sailed deep into the Pacific to chase the remaining whalers and sink them; it wasn’t out of vindictiveness, but for the purpose of striking at the economy of the North. As the nineteenth century came to a close, the whaling boom was done. But the Civil War did inspire another trading incentive thanks to the northern boycotting of the southern sugar crop. As imports from Hawaii increased, pineapples became the second-largest export from Hawaii.

Sugar and pineapples were all very well, but the United States was growing, and Hawaii seemed ideal for the establishment of a Pacific port for the American Navy. In 1873, two American military officers traveled secretly to Hawaii to assess the Hawaiian Islands in terms of their defensive capabilities and potential commercial facilities.

Trade, once again, was a dominant factor in relations between the two nations. After the passing of the McKinley Tariff, import rates on foreign sugar increased, resulting in an economic crisis as Hawaiian sugar planters were being undersold in the U.S. market. But the American sugar growers reasoned that there wouldn’t be a tariff on the sugar if the Hawaiian Islands were to be annexed by the U.S.

Hawaii’s Queen Liliuokalani did not welcome foreign meddling in her country. That stance was not aligned with the sugar planters, who mounted an uprising in January 1893 and appealed to the American military for protection. Marines, without the approval of the president, stormed the island, and the American flag was raised over Honolulu as the Hawaiian queen was forced to surrender. President Grover Cleveland did not support annexation and instead ordered an investigation into the matter with the intention of restoring the queen to her throne.

But by 1898, the U.S. was at war with Spain, and the Hawaiian Islands had a renewed usefulness as a stopping point en route to the Spanish Philippines. President McKinley signed a resolution annexing Hawaii, which then became an American territory.

According to the native Hawaiians, Pearl Harbor was the home of the shark goddess and her son; the goddess was born of human parents but had changed into a shark. She and her son, legend said, lived in a cave at the entrance to Pearl Harbor and guarded the waters against man-eating sharks. They were friendly gods who protected the fish ponds from intruders, and pearl-producing oysters filled the harbor until late in the 1800s.

By the next century, it was no longer the European explorers who were involving themselves in Pearl Harbor. On December 6, 1884, the United States and the Hawaiian Kingdom of 1875 signed the Reciprocity Treaty, which gave the U.S. exclusive rights to Pearl Harbor as part of the agreement allowing Hawaii to send its sugar to the U.S. duty-free. As the U.S. flexed its muscle after the Spanish-American War of 1898, the Americans decided that a permanent presence in the Pacific was needed. That led to the decision to annex Hawaii. The channel had to be dredged so that the harbor would be able to accommodate large naval ships, and in 1908, a naval base was created at Pearl Harbor. Within six years, the area around Pearl Harbor would see the establishment of other bases where American marine and army soldiers were housed.

The Hawaiians were less than pleased. When the construction of the first dry dock began in 1909, seismic disturbances caused collapses on the construction site; the Hawaiians believed that the shark god was angry. In order to pacify the angry god, a kahuna was summoned. Years of problems took place over the following decade but finally, in 1919, the first dry dock opened.

Two years before that, Ford Island was purchased for the Army and Navy to use in the development of the military’s aviation program. The Pacific was looming as a potential site of conflict; Japan’s military and industrial might were expanding, and the U.S.—still a junior player on the world stage but one with the potential to be more—began to keep more ships at Pearl Harbor.

From 1921 to 1940, the United States did not have a two-ocean army. Ships in San Diego and San Francisco were able to quickly deploy if they were needed to defend the Hawaiian Islands or the Panama Canal. But the possibility of war with Japan had been on the American radar screen since the early years of the twentieth century.

The assumption was that if the U.S. and Japan were at war, American bases in the western Pacific would be overrun or blockaded, so the plan was for the U.S. Pacific Fleet to concentrate its might along the western coast. By the 1930s, economic measures had forced naval ships to sail with half of their allotted crew, so time would be needed, if there were an attack, for a full crew to be assembled. The plan was that, after that was accomplished, the ships would sail to relieve the Philippines and then blockade Japan.

In 1932, the Navy participated in a mock attack to explore its defense of Pearl Harbor. For the exercise, Rear Admiral Harry Yarnell was in command of the attacking force. As a naval aviator, one of the few admirals to have this position when battleship command was the path to promotion, Yarnell was instrumental in developing aircraft carrier tactics at a time when carriers were regarding as expendable, good only as fleet scouting elements.

Yarnell’s perception was that Japan had always begun its operations by attacking before declaring war, and so his attack plan utilized carrier aviation to launch a surprise attack on Pearl Harbor. The defenders of the harbor expected Yarnell to attack with his battleships, but Yarnell advanced with two carriers north-northeast of Hawaii, and at dawn on February 7, his force of 152 plans launched their attack, first striking the airfields and then the ships.

The defenders were completely caught off guard. Using sacks of white flour to simulate bombs, the mock attacking force scored multiple hits. Not a single plane was able to get airborne as the attack got underway, and the airfields were out of commission. But Yarnell’s success and the revelation that Pearl Harbor was vulnerable was not well received by the brass at the Army or Navy. They said that Yarnell, by attacking at dawn on a Sunday morning, had cheated. That was not an appropriate time for an attack, they complained. Attacking from the north-northeast had mimicked planes arriving from the mainland. And, the Navy added, “everyone knew that Asians lacked sufficient hand-eye coordination to engage in that kind of precision bombing” of the battleships at anchor. Under pressure, the exercise umpires who had credited Yarnell with winning the exercise reversed their decision under pressure from the War Department.

The admirals refused to believe that Pearl Harbor was susceptible to attack by naval air power. The Japanese were paying attention to the coverage of the exercise that was reported in the press, and in fact, the exercise was observed by Japanese naval officers who were at the Japanese consulate on Oahu. What the American naval brass refused to consider remained in the thoughts of the Japanese who would imitate Yarnell’s attack a decade later, with six carriers and twice the air power that Yarnell used.

But the military did not fail to notice the strategic value of Pearl Harbor. In 1935, the Army spent $15 million to build Hickam Field, a new base for its Air Corps station in the Pacific. The thirties saw the shadows of war loom across Europe, but discerning eyes could tell that the conflict would not allow the Pacific to be disengaged. The U.S., although still neutral after France and Great Britain went to war against Germany in 1939, decided to hold its fleet exercise in 1940 in Hawaii. On February 1, 1941, the Americans divided its naval resources into separate Atlantic and Pacific fleets, with the Pacific Fleet permanently lodged at Pearl Harbor.

Just as the Japanese had been watching in 1932 as the United States conducted its mock attack exercises on Pearl Harbor, they were watching now. They observed as the Americans made more improvements to the channel so that, by the middle of 1941, the entire American Pacific Fleet could be berthed within Pearl Harbor. What seemed like a move for convenience to the Americans would prove to be a golden opportunity for the Japanese and their plans to control the Pacific by knocking out the American Navy.


Chapter Three

Air Raid Pearl Harbor, This Is No Drill

“Indeed, one hour after Japanese air squadrons had commenced bombing in the American island of Oahu, the Japanese ambassador to the United States and his colleague delivered to our Secretary of State a formal reply to a recent American message. And while this reply stated that it seemed useless to continue the existing diplomatic negotiations, it contained no threat or hint of war or of armed attack.”

—President Franklin Delano Roosevelt

The year 1941 was one of intense negotiations between the United States and its Pacific rival, but President Roosevelt had rejected Japanese concessions, despite their willingness to withdraw from most of China and French Indochina after peace with the Nationalist government was made. Before he would agree to meet with the Japanese prime minister, President Roosevelt wanted an agreement. The American ambassador to Japan had alerted FDR that the only way to achieve peace was to meet with the prime minister, but FDR was adamant. An agreement before a meeting, or no meeting.

The next month, the government of Japan collapsed upon the refusal by the Japanese military to withdraw from China. On November 20, the Japanese offered to withdraw from southern Indochina and to not attack in Southeast Asia if the Americans, Dutch, and British would end their sanctions against Japan and stop providing aid to the Chinese. The Americans had a counterproposal which was delivered on November 27, 1941, but it was already too late; the Japanese attack fleet had left for Pearl Harbor on November 26.

The six aircraft carriers intended to use 408 aircraft in the attack.

On December 7, the U.S. Army radar picked up the arrival of the first wave of the Japanese attack, but the post, although in training for six months, was not operational and there was disagreement regarding what was approaching. Six B-17 bombers were scheduled to arrive from California, and the officer at the post disagreed with the operators who called the approach a target. The Japanese were approaching at a very few degrees of difference from the bombers, and the operators neglected to tell their officer of the size of the advancing force.

At 7:48 am Hawaiian Time, the air attack began. The 353 planes reached Oahu in two waves. The torpedo bombers attacked the battleships while the dive bombers struck the bases of Hickam Field and Wheeler Field on Oahu. During the second wave, 171 planes attacked the Army Air Force Base at Bellows Field and Ford Island. The only aerial opposition that the Americans mounted came from a handful of P-36 Hawks, P-40 Warhawks, and some SBD Dauntless dive bombers from the aircraft carrier USS Enterprise
.

Not expecting an attack, the American sailors scrambled at the message “Air Raid Pearl Harbor. This is no drill” from the headquarters of Patrol Wing Two, the first senior Hawaiian command that responded. They found that their ammunition lockers were locked. Guns were unmanned. On a leisurely Sunday morning, no one was expecting to need guns or ammunition.

The 90-minute attack left 2,008 sailors, 218 soldiers and airmen, 109 marines, and 68 civilians dead. Eighteen ships, including five battleships, had either been sunk or run aground. Half of the American deaths were caused by the explosion of the forward magazine on the USS Arizona after it was hit by a modified 16-inch shell from a Nakajima B5N torpedo bomber. As the USS Nevada, which was on fire from a torpedo hit, tried to escape from the harbor, the Japanese bombers sent bombs to prevent the ship from getting away. To prevent the Nevada from blocking the entrance to the harbor, the ship was intentionally beached. After the USS California was hit by two bombs and two torpedoes, the crew was ordered to abandon ship. The USS Utah, a disarmed target ship, was hit by torpedoes. The seventh torpedo that hit the USS West Virginia tore the ship’s rudder. The USS Oklahoma capsized after the last two of the four torpedoes to hit the ship struck above the belt armor. The USS Maryland, although hit by two 16-inch shells converted into bombs, was not seriously damaged.

In addition to hitting the battleships, the Japanese struck other vessels as well, including light cruisers, destroyers, a repair vessel, and a seaplane tender. The devastation overall was terrible; of the 402 American aircraft, 188 were destroyed, 159 were damaged. Few of the aircraft had been ready to defend the base, and 155 of those damaged were on the ground.

Eight Army Air Force pilots got airborne while the attack was underway, and one Japanese aircraft was brought down. Several American planes were brought down by friendly fire. In addition, three of the nine civilian planes flying in the area were shot.

All the battleships except for the Arizona and the Oklahoma were repaired and were able to return to service. Fortunately, the three aircraft carriers that had been sent from Pearl Harbor were not victims of the attack and would be able to serve in their intended capacity. But on the day of the attack, there was no hopeful news. The billowing smoke from the attack covered Pearl Harbor, and the ships were monuments to the efficiency of the Japanese bombing.

American intelligence had failed. Expecting Japan to attack the European colonies that were closer than Pearl Harbor, which was 4,000 miles away, the military had failed to defend its base. That meant that almost all of the Pacific Fleet was in the harbor, with hundreds of planes at the airfields nearby.

The intelligence experts were, however, right about Japan’s plans to attack the European colonies. Ninety minutes before the attack on Pearl Harbor got underway, the Japanese invaded British Malaya, the New Territories of Hong Kong, Wake Island, the Philippines, and Thailand.

Because these attacks took place on the opposite side of the dateline, the attack happened on December 8, 1941. Regardless of the calendar, the effect was numbing. Reasoning that, by destroying America’s Pacific Fleet, the United States would be powerless to retaliate, Japan was sure that it would be free to conquer the South Pacific. The Japanese assumed that, after destroying so many American vessels and airplanes, along with dry docks and airfields, with a staggering count of 2,403 sailors and civilians killed and more than 1,000 wounded, their plan had been executed flawlessly.

But that would not be the case. Aircraft carriers and not battleships were now the most significant naval vessels on the oceans, and none of the Pacific Fleet’s carriers were on the base that day, some delivering troops to Wake and Midway Islands, others having returned to the mainland. The Japanese, by failing to strike at the onshore oil storage depots, shipyards, submarine docks, and repair shops, could not prevent the Navy from getting back in order fairly quickly.

American outrage, too, was of enormous impact. The Office of War Information quickly stoked the indignation of the country, inspiring patriotism on the home front. Responding to the rallying cry of “Remember Pearl Harbor,” Americans switched, seemingly overnight, to a wartime economy and a wartime frame of mind. By the end of 1941, America had 1.8 million men in the military. By the end of 1942, that number had risen to 3.9 million and by 1943, 9.1 million. Of those 9.1 million, 38% or 3 million were volunteering their services. As American men donned their country’s uniform and went overseas to fight the enemy, American women filled their places in the factories, working at jobs previously performed by men so that the nation’s accelerated pace of industry would not slacken.

When Winston Churchill learned of the attack on Pearl Harbor, the prime minister of the beleaguered British immediately realized what this meant. He had been despondent over his nation’s prospects for victory. But Pearl Harbor changed everything “So, we had won after all! . . . We had won the war. England would live; Britain would live. . . . How long the war would last or in what fashion it would end no man could tell, nor did I at this moment care . . . We should not be wiped out. Our history would not come to an end. We might not even have to die as individuals. Hitler’s fate was sealed. Mussolini’s fate was sealed. As for the Japanese, they would be ground to powder. All the rest was merely the proper application of overwhelming force.”

He was four years premature with his optimistic prediction, but he was correct in his intuition that the entry of the United States into the war would be the turning point that would ultimately lead to Allied victory.


Chapter Four

The Commanders

“I feel that a surprise attack (submarine, air, or combined) on Pearl Harbor is a possibility, and we are taking immediate practical steps to minimize the damage inflicted and to ensure that the attacking force will pay.”

—Admiral Husband E. Kimmel

In 1915, Husband Kimmel was assigned as an aide to Franklin Delano Roosevelt, who was then the Assistant Secretary of the Navy under President Woodrow Wilson. Kimmel had graduated from the United States Naval Academy in 1904, and from there he went on to serve in the Caribbean on battleships. When the United States occupied Veracruz, Mexico, Kimmel was part of the occupation force and was wounded in 1914.

He served during World War I as a squadron gunnery officer as part of the Sixth Battle Squadron of the British Grand Fleet. Following the conclusion of the war, Kimmel was the Executive Officer aboard the USS Arkansas and commanded two destroyer divisions. After completing the senior course at the Naval War College, he was given the rank of captain in 1926. The next decade saw him hold a number of different Navy Department assignments along with commanding a destroyer squadron and the USS New York, a battleship. Promoted to the flag rank of rear admiral in 1937, he was named Cruiser Division Seven commander on a diplomatic cruise to South America.

By the time World War II broke out, he was a rear admiral in command of the cruiser forces at Pearl Harbor. In May 1940, the new home for the fleet was Pearl Harbor instead of its former base at San Diego, California. James Richardson, commander of the Pacific Fleet, objected to basing the fleet at Pearl Harbor, believing that it made the fleet too vulnerable to attack, and when President Roosevelt relieved him of duty, Kimmel took Richardson’s place. On February 18, 1941, Kimmel informed Admiral Harold Rainsford Stark, Chief of Naval Operations, that, given the possibility of a surprise attack on Pearl Harbor, steps were being taken immediately to address the issue.

Regarded as a diligent and hard worker who inspired the men under him, he was also credited with imbuing the fleet with efficiency and training. “Bull” Halsey, who would become a five-star fleet admiral during the war, regarded Kimmel as ideal for the position. Despite the praise of officers like Halsey, others later accused Kimmel of being a slave to detail; they said that he was prone to overanalyzing tasks that he had already done instead of delegating them. Others said that he was lacking in insight and imagination, too reliant on traditional methods and too inclined to follow routine.

The Japanese were in Washington D.C. negotiating, and rumors were rife that the Japanese intended to attack, but Kimmel believed that an attack would take place at Wake Island or Midway Island, not Pearl Harbor. His request for extra antiaircraft artillery for support from Pearl Harbor for Wake Island was not answered because support could not be spared. In April 1941, Kimmel requested additional resources to build the base at Wake Island; he also asked to have a Marine defense battalion stationed there. The first permanent Marine garrison was assigned to Wake Island in August. He ordered Marine fighters and pilots to Wake Island in November, and on December 5, he sent the USS Lexington from Pearl Harbor with the assignment to ferry Marine dive bombers to Midway. Those missions away from Pearl Harbor meant that when the attack came, neither the USS Enterprise nor the USS Lexington was at Pearl Harbor.

When the Japanese began their attack on Pearl Harbor, Kimmel witnessed the terrible destruction. Watching from the window of his office at the submarine base, Kimmel was wounded with a spent bullet that cut him. Kimmel responded to the minor injury by noting that, “It would have been merciful had it killed me.” An aide who was standing beside Kimmel throughout the attack recalled years later that as Kimmel watched the destruction of the fleet, he tore off his four-star shoulder boards, knowing that the attack heralded the end of his command.

After the attack was assessed, Kimmel’s predictability was regarded as one of the reasons that the Pacific Fleet was so vulnerable and unprepared, even though the possibility of a Japanese attack was not unknown. On December 17, Kimmel was relieved of command of the Pacific Fleet. A commission appointed by President Roosevelt determined that Kimmel was guilty of dereliction of duty in the days before the attack. Kimmel’s decision to retire from the Navy in January 1942 may have avoided a court-martial despite Kimmel’s defense that he had not been provided with important information. Kimmel would later blame FDR for the damage to his naval career, believing that Roosevelt knew that the Japanese were going to bomb Pearl Harbor.

Isoroku Yamamoto, the Japanese naval officer who planned the attack on Pearl Harbor, had graduated from the Japanese naval academy in 1904 and worked in Washington D.C. as a naval attaché at the Japanese embassy from 1926 to 1927. His career prospered, and by August 1941, he was commander-in-chief of Japan’s Combined Fleet. Yamamoto did not support war with the United States, concerned that a prolonged war with the Americans would not serve Japan’s long-term interests. However, after the government decided that war was the correct response, Yamamoto decided that the only option that would work would be to attack Pearl Harbor by surprise and destroy the U.S. Pacific forces. There was a caveat, however; if the war with the U.S. lasted longer than a year, Yamamoto said that the Japanese would lose.

Yamamoto’s intention was for the attack to begin 30 minutes after Japan announced that its peace negotiations with the U.S. had ended. The notification was sent to the Japanese Embassy in Washington D.C., but the transcription took too much time for the ambassador to deliver it according to schedule. Actually, the United States codebreakers had already translated the bulk of the message. Japanese newspapers published a declaration of war on December 8, but this was not delivered to the U.S. until after the attack.

The controversy over whether or not Japan attacked without a declaration of war has continued since 1941, but in 1999, a Japanese professor of law and international relations found documents attesting to the debate within the Japanese government on the subject. What he found was that the Japanese military did not want to give prior notice that the negotiations had come to an end or that war was to be declared. The actual message was not, in any case, a definite declaration; the last paragraph only read, “The Japanese Government regrets to have to notify hereby the American Government that in view of the attitude of the American Government it cannot but consider that it is impossible to reach an agreement through further negotiations.”

Yamamoto’s planning was masterful. Within 30 minutes of the attack, several American battleships were capsized, destroyed or immobilized, 180 aircraft destroyed, and thousands dead and wounded. The Japanese rejoiced in the resounding success of the raid, but Yamamoto was seen to be less sanguine.

While the staff celebrated the success of the attack, Yamamoto spent the day in depression. He disapproved of the fact that the attack took place while the two countries were at peace. The sneak attack, he knew, would infuriate the Americans and galvanize them into retaliation. He is reputed to have said, “I fear we have awakened a sleeping giant and filled him with a terrible resolve.” Historians, however, are dubious that Yamamoto made the statement. The quotation was first uttered as dialogue in the movie Tora! Tora! Tora!, a 1970s film about the Pearl Harbor attack. According to historian Steve Gillon, “As far as I know, we have no evidence that Yamamoto ever made the observation following the attack that Japan had awakened a sleeping giant,” The film’s director and producer countered that although Yamamoto did not utter the quote, he wrote it in his diary.

Whether or not the quotation was actually attributed to Yamamoto, the prediction was accurate. By June 1942, at the Battle of Midway, when the Japanese Navy lost four aircraft carriers along with many planes and pilots, their naval forces were dealt a death blow.

Yamamoto himself was killed in 1943 when American forces ambushed his plane over Bougainville Island and shot him down.


Chapter Five

The Story of a Survivor

“Never a day goes by for all these many years when I haven’t thought about it. I don’t talk about it too much, but when December rolls around I do. It’s important the American people don’t forget.”

—Donald Stratton

Eighteen-year-old Donald Stratton’s days on the USS Arizona were spent scraping and cleaning the boats: two 50-foot motorboats, two 40-foot launches, whaleboats, the admiral’s barge on the boat deck, and the captain’s deck. The USS Arizona, which had been commissioned in 1916, weighed 31,000 tons and was home to over 1,700 men. It was refitted in January 1941, and Donald Stratton and the rest of the crew sailed for Hawaii on January 23. The U.S. Pacific Fleet had been moved to Pearl Harbor, Hawaii from San Pedro, California in May of 1940.

The eight battleships, three aircraft carriers, and numerous cruisers, destroyers, and smaller craft took up their new home in Pearl Harbor as evidence of America’s nautical might. For Stratton, who had enlisted in Nebraska, the lush green of Hawaii was a very different scene from his Dust Bowl home. Life aboard ship wasn’t glamorous, but for a young man who saw no opportunity at home, the Navy offered something more. Daily duties included practicing firing and loading the ship’s armament; the shells weighed between 70 and 80 pounds. Stratton’s job was as sight setter for the gun. At the time, Stratton didn’t recall any thoughts about war on Japan. But when he and the others were sent on maneuvers and were only allowed five gallons of water daily, the men realized that there had to be a reason why they were learning how to adapt in the event that water would one day be rationed.

On the morning of December 7, 1941, Stratton went to breakfast around 7:00 am after reveille and clean-up. It was a Sunday, and the crew, except for the Marines and the boat crew, was mainly dressed in shorts and tee-shirts. When breakfast ended, Stratton headed to the sickbay to visit a friend who was ill. It was around 8:00 am, and he had just stepped out of the mess area when he heard other sailors yelling and pointing at Ford Island. As one of the towers on Ford Island fell, Stratton saw planes bearing the symbol of the Rising Sun fly off, followed by bombs exploding.

Realizing that this wasn’t a drill, Stratton headed for his battle station, one deck above the bridge. His job was to crank the orders from the gunnery officer into a gauge and then send the estimated coordinates to the gun crew. After the coordinates were set, the crew would switch the gun to automatic. There wasn’t time to think; Stratton immediately went into action. As they fired at the high-altitude bombers, Stratton and others realized that their shells were bursting before they reached the altitude where they would have been able to hit their targets.

The USS Arizona was hit on top of the Number 3 turret, but the bomb bounced over the side of the ship. Another went through the afterdeck but didn’t explode. Ten minutes after the attack began, the Arizona was hit by an 800-kg armor-piercing bomb that penetrated the deck of the ship and exploded in the forward powder magazine. The blast gutted the ship. The foremast and forward superstructure began collapsing.

Stratton recalled that the explosion was enormous and raised the ship nearly out of the water and then back down again. A ball of flame rose more than 500 feet in the air, engulfing the entire foremast and the bow of the ship. “It just rattled us around like were inside of a tube or something,” Stratton recalled. Realizing the peril, Stratton tried to hide beneath the equipment to avoid the flames, but the fire came in, and he was burned. He stayed inside for a bit rather than going outside onto the platform; several others jumped out, and Stratton never saw them again.

When the fire died down some, he went out to the platform where a sea breeze blew the smoke away. It was impossible to lay down or sit down because everything on the deck was hot. He was in pain from the burns; his legs were burned from his thighs to his ankles. His tee-shirt had caught fire; his back, arms, and left side were badly burned. His face was burned. A section of his ear was gone. The hair on his head had burned away.

Thinking back years later on what he saw, Stratton said, “That was so terrible I don’t even want to say anything about it.” The attack on the Arizona cost 1,177 men their lives. Stratton was one of the few survivors, but his condition was so perilous that it would have been hard to call him one of the lucky ones.

He was able to escape the ship by getting the attention of an unknown sailor on the Vestal who threw Stratton and five others a heaving line so they could pull themselves to safety. As he was ready to flee the doomed ship, Stratton recalled pulling the skin off his arms “like a big long sock” and throwing it on the deck. They were more than 60 feet away from the Vestal, and the water below them was afire. He started pulling himself, hand over hand, with those hands raw from the burns. There were only six survivors; two who crossed would die of their wounds later that night. Once aboard the Vestal, the Arizona survivors huddled together for some time until a shore boat came along. The sailors had to get up on the dock, reaching and grabbing with their burned hands in order to get ashore, where they were put in an open-air truck and taken to the naval hospital.

The staff at the hospital was well organized despite the chaos of the attack. There, they examined Stratton and discovered that more than 70% of his body had been burned. Because the burns were so bad, the nurses and orderlies couldn’t tell which sailors had been given morphine and who hadn’t, so the nurses marked an X on the sailors after the shots had been administered, including the time the shot had been given.

The hospital staff doubted that Stratton would survive the trip to the States for treatment, but Stratton insisted that he could make it. In order to convince them that he was able to survive the journey, Stratton stood up while his linens were changed. He didn’t get up for a long time after that, but he was sent to the burn unit at the Mare Island Naval Hospital in California, arriving on Christmas Day. Treatment included a lot of antibiotics. When it was time to give him saltwater baths, double sheets were placed beneath him. Four corpsmen would each take a corner of the sheets and would lower him into a tub filled with saltwater. It was rough, but it seemed to help. Stratton’s wounds were so bad that the couldn’t feed himself or move. A canopy over his bed kept him warm, but he had no sheets or blankets so that the burns were exposed to the open air. He was in the burn unit for nine months. When he was transferred to a hotel that had been taken over by the Navy for the convalescence of the sailors, he weighed 92 pounds. On the morning of the attack, he had weighed around 165 pounds.

He was medically discharged in September 1942. After returning home with his left side disabled, his physical condition improved after a year, so he decided to return to the Navy. There wasn’t a lot of opportunity at home or a lot of jobs. Besides, Stratton admits that revenge may have been a motive. The only way to manage his return was through the draft. He had friends on the draft board, and they got him back into the Navy. He went to boot camp in 1944, did well, and was assigned to the USS Stack, a destroyer, as a gunner’s mate third class. En route to the Stack’s destination, the ship stopped at Pearl Harbor, a customary stop for ships fighting in the Pacific. Stratton remembered tears coming to his eyes as he remembered the events of December 7.

His new assignment would take him to the Pacific, where he would be part of the invasions of New Guinea, the Philippines, and Okinawa. It would not be an easy assignment; there was one night when several destroyers were struck by the Japanese. When Stratton was discharged on December 4, 1945, he realized that it was time to get out of the Navy and move on.

Stratton, although he held no animosity toward the Japanese people, could not shake hands with Japanese pilots during reunions after the war. “You have to understand my position. There’s a thousand men down on that ship that I was on and I’m sure they wouldn’t do that, and I’m sure they wouldn’t want me to do it. I know that I’m very fortunate to be here. I just can’t help but think people should be more aware of what happened that day and how many lives were taken. How many of those sailors and Marines on board that ship right now don’t even know what happened to them or why it happened or who it was? It seems like an awful, awful waste of life for something that people are going to forget about. We have so many people [today] who don’t appreciate their liberty and wouldn’t fight for it.”


Conclusion

The American war with Japan that began at Pearl Harbor ended at Nagasaki when the United States dropped a second atomic bomb upon the civilian population. But before that grim resolution in 1945, the Japanese were initially able to exploit their success following the attack on Pearl Harbor.

Not long after the attack, the Japanese controlled much of the Pacific including the Philippines, Burma, Dutch East Indies, Singapore, Hong Kong, Wake Island, and Guam. But within six months, the tide was slowly beginning to turn. That turning point was the Battle of Midway, fought from June 4 to 7, 1942. Described by military historian John Keegan as “the most stunning and decisive blow in the history of naval warfare,” the engagement of the Americans at Midway was part of Japan’s effort to trap U.S. aircraft carriers and, by achieving victory, extending Japan’s defenses. The Japanese went to Midway in response to the raid that Lieutenant Colonel James Doolittle had flown over Tokyo. The raid did little damage except to Japan’s martial pride and, convinced that the raid had been launched from Midway Island, the Japanese intended to teach the Americans a lesson. But the U.S. Navy had discerned the time and place for the attack and was not surprised when it came. All four of Japan’s aircraft carriers were sunk. It was not as easy for Japan to replace its lost aircraft carriers and pilots as it was for the Americans.

By 1945, the war against Japan had come down to the Battle of Iwo Jima and Okinawa. Iwo Jima, considered the fiercest battle in the Pacific Theater, saw the U.S. Marines sustain casualties to approximately 33% of their fighting force. During the 82-day Battle of Okinawa, the Americans lost more than 50,000 troops. Bad as that was, it was worse for the Japanese, who lost 100,000 troops. By July 1945, 64 of Japan’s cities had been greatly or partially destroyed by bombing. The Japanese military was nearly impotent, and the country was almost out of oil. Food shortages loomed. The Japanese people were suffering and tired of war. But when the Potsdam Declaration required unconditional surrender from Japan, the Japanese refused. It seemed as though the Japanese would go on fighting even in the face of defeat.

The United States had a second, secret option to end the war. Since 1940, after a warning by Albert Einstein that the Nazis were researching nuclear weapons, the Americans had been developing an atomic weapon. Military advisors had warned President Harry Truman that if American forces invaded Japan, the American casualties would be terrible. Therefore, Truman made the decision to unleash the most terrible weapon the world had ever known.

On August 6, 1945, the Enola Gay flew over Hiroshima and dropped a five-ton bomb on the city. The blast, the equivalent to 15,000 tons of TNT, instantly killed 80,000 people and destroyed four square miles of the city.

Fourteen-year-old Tomiko Matsumoto was late for school and was running to catch up to the other students who were already in line. “I felt as if the sun had dropped on me. Then the blast, strong blast, attacked me. I was under the rubble of the school. I was in the darkness. I couldn’t see anything. No one was there. About 320 girls and ten teachers were on the playground but there was nobody . . . my skin was peeling off and hanging down from my neck and then my clothes. My back was burnt. Pieces of glass were speared into my head.” Tomiko was picked up by the military and, along with other survivors, taken to shelter. There she saw some of her classmates and a teacher. But by the following morning, she was the only one of her schoolmates who was still alive. During the following weeks, thousands more died, victims of radiation poisoning and wounds.

Japan would not surrender. On August 9, the Americans dropped a second bomb, this one on Nagasaki. Almost 40,000 people died. On August 15, Japan surrendered unconditionally. General Douglas MacArthur, appointed as supreme commander of the Allied Powers arrived in Tokyo on August 30, and on September 2, Japan signed the terms of surrender aboard the USS Missouri. MacArthur was in charge of the occupation of Japan with the intention of transforming the country into a democratic nation. But first, the starving Japanese needed food. With the cities in ruins and the government in a state of collapse, Japan needed immediate relief. MacArthur set up a food distribution network.

Then MacArthur, who refused to allow Emperor Hirohito to be tried as a war criminal, obtained the monarch’s good will and set about the goal of rebuilding the nation’s political structure. The occupation ended on September 8, 1951. Japan was once again in charge of its own sovereignty.

The United States would be forever changed by its role in World War II. The isolationist nation that had existed before December 7, 1941, would emerge as a powerful world leader, its might undiminished by World War II. A new enemy would appear as the Soviet Union, and communism became the bitter foe of the Americans. Japan would become an American ally. The two nations, each having inflicted a deadly surprise attack on the other, would find common ground in the post-war years, growing through alliances in trade and a shared sense of partnership.

But even with the passage of time, the memory of the 1,177 who died on the USS Arizona did not fade. In 1962, the USS Arizona Memorial was built to commemorate the sacrifice of the sailors who died upon the ship when the Japanese attacked Pearl Harbor. The memorial is above the sunken hull of the ship. The memorial attracts two million visitors a year who come to pay their respects to those who died.

Respects are also due to those who survived. Donald Stratton was one of the survivors. As the USS Arizona was sinking, he and five others aboard the death ship were rescued by a young sailor who risked his own life to save them. Joe George was the sailor, and his military record confirmed his action. But because there was no eyewitness account of what he had done, and no senior officer on his ship, the USS Vestal, he could not be awarded a medal. There seemed to be another problem; George had been ordered to cut the line connecting his ship with the burning battleship. Disregarding the order, he threw a line to the six surviving sailors instead of casting off as he had been told to do.

Randy Stratton, Donald Stratton’s son, knew the story of his father’s rescue, and he was convinced that Joe George, who died in 1996, should get a medal for his deed. Randy Stratton got in touch with George’s widow and promised the family that he would do his best to see that their father and husband was recognized for his bravery. Letters to politicians, contact with other Pearl Harbor survivors, and telephone calls to anyone who would listen were all part of his campaign. He enlisted the political influence of Arkansas Senator Tom Cotton, Colorado Senator Cory Gardner, and Arizona Senator Jeff Flake. The Navy found the logbook that had belonged to George; the record included the commendation he received for saving the six sailors who would have died had he not thrown them a line. There was no reason now to deny the dead hero a posthumous medal.

On December 7, 2017, Joe George was awarded the Bronze Star for Valor. The ceremony took place aboard the USS Arizona Memorial. His daughter, Joe Ann Taylor, received the medal for her father. Attending the ceremony were 95-year-old Donald Stratton and Lou Conter, aged 96 and also one of the survivors of the USS Arizona. For these men and the others who died on that infamous day, the history was personal. The same was true for the Japanese who perished on August 6 and August 9 when the United States dropped atomic bombs on Hiroshima and Nagasaki.

For the United States and Japan, the war in the Pacific was bookended by the two surprise attacks, the first on Pearl Harbor and the second with atomic bombs on Japan, which sent the two nations on a perilous journey that neither country can ever forget.
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Introduction

For a relatively short time, the desire to be the first to achieve milestones in space flight and space exploration became a major factor in relations between the United States of America and the Soviet Union. In the 1950s and 1960s, the two superpowers faced each other in a conflict that became known as the Cold War. The threat of nuclear annihilation meant that neither could afford to go to war with the other, and both sought other means of demonstrating the superiority of their systems of government.

This showdown took many forms, but nowhere was the competition more intense or more public than in the attempt to conquer space. In part, this was because both sides saw a military advantage in the domination of space, though they claimed more altruistic motives for their space programs. For several years, both countries forced the pace of space exploration with first one and then the other gaining an advantage. Then, just as suddenly as it had started, the space race was over. Although both countries continued with space missions, these were no longer part of intense competition, and the pace of space exploration slowed dramatically.

This is the dramatic story of the origins of the space race and of the triumphs, failures, and tragedies which it encompassed.


Chapter One

Pioneers of Space Exploration

“The Earth is the cradle of mankind—one cannot remain in the cradle forever.”

—Konstantin Tsiolkovsky

The beginnings of scientific interest in space travel can be traced back to two men. Fittingly, given that this is a book about competition between the United States and the Soviet Union, one was American and the other Russian. These two men never met, and each spent most of their life in ignorance of the other, but they separately developed many of the ideas that would lead to the space race and finally take man outside the atmosphere of planet Earth.

Konstantin Tsiolkovsky was one of 18 children born to a poor Polish immigrant family in Tsarist Russia in 1857. An early bout of scarlet fever caused him to become partly deaf, and as a result, he received almost no formal education. When Tsiolkovsky was 16, however, he was able to spend time in Moscow and particularly at the Chertkovskaya Library where for the first time he had unrestricted access to books. Some of the first things he read were the science fiction works of French novelist Jules Verne, including From the Earth to the Moon (1865) and Around the Moon (1870).

Tsiolkovsky became fascinated by the science behind these fictional accounts of space travel. For example, he rapidly calculated that the cannon used to shoot a spacecraft to the moon in From the Earth to the Moon would have produced such crushing acceleration that it would have killed its occupants. By the 1890s, Tsiolkovsky was working as a teacher, but in his spare time, he was writing about space travel. Initially, he tried science fiction, but he quickly discovered that he was more interested in the science than the fiction.

Almost all Tsiolkovsky’s ideas were theoretical, but he proved to be incredibly prescient. In 1903, his article “Exploration of the World Space with Reaction Machines” was published in the magazine Nachnoe Obozrenie (Scientific Review). This astonishing paper discussed the use of rockets powered by a mixture of liquid oxygen and hydrogen (the fuel used in the Space Shuttle) to explore space. That this was written before the first powered flight and by a completely self-educated man makes it even more surprising, and Tsiolkovsky went on to write about space trains, multi-stage rockets, and the need for pressurized suits for spacecraft occupants. Although his work remained almost completely theoretical, it provided the foundation for much that followed, and it’s not surprising that Tsiolkovsky is regarded as the father of cosmonautics in Russia. Tsiolkovsky survived the Russian Revolution and continued to work in the Soviet Union until his death in 1935. He bequeathed the results of his life’s work to the state, and this became the theoretical underpinning for much of the Russian space program.

Tsiolkovsky’s American counterpart took a much more practical approach to the possibility of space flight. Robert H. Goddard was born in 1882 and became both a physicist and a professor, but he was also a prolific inventor and an engineer who registered more than 200 patents in the United States. Like Tsiolkovsky, Goddard first became interested in the possibility of space flight after reading science fiction, though in his case it was The War of the Worlds by H. G. Wells which he read soon after it was published in 1897.

Goddard gained a degree in physics from Worcester Polytechnic Institute (a private research university in Massachusetts) in 1904 and, following recovery from a near-fatal bout of tuberculosis, he became an instructor and research fellow at Clark University, another private research university in Massachusetts in 1914. There, he began to build and launch rockets. In the years that followed, Goddard and his team launched a number of solid fuel rockets that reached altitudes of almost two miles and speeds of over five hundred miles per hour.

In 1919, Goddard published A Method of Reaching Extreme Altitudes, which became one of the standard texts for U.S. space research. Ironically, given that both Goddard and Tsiolkovsky had been inspired by science fiction, in the first half of the twentieth century most people regarded rocketry as something from the realm of fantasy. A large number of established scientists claimed that Goddard’s theories were mistaken and that using rockets to propel a spacecraft outside the Earth’s atmosphere was impossible. In an article in the New York Times in 1920, Goddard and his theories were so violently ridiculed that he became extremely secretive and did not publicly discuss the results of most of his subsequent experiments.

In terms of public perception, the notion of rockets became indelibly linked not with real science, but with the fantasy of the Buck Rogers and Flash Gordon comic strips. This ridicule of rocketry became so intense that respectable scientists avoided using the “R-word” wherever possible, even when they were involved in rocket research. For example, when in 1936 the respected Guggenheim Aeronautical Laboratory at the California Institute of Technology (GALCIT) decided to form a group to study the practical applications of rockets, it was called the Jet Propulsion Laboratory (JPL), even though jets were never produced or studied there. When the JPL began to produce rocket pods in 1941 to be used on American military aircraft to allow them to take-off in short distances, these were called Jet-Assisted Take-Off (JATO) units, even though they were not jets. Jets, it seemed, were safely scientific while rockets were still regarded as silly.

It took the Nazis to make people think seriously about rockets. There was nothing remotely whimsical about V2 rockets, the world’s first ballistic missiles which used the kind of liquid-fuel engines first imagined by Tsiolkovsky to carry more than 2,000 pounds of high explosive over 50 miles above the Earth at speeds of over 3,000 miles per hour. Thousands of people were killed by these deadly Nazi weapons during World War II, and suddenly rocketry was no longer the amusing province of science fiction.

Robert Goddard died in August 1945, just as World War II was ending and as public and scientific perception of his life’s work was beginning to change.


Chapter Two

From Missiles to Rockets

“Don’t tell me that Man doesn’t belong out there. Man belongs wherever he wants to go—and he’ll do plenty well when he gets there.”

—Wernher von Braun

The rocket wasn’t the only new technology developed during World War II. The United States also produced the first nuclear weapons. It didn’t take long for military minds to start wondering about the possibility of combining these two new inventions to create rockets that could deliver nuclear weapons. And with the Nazis and the Japanese defeated, America began to realize that it faced a new and perhaps even more dangerous rival: the Soviet Union.

Almost before World War II was over, the two new superpowers began to maneuver for position in Europe. The countries of Eastern Europe became part of the Warsaw Pact, a military alliance dominated by the Soviet Union. Countries in the west of Europe joined the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO), another military alliance, but this time dominated by America.

By 1949, the Soviet Union also had nuclear weapons. Initially, nuclear bombs were designed to be carried by aircraft, but these were too easy to intercept. What was needed was a way of delivering a nuclear weapon into the territory of the enemy as quickly and reliably as possible. Suddenly, the possession of rocket technology to deliver nuclear warheads became of extreme importance in both the United States and the Soviet Union.

At the close of the war in Europe, America had set out to find as many Nazi designers and technicians as possible in the hope of persuading these men to move to the U.S. to continue their research. Operation Paperclip brought over 1,600 Nazi scientists to America. Amongst these were almost all of the team behind the design of the V2 rockets, including the lead designer, Dr. Wernher von Braun. Within a very short time, the American military began Project Hermes, where designers and technicians from the General Electric Corporation studied captured V2 rockets and worked with German scientists to produce American versions.

In April 1946, almost one year after the end of the war, the first captured V2 was launched at the White Sands Proving Ground in New Mexico. Almost immediately, Wernher von Braun and his German colleagues began improving the basic V2 design. Within a few years, the missiles being launched from New Mexico were virtually unrecognizable as V2s—later versions were almost 50 percent heavier than the original, and many had small wings and control surfaces which helped maintain control.

By 1948, von Braun and his team of scientists were allowed to apply for American citizenship and became an important part of the missile program. In 1950, von Braun relocated to the Redstone Arsenal near Huntsville in Alabama where he began work on the Redstone, a ballistic missile intended for the U.S. Army. Von Braun was fascinated by the possibility of space travel, however, and he began lobbying to have funds diverted from the design of missiles to the design of passenger-carrying rockets which could be used for the exploration of space.

At the time, there was little interest in space travel, and the American administration believed that it was necessary to focus all their efforts into the production of ever more powerful Intercontinental Ballistic Missiles (ICBMs) capable of delivering nuclear warheads into the Russian heartlands. Von Braun continued development of the Redstone rocket which was capable of carrying a nuclear warhead to an altitude of over 25 miles. He was aware, however, that the rockets his team designed for the U.S. Army were also capable of carrying a smaller payload outside the Earth’s atmosphere.

In Russia, aircraft designer Sergei Pavlovich Korolev was given the task of examining German rockets after World War II and developing Soviet versions of these missiles. Korolev had been the president of a small amateur rocket club before the war, and he had helped design rocket packs for Russian military aircraft. As soon as the war ended, he was inducted into the Russian army and sent to Germany to collect as many V2 rockets and parts as possible and to identify captured German scientists who might be persuaded to join the Russian missile development team. In doing this, he was competing with the Americans who were doing precisely the same thing. The space race was preceded by a race to gain access to as much German missile research information and technology as possible.

Korolev was able to find a number of German engineers and technicians who had been involved in the V2 program (though not the senior designers, who had mostly gone to America), and a Special Design Bureau, OKB-1, was established 200 miles from Moscow where work began on producing a Russian copy of the V2. This missile, designated the R-1, was first launched in October 1947. Just like the Americans, the Russians rapidly improved the V2 design with the R-2 and R-3 rockets. The latter—launched for the first time in 1949—had a range of 2,000 miles, 10 times the range of the original V2. In the early 1950s, Korolev and his team began work on the R-7, the world’s first true ICBM. The R-7 was a two-stage rocket comprising a central core with four liquid fuel boosters attached. It was capable of carrying a payload of five tons to a range of four and a half thousand miles.

Unlike von Braun and his team, Korolev’s name was virtually unknown within the USSR, and his identity was a complete mystery to those in the West. To most of his team, he was known only by the initials SP (for Sergei Pavlovich) or, more commonly, just as the “Chief Designer.” But just like von Braun in America, Korolev was fascinated by the possibility of exploring space, and he knew that the R-7 was also capable of carrying a small payload into space. In May 1954, he sent a secret document, Report on an artificial Satellite of the Earth, to the Soviet government. This report pointed out that American scientists were already interested in space and recommended using the R-7 to launch a small satellite into Earth’s orbit.

In February 1955, a panel of experts in the U.S. government Technological Capabilities Panel issued a secret report, Meeting the Threat of Surprise Attack. This discussed the importance of space in a military context and the use of reconnaissance satellites to monitor the Soviet Union. It recommended the launch of a satellite into Earth’s orbit as quickly as possible.

Gradually, the administrations in America and the Soviet Union came to see the strategic advantages of being able to place objects in Earth’s orbit. Initially, these were seen as most likely being reconnaissance units or weapon guidance systems, but later the possibility of placing people in space was also considered. Holding the high ground has always been recognized as a military advantage, and space provides the ultimate high ground. Both in America and in Russia, it was recognized that the country that reached space first would have a decisive military advantage. By the mid-1950s, both sides had come to recognize that reaching space as quickly as possible was a military necessity.

In May 1955, the U.S. National Security Council (NSC) reviewed plans for the launch of a satellite. It agreed that being the first nation to launch such a satellite would bring great prestige and would establish the principle of the “freedom of space”—that a country’s sovereign territory did not extend beyond the Earth’s atmosphere. On July 29, 1955, James Hagerty, President Eisenhower’s press secretary, held a press conference at which he announced that the United States would launch a “science satellite” into Earth’s orbit before the end of the International Geophysical Year, which would last from July 1957 to December 1958. Just four days later, on August 2, the Soviet Union responded with a press conference at the International Astronautical Congress in Copenhagen, Denmark at which they announced that “the realization of the Soviet satellite project can be expected in the near future.”

With these announcements, the space race had begun.


Chapter Three

Russia Takes the Lead

“Some say God is living there [in space]. I was looking around very attentively, but I did not see anyone there. I did not detect either angels or gods. . . . I don't believe in God. I believe in man—his strength, his possibilities, his reason.”

—Gherman Titov

In the United States, the space program was originally controlled by the National Advisory Committee for Aeronautics (NACA), a body formed during World War I to examine and evaluate new technology related to military aviation. NACA was closely tied to the U.S. Air Force and in the mid-1950s was already involved in research on subjects relating to missiles and supersonic flight. This included research on the re-entry of spacecraft, which was intended to be applied to nuclear missiles traveling outside the Earth’s atmosphere, but it was also clearly relevant to manned space flight.

Once it became clear that the administration of President Eisenhower was prepared to support the development of space vehicles, NACA began to look at much more ambitious plans, including the launch of manned spacecraft. Although President Eisenhower was supportive of efforts to put an American satellite in orbit, he was concerned that this might be construed as a warlike act, especially given that the orbit of the satellite would inevitably bring it above territory controlled by the Soviet Union.

The most advanced rocket in the United States at the time was the Jupiter-C, designed by von Braun and his team for the U.S. Army. The Jupiter-C was purely a military project intended to carry a nuclear missile. Rather than use a Jupiter-C for the first satellite launch, Eisenhower insisted that the Vanguard rocket designed by the Naval Research Laboratory be used instead. The Vanguard design wasn’t as advanced as that of the Jupiter-C, but although commissioned by the U.S. Navy it had been not been primarily designed as a military rocket—the Vanguard was a scientific research rocket which was not capable of carrying a substantial warhead. So, it was decided that the U.S. Navy would be responsible for preparing the Vanguard as the platform for the launch of the first American satellite.

At that time, there was an assumption that the United States was far in advance of the Soviet Union in terms of missile development, so there wasn’t any real concern that the Russians might get there first. But in Russia, Korolev and his design team were watching developments in America carefully. When on September 20, 1956, von Braun’s team launched the first test of the Jupiter-C rocket, the Russians assumed that this had been a failed attempt to launch a satellite. It wasn’t—the test was a successful suborbital evaluation of the warhead re-entry design. However, this spurred the Russian Design Bureau to accelerate its satellite launch plans.

Originally, the intention had been to use the powerful R-7 rocket to launch a massive satellite weighing over 3,000 pounds which would carry cameras and equipment for taking readings of radiation levels. Design of this satellite was taking more time than anticipated so, in order to be able to launch more quickly, a much smaller and simpler satellite, Prosteishy Sputnik 1 (PS-1), was created. Sputnik 1 would be a sphere just 58 cm in diameter and weighing less than 200 pounds. Instead of complex instrumentation, Sputnik 1 contained only two short-wave radio transmitters operating on different frequencies and each set to broadcast a series of beeps. In terms of scientific investigation, Sputnik 1 was almost completely pointless. But in terms of prestige, the first country to successfully launch a satellite of any kind would gain a great deal.

In September 1957, another Jupiter-C rocket was launched. Once again, this had nothing to do with American efforts to put a satellite into orbit, but again Korolev’s team interpreted this as the final test before a satellite launch. Then it became know that American scientists were to present a paper at the National Academy of Sciences in Washington DC on October 6. The paper was titled “Satellite Over the Planet.” The Russians became convinced that the Americans intended to launch a satellite to coincide with the presentation of this paper. They were mistaken—the Vanguard rocket was not even close to being ready for launch, and the paper was merely intended as a report on progress to date. But to ensure that Russia got there first, Korolev scheduled the launch of Sputnik 1 for October 4, 1957.

The launch was to take place at the newly named Baikonur Cosmodrome, a missile launch facility in southern Kazakhstan. Sputnik 1 was mounted on a modified R-7 rocket and, at 10:28 pm Moscow time, the launch took place. For a very nervous 95 minutes, personnel at the launch site waited. Then, their radio receivers finally picked up the distinctive “beep, beep, beep” of Sputnik 1 as it passed over Baikonur having completed its first orbit. The first human-made satellite was successfully orbiting the Earth.

The reaction in the Soviet Union was euphoric. There was a general perception that America was more technologically advanced than Russia, but the launch of Sputnik 1 seemed to show that the opposite was true. On October 5, Pravda proudly reported: “Artificial satellites of the Earth will pave the way to interplanetary travel and, possibly, our contemporaries are destined to witness how the freed and meaningful labor of the people of the new socialist society makes a reality the most daring dreams of humanity.”

In America, the reaction was one of extreme dismay. Was this new satellite a weapon? How could the Soviet Union possibly have beaten the industrial and technological might of the United States? The New York Herald Tribune printed an open letter from economist Bernard Baruch titled “The Lessons of Defeat.” The letter noted: “It is Russia, not the United States, who has had the imagination to hitch its wagon to the stars and the skill to reach for the moon and all but grasp it. America is worried. It should be.” On October 9, science fiction writer Arthur C. Clarke announced that “the day Sputnik orbited around the Earth, the United States became a second-rate power.” The Democrats attacked the Eisenhower administration for allowing the Soviet Union to gain such a decisive advantage in the space race.

Five days after the launch of Sputnik 1, President Eisenhower addressed the American people. He reassured them by acknowledging that while the launch of a satellite was a notable scientific advance, analysis showed that Sputnik 1 had no military capability. He also implied that the United States would soon equal or surpass the Soviet achievement. Privately, he insisted that the launch of a satellite on a Vanguard rocket should be brought forward and should take place as soon as possible.

Meanwhile, the Russian premier, Nikita Khrushchev, instructed Korolev to launch a second satellite into orbit to coincide with the 40th anniversary of the Bolshevik Revolution. On November 3, 1957, just 32 days after the launch of Sputnik 1, Russia successfully launched Sputnik 2, and this time, the satellite contained a living space traveler—a dog named Laika. The unfortunate canine died a few hours after launch, but it seemed to most Americans that the Soviet Union was able to launch space vehicles at will while the United States had failed to put a single item in orbit.

Russia appeared to have taken a decisive lead in the space race, and the Eisenhower administration decided to respond directly and in the most public way possible—with their own successful satellite launch.


Chapter Four

Early American Failures

“Will outer space be preserved for peaceful use and developed for the benefit of all mankind? Or will it become another focus for the arms race--and thus an area of dangerous and sterile competition? The choice is urgent. And it is ours to make.”

—Dwight D. Eisenhower

The American response to the Soviet Sputnik launches was the two-stage U.S. Navy Vanguard rocket, built by the Martin Company and designed by the Naval Research Laboratory (NRL). Compared to the Russian R-7, the Vanguard had very limited capacity and power; it was designed specifically as a rocket used for delivering science monitoring equipment to space, not carrying a heavy nuclear warhead.

When American scientists working on the Vanguard project first heard that Sputnik 1 weighed two hundred pounds, they were convinced the Soviets must be exaggerating. They had no way of knowing that the Russian rocket was much more powerful than the American version and was capable of lifting ten times as much at over two thousand pounds of payload. In contrast, the first American satellite weighed just under three pounds, near to the maximum payload the Vanguard was capable of lifting. At just over six inches in diameter, the U.S. TV-3 satellite was truly tiny—Russian premier Nikita Khrushchev referred to it derisively as “the grapefruit.” But the size of the satellite was irrelevant—provided that they could successfully launch anything at all into Earth’s orbit, America could reasonably claim to have caught up with the Russians.

The U.S. Navy team behind the Vanguard project was under intense pressure to accomplish the launch of a satellite before the end of 1957. They pushed ahead with final preparations, and by mid-November the rocket was placed at the Cape Canaveral rocket launch site on a spit of land off the coast of Florida.

The launch was set for December 4, 1957. Thousands of people gathered on roads and beaches to watch the historic launch of America’s first satellite. However, during final checks, a liquid oxygen valve was found to have frozen and, at just after ten o’clock that evening, the launch was cancelled. After feverish activity by technicians, the problem was fixed, and a new launch date was announced—December 6. Launch preparation started at 01:00 and the launch countdown began at 17:00. Once again, large numbers of people gathered to watch. A number of minor issues were identified during the countdown and subsequently fixed. The launch gantry was removed, and final preparations were made for launch. Finally, it seemed, America was ready to enter the space age.

At 11:44 Eastern Time, a young Navy engineer, Paul Karpiscak, pressed the launch button. The Vanguard’s main engines ignited with a mighty roar, and the rocket soared off the launch pad. Well, perhaps “soared” isn’t the right word because the Vanguard rocket managed to lift itself just four feet off the ground before it became apparent that something was very wrong. The rocket seemed to falter and hang just above the launch pad for a moment before it sank back to the ground and exploded in a huge fireball. In the most public way possible, it had become apparent that America wasn’t just losing the space race, it hadn’t yet managed to leave the starting blocks.

The cause of the failure was never established, but it was assumed to have been caused by a fuel leak or a faulty fuel line. It didn’t really matter—the embarrassment was total. American newspapers had a field day inventing puns from the word “sputnik” to describe the Vanguard fiasco. “Stayputnik,” “Oopsnik,” “Kaputnik,” and “Flopnik” were just a few of the favorites. Trading in the Martin Company—the manufacturers of the rocket—had to be suspended on the U.S. Stock Exchange when sell orders on the company’s stock reached epidemic proportions following the disaster. Bars around the United States began offering so-called Sputnik Cocktails—one-third vodka and two-thirds sour grapes. A Russian delegate to the United Nations enquired whether America was interested in receiving help from the Soviet Union; Russia offered a program of technical assistance to backward nations, he happily explained.

The Vanguard program had a backup rocket, but the launch site had been badly damaged by the explosion. Repairs were finally completed in early January 1958, and a new Vanguard rocket was placed on the launch gantry. Torrential rain caused major problems, however, including the shorting of essential electrical connections. There were three attempts to launch the satellite during January, but all had to be called off due to technical problems. It was clear the U.S. Navy program was not going to provide an American satellite in the near future.

In Alabama, the U.S. Army team led by von Braun had been preparing for just such a failure. They had been disappointed when their Jupiter-C rocket hadn’t been chosen to launch the first American satellite, but they had gone ahead with preparations of a small satellite, Explorer 1. The Army’s Jupiter-C rocket was moved to a launch pad at Cape Canaveral in early January 1958, and a launch date of January 29 was agreed. It was assumed that this would follow the launch of one of the remaining Vanguard rockets, but with continuing delays to the Vanguard launch, it began to look as though von Braun’s team might be the first to launch an American satellite into orbit. The Eisenhower administration was now so desperate to negate the embarrassment of the Vanguard failure that it was willing to use a military rocket if this would allow them to catch up to the Russians.

General Medaris, the Army commander with responsibility for the Jupiter-C program, deliberately kept details of the planned launch secret—there was no advance publicity about the launch until January 28. Unfortunately, bad weather on January 29 meant that the launch was postponed. Final countdown for the launch didn’t begin until 13:30 on January 31. At 21:45 there was a short hold when a hydrogen peroxide leak was noticed. This was rectified, and the countdown restarted after a 15-minute delay. With 12 seconds remaining, the motors were started and at 22:48, the Jupiter-C rocket lifted off without a hitch and, 440 seconds later, the second stage engine fired on schedule. The rocket continued to accelerate into the night sky as the third and fourth stage engines fired.

At 12:51 on February 1, 1958, one hour and fifty-three minutes after take-off, a tracking station in California was the first to pick up a transmission from the satellite. Explorer 1 was orbiting the Earth, and America had finally entered the space age. The reaction in the United States was very positive; Wernher von Braun and members of the Jupiter-C team were pictured at a press conference triumphantly holding a model of the rocket aloft. Explorer 1 continued to broadcast a radio signal for just 31 days before its batteries died, but it had achieved its purpose.

Despite the euphoria over the successful launch of Explorer 1, problems with U.S. launch vehicles weren’t completely solved. When a second Vanguard rocket was launched on February 5, 1957, it managed to get off the launch gantry, but it exploded at an altitude of just 1,500 feet. On March 5, the Army launched a second Jupiter-C rocket carrying Explorer 2. However, the fourth stage of the rocket failed to fire, and the satellite plummeted into the Atlantic Ocean and was lost. This unreliability was a major concern given that the next stage of the space race would involve sending humans into orbit.


Chapter Five

The First Men in Space

“I see Earth. It is so beautiful!”

—Yuri Gagarin, first words in space

One of the results of the successful American satellite launch was extended discussion about which agency should take control of the U.S. space program. The inter-service rivalry between the Navy Vanguard and the Army Jupiter-C was unhelpful and wasteful. In the end, it was decided that control of the space program should be handled by a special civilian body set up outside the Department of Defense, and on October 1, 1958, the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) was formed with Thomas Keith Glennan, president of the Case Institute of Technology in Cleveland, as its first administrator.

In Russia, Sergei Korolev and his team of engineers began to work towards the next logical step in the space race—manned space flight. The Soviet space program was still dependent on funds from the military, so Korolev was charged with designing a launch vehicle that could be used to launch both large reconnaissance satellites and some form of manned space vehicle. In the late 1950s, he began work on the Vostok (East) spacecraft. The first version, the Vostok-L, was similar to the R-7 rocket though it used more powerful engines. It was tested during 1959, and the first test launch took place on May 15, 1960. For the first test, the rocket carried the Korabl-Sputnik (Starship Satellite). This was an unmanned vehicle, though it was used to test many of the functions of the planned manned craft.

The Korabl-Sputnik (later re-named the Vostok Spacecraft) comprised a cylindrical body containing engines and instruments and a descent module in which there was room for a single cosmonaut. Space inside the 2.3-meter diameter module was very tight indeed, and one of the essential prerequisites for any early Soviet cosmonaut was that they could not be more than five feet, four inches tall. The descent module was designed to separate from the main body and then deploy parachutes when it entered the atmosphere. The cosmonaut was required to eject from the capsule at an altitude of around 20,000 feet and descend separately. Lessons learned from early tests resulted in the production of the Vostok 3KA Spacecraft, an improved version of the Korabl-Sputnik with limited thruster ability and room for a single cosmonaut.

In America, Project Mercury was initiated in October 1958 under the control of the newly formed NASA and with the objective of placing a manned spacecraft in orbit around the Earth. The design of the Mercury spacecraft differed from the Russian Vostok—the Mercury capsule was bigger with more internal space (a pilot of up to five feet and eleven inches in height could be accommodated), and it was conical in shape with a heat-shield at the broad end. When the capsule entered the Earth’s atmosphere, parachutes were deployed, and all Mercury missions were planned to allow the capsule to splash-down in an ocean with the astronaut still inside. The Jupiter-C rocket used for the early satellite launches was not suitable for the heavier Mercury craft, so a new launch vehicle, the Atlas-D rocket was produced by modifying the existing Atlas ICBM.

In both Russia and America there was a concerted effort to recruit cosmonauts and astronauts. In general and in both countries, the search was amongst pilots with military experience. There was no shortage of volunteers in either country, but in Russia the selection process was narrowed by the lack of space in the Vostok capsule. The selection process for potential space crew was extremely stringent—no one knew what physical challenges space travel might involve, so only men with exceptional strength and stamina were selected.

In America, the selection process produced seven potential astronauts. These men, the “Mercury Seven” were introduced to the American public on April 9, 1959. Three were Air Force pilots, three were Navy pilots, and one was a pilot from the Marine Corps. These seven men became national heroes in the United States, and all were featured in television and newspaper interviews. After being beaten by the Soviet Union in the launching of the first satellite, most Americans were confident that one of these seven men would be the first man in space.

In Russia, the selection of potential cosmonauts proceeded in complete secrecy. By the end of 1959, twenty Red Air Force pilots had been selected for cosmonaut training and sent to Star City, a training center in Moscow Oblast. All twenty went through advanced training, and by January 1961, this group was reduced to just six men who were considered to have the physical and mental capabilities to become cosmonauts.

In America, astronaut training was undertaken at a number of U.S. Air Force and Navy establishments, and the seven potential astronauts were also involved in the final design refinements of the Mercury capsule. The Mercury schedule envisaged a first manned sub-orbital flight before sending a man into Earth’s orbit. A number of test launches of unmanned Mercury capsules and mock-ups were undertaken in late 1960 and early 1961. These were generally successful, and test flights were also undertaken with chimpanzees in the Mercury capsule. These were a success, and a manned sub-orbital flight was planned for May 1961.

The Americans had little information about the progress of the Soviet program, and it was confidently assumed that an American would be the first man in space. Then, on April 12, 1961, there came a shattering surprise—newspapers and television news reports around the world were filled with photographs of a grinning Russian Air Force pilot. Yuri Gagarin had completed a successful orbital flight after the launch of Vostok 1 from Baikonur Cosmodrome.

After a single orbit of the Earth, Gagarin had made a safe landing in the Saratov region of Russia. The petite Gagarin (he was just five feet and two inches tall) became a national hero in Russia and an international celebrity. In America, there was once again dismay. Somehow, the Russians had beaten them once again. When, three weeks later, Alan Shepard became the first American in space when he undertook a short sub-orbital hop in a Mercury spacecraft, it felt like a consolation prize. It took almost one year before John Glenn equaled Gagarin’s flight and made a single orbit of the Earth in February 1962.

Somehow, Russia kept beating the United States to important space milestones. But the next goal for the space race was to be most complex and challenging yet, and this time, America was determined to be there first.


Chapter Six

The Race to the Moon

“We choose to go to the moon in this decade and do the other things, not because they are easy, but because they are hard.”

—John F. Kennedy

By November 1960, a new president of the United States had been elected—Democrat John F. Kennedy. During the elections, Kennedy had repeatedly attacked the Eisenhower administration for allowing the Russians to gain a lead in important military hardware. The term “the missile gap” was coined during the election to describe a perceived imbalance between the number of American nuclear missiles and the number of missiles fielded by the Russians. The truth was that no such gap existed—this misapprehension was based on faulty intelligence. However, there were close ties between the Soviet space program and their ability to produce nuclear missiles. For many Americans, the Russian lead in space strongly suggested that they were also leading in the production of secret missile technology.

But when Kennedy was formally sworn-in as president in January 1961, his support for the U.S. space program was not particularly strong. When the NASA administrator presented a proposal to Kennedy in March 1961 for a program which would lead to a manned moon landing by 1970, the president rejected it out of hand. It was, he said, simply too expensive. Then in April came Yuri Gagarin’s flight. Kennedy became aware of just how frightening and threatening most Americans found the apparent Russian lead in the space race, and he asked his vice-president, Lyndon B. Johnson, to assess what would be needed to allow America to take the lead. Johnson reported that the next significant milestone in the space race would be a manned landing on the moon. It would take a number of years to achieve this, but—if sufficient funds were allocated—it seemed reasonable to expect that America could beat the Russians to the moon.

On May 25, 1961, President Kennedy asked Congress for funding for the U.S. moon landing program in a speech titled “Special Message on Urgent National Needs.” In this, he suggested that America “should commit itself to achieving the goal, before this decade is out, of landing a man on the moon and returning him safely to the Earth.”

It was a bold move. Thus far, America had lagged behind in the exploration of space. The president was committing his country to completing an incredibly difficult and dangerous task within less than ten years. Some Americans were happy that their country finally seemed to be taking the race into space seriously. Others were concerned, both at the huge costs of such a program and at whether America actually had the expertise and technology to achieve this goal. Ex-President Eisenhower said, “To spend $40 billion to reach the moon is just nuts!”

In September 1961, Kennedy followed up his speech to Congress with a public address in which spoke about the space race. On September 12, the president addressed a crowd of around 40,000 people in the Rice University football stadium in Texas. He likened space to the frontiers of the old West in America and evoked the pioneering spirit of the first explorers there. He spoke about space itself, often in a romantic and appealing way, and about America’s role in its exploration: “We set sail on this new sea because there is new knowledge to be gained and new rights to be won and they must be won for the progress of all people. Only if the United States occupies a position of pre-eminence can we help decide whether this new ocean will be a sea of peace or a new, terrifying theatre of war.”

Kennedy went on to talk about the difficulties and dangers involved, and in the most memorable and often quoted part of his speech he said: “We choose to go to the moon! We choose to go to the moon in this decade and do the other things, not because they are easy, but because they are hard; because that goal will serve to organize and measure the best of our energies and skills, because that challenge is one that we are willing to accept, one we are unwilling to postpone, and one we intend to win.”

More than any other single event, this speech helped to stir great interest in space exploration, both in the United States and elsewhere. It also publicly committed America not only to facing and overcoming the technical challenges of landing a man on the moon but of doing so within ten years and before anyone else. For many Americans, it became unpatriotic not to support the moon landing program, despite its huge cost. The next phase of the space race would be the most demanding and difficult yet, and if America could not deliver on the ambition and hope in President Kennedy’s speeches, Russia would truly have won the race into space.

Uncharacteristically, the Russian leader, Nikita Khrushchev, did not respond to the challenge to the Soviet Union inherent in Kennedy’s speech. Part of the issue was that Russia had no equivalent of NASA, no centralized body responsible for the kind of long-term planning and focused effort needed to place a man on the moon. Soviet space development was in the hands of a number of separate design bureaus, often working for different ministries and competing against one another for scarce funding and resources. The relatively short-term goals of placing a satellite in orbit and putting a man into space were achievable using the offshoots of the ICBM program available to Korolev and his team. Placing a man on the moon would require a long-term effort and could not afford the kind of internal squabbling which characterized many Soviet design projects.

As early as 1959, Korolev appealed directly to Khrushchev, asking him to form a single centralized body to oversee the Soviet space program, but this was refused. Instead, Korolev was expected to personally oversee and control all projects related to space in the Soviet Union.

The Vostok program continued with five more manned missions which claimed many other firsts for Russia. In August 1962, Vostok 2 allowed a cosmonaut to spend a full day in space, Vostok 3 and 4 were launched simultaneously, Vostok 5 performed the longest orbital flight to date on June 14, 1963, and two days later Vostok 6 made Valentina Tereshkova the first woman in space. The interest and kudos attached to the development of space vehicles attracted the interest of other design bureaus in Russia, and by the time of the last Vostok launch, there were at least four agencies competing for contracts.

After Vostok, Sergei Korolev and OKB-1 had hoped to begin work on a completely new spacecraft, one capable of reaching the moon. Instead, Korolev was told to concentrate on near-Earth missions and to create an updated version of Vostok instead. This became the Voskhod program, with a larger, more powerful version of the Vostok rocket. There were just two manned Voskhod flights, one in 1964 and one in 1965. Both were deliberately undertaken to beat the Americans to some new space milestone—Voskhod 1 was the first multi-crew vehicle in space, and the crew of Voskhod 2 performed the first spacewalk.

Nikita Khrushchev was removed from power in October 1964 and replaced by a new Russian leader, Leonid Brezhnev. Brezhnev was much less interested in the kind of stunts that had pleased Khrushchev, and the Soviet space program was able to settle into a new pattern, following the dictates of science and developing technology rather than focusing on beating the Americans. It was now obvious that Russia needed a completely new spacecraft if it was to have any hope of competing with the United States in a race to put a man on the moon. It was equally obvious that the other agencies competing with OKB-1 which had been given responsibility for this massive and complex project were making very little progress.


Chapter Seven

Fatalities on Both Sides

“Many years ago the great British explorer George Mallory, who was to die on Mount Everest, was asked why did he want to climb it. He said ‘Because it is there.’ Well, space is there, and we’re going to climb it, and the moon and the planets are there, and new hopes for knowledge and peace are there.”

—John F. Kennedy

In America, the Mercury program continued with a total of six manned flights culminating in an orbital flight lasting more than one day on May 15, 1963. Even before the final Mercury launch, work was progressing on the next generation of U.S. space hardware—Project Gemini. The Gemini capsule was bigger, providing room for a two-man crew and launched on a more powerful rocket. Unlike the Soviet program, the Gemini was always intended as a research vehicle which would provide information that could be used to design a spacecraft capable of reaching the moon, and there was no pressure on members of this project to achieve the kind of firsts which came to dominate the work of their Russian counterparts.

In 1965 and 1966, Gemini crews flew ten low orbit missions during which they performed spacewalks, rendezvoused two Gemini spacecraft, and spent up to 14 days in space, proving that the endurance needed for a moon mission was possible. The final Gemini flight took place in November 1966 when one of the crew, Edwin “Buzz” Aldrin, performed a spacewalk that lasted over five hours. The Gemini program was entirely successful and provided vital experience and training for the astronauts who would be involved in the moon mission.

The design of the moon mission hardware, Project Apollo, was already well advanced while the Gemini missions were taking place. The design called for a specialized heavy launch vehicle, the Saturn rocket, which would launch a command module (incorporating a three-man crew capsule) attached to a two-stage lunar lander. The command module would orbit the moon while the lander descended. After the landing, the upper section of the lander would blast off and re-join the command module. Then, the lander would be discarded, and the command module would return to Earth.

Many of the Gemini missions were specifically designed to test aspects of the Apollo mission profile—for example, testing the ability to reliably rendezvous in space was an essential part of the Gemini program. The project proceeded in measured steps towards the final goal of placing a man on the moon and bringing him safely back to Earth. There was no pressure to beat the Russians to any short-term goals (though most Americans hoped this would be possible), but when in November 1963 President John F. Kennedy was assassinated, to a certain extent, Apollo became his memorial. Inside the project, there was a growing determination to achieve the first moon landing within the timespan the president had forecasted, before the end of 1969.

Meanwhile, in October 1965, development started in Russia of the Giant N-1 rocket, a super-heavy lift launch vehicle which was intended to be used to take a man to the moon, as well as a smaller Soyuz rocket. In January 1966, the Soviet space program suffered a massive setback, however, when Sergei Korolev died following what should have been a routine operation. He was replaced in his role as head of OKB-1 by Vasily Mishin, a talented engineer, but a man who was notably less able at navigating the labyrinthine corridors of power in the Soviet Union. Mishin took over the Soyuz program and was given the task of sending a cosmonaut around the moon in 1967 and performing a moon landing by 1968 using the N-1. In both cases, he was naturally expected to beat the Americans.

In the United States, the first manned test flight of the Apollo spacecraft was scheduled for February 21, 1967. The flight was to be a low orbit test of the command module. On January 27, testing was in progress, and the men who were intended to be the three first Apollo astronauts—Virgil “Gus” Grissom, Ed White, and Roger B. Chaffee—were strapped into their seats in the cramped capsule. Suddenly, a fire broke out inside the capsule. All three men died before they could be extricated. These were the first fatalities directly associated with the U.S. space program, and everyone involved was stunned.

Following the tragedy, a number of new safety features were added to the Apollo spacecraft. The next Apollo launches were all unmanned tests. These were successful, and the next manned mission, Apollo 7, was scheduled for October 1968. The Apollo schedule had suddenly become very tight if a man was to walk on the moon before the end of the decade, but the scientists and designers involved were confident that the project was still achievable.

Just three months after the fire which killed the American astronauts, Russia launched Soyuz 1, the first test of this new spacecraft and the first launch under the control of Vasily Mishin. The mission was plagued with difficulties from the start; it had been planned to rendezvous with Soyuz 2, but the second spacecraft was unable to take off due to bad weather. There were a number of electrical problems with the craft, and during its final descent the main parachutes failed; the sole member of the crew, Vladimir Komarov, died when the descent module smashed into the ground at Orenburg Oblast. A subsequent investigation found a number of problems with the Soyuz craft, and the next launch would not take place until 18 months later, in October 1968.

Work on the giant N-1 rocket was not going well—it was becoming apparent that the design and development of this rocket had been rushed, causing major technical problems. These delays meant that it would not be possible for Mishin to meet his targets for a Russian moon mission. Mishin was also widely criticized within the Russian space program for his inability to make progress and for his increasing reliance on alcohol. Almost for the first time, the Russians seemed to be falling behind the Americans in the space race.

The Apollo program was increasing in tempo. On October 11, 1968, Apollo 7 launched to complete the first manned orbital mission. Just two months later, Apollo 8 achieved the first manned trip to the moon and completed ten orbits before returning safely to Earth. In March 1969, Apollo 9 achieved the first deployment of the command and lunar modules, though this was done in Earth’s orbit. In May 1969, Apollo 10 carried out a successful rehearsal for a manned moon landing mission, descending to within 50,000 feet of the lunar surface. NASA announced that the next Apollo mission would take a man to the surface of the moon.

Russia responded with the first unmanned attempt to launch the giant N-1 rocket in February 1969. The rocket failed to leave the launch pad due to a number of technical issues. On July 3, 1969, in a desperate attempt to draw attention away from American progress with the Apollo missions, a second attempt was made to launch an unmanned N-1, this time on a mission to orbit the moon. This launch proved to be record-breaking, but not in the way that Mishin and his team had hoped. The N-1 cleared the launch gantry but then exploded. The detonation was the most powerful non-nuclear explosion in human history. When launch crews emerged from their bunkers 30 minutes after the explosion, fragments of debris and unburned fuel were still drifting to Earth.

With the destruction of the second N-1 rocket, any realistic hope of the Soviet Union competing with the United States for the first moon landing ended. All the Russians could now do was wait and watch the American moon landing attempt.


Chapter Eight

The Moon Landing

“One small step for a man, one giant leap for mankind.”

—Neil Armstrong

On July 16, 1969, Apollo 11 lifted off from Launch Pad 39A at the Kennedy Space Centre. Thousands of spectators crowded roads and beaches in the area to watch the launch. Millions more watched on television. This was the culmination of the space race. The mission was intended to take two of the three crew, Neil Armstrong and Buzz Aldrin, to the lunar surface while Michael Collins remained above in lunar orbit in the command module. The huge Saturn V rocket propelled Apollo into orbit 100 miles above the Earth without any problems. After completing just over one full orbit, the third-stage engine pushed the spacecraft out of orbit and into a trans-lunar injection, a trajectory towards the moon.

The mission went smoothly until the lunar module Eagle was on the last part of its descent towards the surface of the moon. During the final moments of descent, the craft’s computers began sounding alarms—the planned landing site was covered with large boulders. Neil Armstrong took over manual control and calmly steered the craft to a clear area for a safe landing. When it finally touched down, Eagle had less than 30 seconds of fuel remaining. At 20:18 UTC on July 20, 1969, mission control received a terse radio message: “Houston, Tranquility Base here. The Eagle has landed.”

Six hours later, with millions of people all around the world watching on television, Neil Armstrong stepped out of the lunar module and down onto the surface of the moon. Eagle remained on the lunar surface for twenty hours, and during that period the two astronauts spent around two and a half hours walking on the moon. At 05:54 UTC on July 21, Eagle lifted off from the moon and rendezvoused with the command module in lunar orbit. On the moon’s surface, the Apollo 11 astronauts left a plaque which read: “Here men from the planet Earth first set foot upon the moon. July, 1969, AD. We came in peace for all mankind.”

Apollo 11 returned to Earth and splashed down safely in the Pacific Ocean at 16:50 UTC on July 24. The mission had lasted eight days and had been a complete success. Although no one realized it at the time, it also marked the end of the space race between Russia and the United States. There were five more Apollo moon landings, culminating in the landing of the lunar module from Apollo 17 in the Taurus-Littrow area of the moon in December 1972 (Apollo 13 suffered an explosion in an oxygen tank which prevented it from reaching the moon).

There were no Russian moon landings. There were two more attempts to launch the N-1 rocket, one in 1971 and one in 1972, but both were failures; one involved yet another massive explosion and left a huge crater in the steppe. The two remaining N-1 rockets were dismantled when the project was formally canceled in 1976. Vasily Mishin had already been replaced as head of the Russian space program by Valentin Glushko in 1974. Mishin’s replacement was thought to be mainly due to the failure of the N-1 rocket and the Russian moon landing project. There were no further attempts at a Russian moon landing, and the focus of Russian efforts in space switched to Earth orbit projects using the Soyuz rocket.

In America, NASA confidently presented President Nixon with ambitious plans which included more moon landings, the building of large space stations, the creation of a manned base on the moon, and a manned landing on Mars by 1986. All were rejected. The moon landings had engendered a huge upswelling of national pride in America, but the cost was crippling. The moon missions had required almost four percent of the national budget for eight years. As President Nixon explained, this wasn’t a sustainable level of expenditure for any country. He said, “Space expenditures must take their proper place within a rigorous system of national priorities.” Many people in government wanted Nixon to cancel the space program entirely, but instead he provided a reduced level of funding to NASA to enable it to develop what became the Space Shuttle program. The three remaining planned lunar landings, Apollo 18, 19, and 20, were all canceled.

The Soviet Union placed the first space station, Salyut 1, in orbit in April 1971, but this achievement was marred when the crew of Soyuz 11, returning to Earth from the station, died when their spacecraft lost air pressure. America responded with Skylab, an orbital workstation launched in 1974.

Back in 1972, U.S. President Nixon and Soviet leader Leonid Brezhnev had negotiated formal treaties which created a temporary improvement in relations between the two countries. This led in May 1974 to a joint Apollo-Soyuz mission. The mission used the last remaining Apollo spacecraft to dock in Earth’s orbit with a Russian Soyuz craft. The mission had little practical application, but it was intended as a public demonstration that the era of competition in space was over and that the Soviet Union and the United States were no longer in competition.

The détente lasted until the American Space Shuttle program began to gather pace in the mid-1970s. The Soviet Union responded with its most expensive space project ever—the VKK Space Orbiter project, generally known as the Buran (Blizzard) program. It involved a re-usable spacecraft that looked similar to the Space Shuttle, though it was very different in design terms. However, the Buran made only one unmanned orbital flight in 1988. By that time, the Soviet Union itself was losing cohesion, and just three years later it collapsed completely.


Conclusion

A space race of sorts continues today, though now it involves commercial companies competing with each other in addition to national space programs. Still, there is currently nothing to compare with the competition between the Soviet Union and the United States for the exploration of space which lasted for 12 years, from the launch of the first Sputnik to the moon landing. From 1957 to 1969, every new milestone in space travel was bitterly and publicly contested between the two superpowers. The race into space became a visible manifestation of the Cold War between these countries.

Initially, the Soviet Union’s advantage appeared to confirm the belief that Russia had advanced beyond the United States in technological capacity. We now know that this was an illusion and that Russia never did have such an advantage either in terms of space vehicles or nuclear weapons. What the Soviets did have was a dedicated and able chief designer in Sergei Korolev. This man was able to focus the work of the Russian space program to make the best use of the resources that Russia possessed. In the early days of the space race, this gave the Soviets a distinct advantage over an American program that was dogged by inter-service and inter-departmental rivalry leading to splitting of resources.

The formation of NASA in 1958 effectively focused the American effort and avoided all future duplication of effort. This was enhanced by President Kennedy’s public affirmation of support for the space program in 1961. Sergei Korolev’s illness and subsequent death in 1966 left the Soviet Union without anyone of comparable ability to bring together the different strands of the Russian effort, and the Soviet Union was never again able to directly challenge the Americans for any major space milestone. When this became apparent, the Soviet leadership became less willing to put resources in the space program. In America, even after the dramatic success of the moon landing, the lack of competition from the Soviet Union led to a loss of interest in the space race and a withdrawal of funding.

For a short time, leading the exploration of space was a matter of national pride for the two most powerful nations on Earth. This rivalry led to amazing progress in a very short time—from the launching of the very first satellite to a man stepping on to the surface of the moon in just 12 years. Without the urgency brought about by the desire of both powers to defeat the other, this would not have happened in such a short time. In general, the Cold War between America and Russia caused little but mistrust, misery, and the development of ever more destructive weapons. But in the case of the space race, it brought more progress, more rapidly than anyone could ever have imagined.
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Introduction

Although the country of Vietnam is a small corner of the globe, the Vietnam War was one of the most polarizing, iconic, and devastating events of the second half of the twentieth century. At its heart, the Vietnam War was a civil war fought between communist North Vietnam and South Vietnam; North Vietnam attempted to unite the two entities under a singular, communist government.

Although it was a civil war, because of the Cold War between the communist east and capitalist west, the role of communism in international policy, and the legacy of colonialism, the Vietnam War became a much broader conflict. In fact, when most people think about the Vietnam War, they probably think immediately of the involvement of the United States.

In reality, the Vietnam War is a truly transnational event, involving France, the United States, China, Cambodia, Laos, and the Soviet Union, as well as other nations.

For the United States, involvement in the Vietnam War divided its people, shook their faith in their own government, and sparked a protest movement that shifted the course of twentieth-century history. The most evocative images of 1960s America are those of hippies and anti-war protesters; in many ways, they define a generation.

However, the impact on the United States is nothing compared to the impact that the war had in Vietnam, as well as the neighboring countries of Cambodia and Laos, where the war raged. It was also a decades-long, devastating period of warfare and struggle for Vietnam, both North and South. It began as a war for independence, freedom from French colonialism and for self-rule, but it escalated into a conflict between east and west, and from which all combatants would find it impossible to extricate themselves.


Chapter One

Vietnam’s Past

“If it were necessary to give the briefest possible definition of imperialism, we should have to say that imperialism is the monopoly stage of capitalism.”

—Vladimir Lenin

Like so many places on the continent of Asia during the colonial era, the area that would become Vietnam was colonized by European powers. It was part of French Indochina, in the southeast corner of Asia. It shared a long border with China, and also contained present-day Laos and Cambodia.

Throughout the nineteenth century, the French became more and more involved in the region. Like many imperial ventures, they used the “white man’s burden” as their reason, which was a thinly-masked racist justification for imperialism. Europeans and whites (including white Americans) believed that as a superior race, they had a responsibility to better the inferior races of the world, such as Africans and Asians. Their mission often included spreading Christianity. The Vietnamese people, however, were not fooled by the rhetoric. Like others experiencing the same brand of colonization (the Chinese included), they knew that these excuses were a thin guise used to justify the exploitation of their land, resources, and most tragically, their people.

As a result, the Vietnamese fought the encroachment of the French. Several revolts and rebellions took place during the late nineteenth century, which the French managed to suppress, and by the dawn of the twentieth century, the French had largely consolidated their control in the region that contained Vietnam. Rebellions against the French continued during the early twentieth century, but the French were almost always able to stop them quickly.

France maintained possession of Indochina through the early decades of the twentieth century until World War II. World War II was truly a global war, but what most people do not realize is that it was not as simple as the Allied Powers fighting the Axis Powers. The fighting and the motivations for fighting were more complicated in several corners of the globe, and Indochina was one of them. Fighting broke out in Indochina against the French; the Vietnamese sought to take advantage of the fact that France was fighting a desperate war against Germany in Europe.

French Indochina faced bigger problems, though. In 1940, at the same time that they were attempting to overthrow the French, Japan invaded the region. Once France fell to Nazi Germany, the Vichy government that took over France was willing to negotiate with the Japanese. It was around this time that the Viet Minh emerged. The Viet Minh, led by Ho Chi Minh, wanted independence: They did not want to be controlled by Japan any more than they wanted to be part of France. During this uncertain time of global warfare, Ho Chi Minh hoped to exercise agency over how world events would impact the outcome in their corner of the world.

The seeds of the Vietnam War were planted during the imperial struggles with France, and they germinated during World War II. At first, Ho Chi Minh and the Viet Minh attempted to hide their communist leanings and had the support of China (which had not yet become communist), which technically sided with the Allies in the war. World War II would last until 1945, but this struggle in Indochina was to continue much, much longer.


Chapter Two

Exit the French

“Follow me if I advance! Kill me if I retreat! Revenge me if I die!”

—Ngo Dinh Diem

The years of World War II brought much suffering and destruction to nearly every corner of the globe, and Vietnam was no exception. The French accepted the presence of the Japanese in Vietnam in 1940. Japan occupied military outposts while the French auspices of government remained, though they, too, were largely controlled by the Japanese. This meant that fighting in Vietnam was not terribly severe; at the very least, the region saw relatively little conflict between the Allies and Axis because France was too preoccupied with fighting Germany at home to be concerned with fighting Japan in Vietnam.

However, other tragedies would strike Vietnam during this time. Vietnam was not a priority for either the French or the Japanese. The French were virtually absent, while the Japanese cared little for protecting the Indochinese people. So, when famine struck in 1944 (partially because of exploitation of resources on the part of the French and Japanese), little help was offered. As many as two million people perished. In addition to the impact of the loss of life, this large-scale suffering also polarized the opinions of the Vietnamese people regarding foreign governments.

Besides the terrible loss of life, the famine would have other far-reaching effects. Ho Chi Minh realized that hungry people are (rightfully) desperate and angry. Thus, he took advantage of the situation and raised a rebellion in which he urged the Vietnamese people to raid government supply warehouses and “steal” the food they so desperately needed. They were not unsuccessful; around one hundred warehouses were ransacked. What was more, the uprising raised the notoriety and the popularity of the Viet Minh and Ho Chi Minh as a national leader. Vietnamese people around the country lauded their efforts, and they won much support.

Then, in August 1945, the Japanese surrendered to the Allies, ending World War II. While much of the world welcomed peace, the period following this event was one of uncertainty for the Vietnamese. Japanese forces still occupied parts of their territory. They were technically no longer at war, so what was their role now? Also, how would Vietnam be governed moving forward? Would it be returned to France or granted independence? Might it be claimed by another Allied Power, especially the United States, since France had depended so heavily on other nations for victory?

The nationalist movement of the Viet Minh did not sit idly by while this transpired. In this period of uncertainty and transition, they fought for independence. Their August Revolution, which began around the beginning of the month, was initially very successful. Ho Chi Minh directed his followers to seize government buildings as well as military outposts and other critical sites. By the end of August 1945 (just over two weeks), the Viet Minh controlled almost every village and city—including very rural villages—in the country, including the capital of Hanoi. This led Ho Chi Minh to declare Vietnamese independence officially on September 2, 1945.

As might be expected, the western imperialist nations were not thrilled with events transpiring in Vietnam. However, they were understandably distracted by the end of World War II. Their neglect would not last long. In fact, foreign powers never actually left Vietnam. Chinese officials (who had been among the Allied forces), remained in what would become North Vietnam in order to help oversee the departure of the Japanese. As the Chinese entered the northern part of Vietnam, Ho Chi Minh lost political control, but certainly not his popularity. He remained an important leader, even though the Chinese were able to wrest control of Hanoi.

Meanwhile, south of the 16th parallel, Europeans were becoming more involved in Vietnamese affairs again, especially the French. The events of the First Indochina War are complex, and whole books have been written on it. Suffice it to say, for our purposes, that as France tried to re-take control of Vietnam, the Viet Minh, led by Ho Chi Minh, fought for independence throughout the following few years.

France remained poorly equipped to fight a war or even maintain control over a colony as they struggled to recover from the devastation of World War II at home. Finally, in 1949, France was forced to acknowledge the independence of Vietnam. However, this did not mean that they exited: they maintained much political and military presence in the new country.

Vietnamese independence was not the only major event in Asia in 1949. This was a momentous year, as it was also the year that China fell to communism, causing a global ripple effect in the Cold War going on between the United States and the Soviet Union.

Herein lays the origins of the Vietnam War and American involvement in Vietnam. The Cold War was guiding American foreign relations at the time. Chiefly, the United States believed in the Domino Theory and the policy of Containment, which followed it. According to the Domino Theory, communism needed to spread in order to survive, and communists would make every effort to cause this spread. As one country became communist, those nearby would thus be in danger of “falling” to communism as well. This “domino effect” would continue until communism had spread throughout the entire world, including the United States. Thus, it was imperative, in the minds of Americans and other westerners, that communism be “contained” where it was, which was the impetus for the policy of Containment. The United States would do just about whatever it took to prevent the spread of communism anywhere in the world, even in a small, seemingly insignificant corner of the globe like Vietnam.

In the minds of Americans, therefore, the waning power of the French was leaving a power vacuum in Vietnam, right next door to the newly communist China, who had already had a presence and been involved in Vietnamese affairs. At the same time, Ho Chi Minh and the Viet Minh were becoming more obviously, outwardly, communist in the policies they wished to enact.

Then, in 1950, American fears were realized when the Soviet Union and China recognized Ho Chi Minh’s communist government in Vietnam, which had become very powerful in the north, with Hanoi as its seat of power. At the same time, the U.S., Great Britain, and other capitalist countries only recognized the French-controlled government in the southern part of the country, whose capital was located in the city of Saigon. Now, just as had happened in Korea (at the same time that the U.S. was becoming involved in fighting the Korean War to prevent the communist north from spreading communism to the south), a line was drawn between the communist north and capitalist south in Vietnam.

Fierce fighting continued over the next four years until finally, after the Battle of Dien Bien Phu, the French were forced to admit final defeat and exit Vietnam entirely. They met with Vietnamese leadership, as well as foreign leadership, in Geneva, Switzerland in 1954 for peace talks. The outcome of these talks was not immediate independence for Vietnam, which many Vietnamese people – Ho Chi Minh’s followers especially – felt they had earned. The “Transition period” that followed would see growing involvement of the United States as France officially exited, as well as growing tensions between communists and anti-communists throughout the region.


Chapter Three

The United States and Ngo Dinh Diem

“We hold the truth that all men are created equal, that they are endowed by their Creator with certain unalienable rights, among them life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness.”

—Ho Chi Minh, Independence Speech, September 2, 1945

The agreement of the Geneva Conference divided Vietnam at the 17th parallel. Elections were to be held, and the Vietnamese people were given three hundred days to move freely between north and south according to their cultural, social, or political beliefs. The United States launched a propaganda campaign in the north to entice people to settle in the south. The United States was now led by President Dwight Eisenhower, a former World War II commanding general who was also a Cold War hard-liner in many ways, especially foreign policy. It was never a question for him and his administration whether the U.S. should be involved in Vietnamese affairs.

In the 1954 elections, Ngo Dinh Diem was put into power in South Vietnam. He was a popular figure in the U.S. and the west, a devout Catholic, and they supported his campaign. However, elections in neither the north nor the south were fair: despite proclamations of fairness, corruption was rampant on both sides, and this aura of corruption would hang over Diem throughout his years of power in Vietnam, which lasted until 1960.

Upon taking office, Diem began a campaign to consolidate control almost immediately. He had no intention of leaving office. Using the military, he launched brutal, repressive campaigns to eliminate all opposition. This is not to say that atrocities were not happening across the border, however. In North Vietnam, Ho Chi Minh also hunted his opposition and launched land reform programs that displaced many people and caused many other problems there. Vietnam—North and South—was suffering in its division.

Diem’s repressive actions quickly engendered animosity among the people of South Vietnam, and an opposition movement emerged. Even though repression and other issues also prevailed in North Vietnam, more South Vietnamese began to think that perhaps backing Diem, or remaining in South Vietnam, had been a mistake. Whether communist or not, resistance against Diem’s regime began to strengthen.

Diem met resistance with more repression, especially against any suspected communist activity. In 1955, he launched a program to seek out and persecute anyone suspected of communist activity. In less than three years, around 12,000 people were executed and 40,000 languished in prisons, many having been tortured or forced to endure very poor conditions.

Throughout all of this, Diem enjoyed the unwavering support of the United States and President Eisenhower. Since Diem opposed communism, America was on his side, at least for the time being. In fact, Diem visited the United States in 1957 and enjoyed a warm welcome, similar to that which any dignified head of state would have received. Because he was anti-communist and committed to stopping communism in his corner of the globe, none of his other behavior mattered as much to the Americans.

In some ways, Diem’s repressive measures worked; communists and suspected communists were jailed and silenced. However, it also backfired; many more people within and outside of South Vietnam became aware of Diem’s brutality and desired to either act against him or see others do so. Thus, between 1957 and 1960 a more organized and potentially more viable opposition movement arose domestically, calling itself the Vietcong (or Viet Cong). However, despite Diem’s paranoid suspicions, it is not likely that the North Vietnamese played much of a role in dissension in South Vietnam at this point. Undoubtedly, Ho Chi Minh wanted to see the entire region united under one communist government (ideally led by himself), but North Vietnam was getting on its feet, so to speak, implementing their new government, reforms, and hunting dissidents within their own borders. Though they were keenly aware of and interested in what was happening to their southern counterparts, they were not yet interfering in South Vietnamese affairs.

Another cause of the resurgence of the Viet Cong (which was born from the Viet Minh, and also known as the National Liberation Front) was land reform. In North Vietnam, even though things were not perfect and very turbulent at first, land reform measures had been relatively successfully implemented. In South Vietnam, most of the population lived in rural villages, and they heard how their northern counterparts benefited from these reforms, which included redistribution. It was in their best interest to see them happen at home as well, and they thus began to consider at least the idea that nationwide communism might work for them. The conditions needed for a full-scale rebellion – a desire for specific changes among the majority of the population as well as political repression and persecution – were emerging in South Vietnam.

At the same time, even though they were not acting on their desires yet, North Vietnam was beginning to set its sights on expansion. Its leadership proposed expansion in the mid-1950s, but both the Soviet Union and China opposed it. North Vietnam would have depended on their support, and these leading communist nations felt that it was too risky at the time. Likely, the Korean War, involving the United States, played a role in their hesitation.

In the later years of the decade, however, they were ready. North Vietnam decided it would reinvigorate its attempts to expand communism to surrounding regions, especially in South Vietnam, but also possibly Laos and Cambodia. The first step was to get the Ho Chi Minh Trail functional again. The Trail was previously used to transport fighters as well as resupply them; it was a lifeline for the North Vietnamese, and they knew they would not be successful in South Vietnam without it. Its intricate nature and ability to conceal itself had allowed and would allow, North Vietnam to fight a guerrilla war, which would be disastrous for the United States.

The Trail was deliberately long and wound through dangerous terrain. This would make it difficult to locate, follow, or attack. It incorporated ancient paths used for trade and hunting, which meant that the help of local peoples and knowledge of the surrounding landscape was pivotal to its success. It also transcended national boundaries; North Vietnam deliberately went through Laos and Cambodia. They did this for two reasons: first, some of the leadership did not believe that these borders should be there. They identified culturally with the people living in these areas, and they shared a common past. Second, they knew that should the war involve foreign powers, attacking a technically non-combatant country would be problematic at best and blatantly illegal at worst for them. It was thus both a cultural and strategic decision.

By 1959, the North Vietnamese offensive was underway. They began by invading Laos, re-establishing the Ho Chi Minh Trail, and then invading the South from there. Within five years, around one hundred thousand North Vietnamese troops had infiltrated and were at war in South Vietnam. The United States would also be much more deeply involved by that time.


Chapter Four

The Resistance War Against America Begins

“I hate war as only a soldier who has lived it can, only as one who has seen its brutality, its futility, its stupidity.”

—Dwight D. Eisenhower

In 1961, President Eisenhower’s term was over, and President John F. Kennedy took the oath of office. Today, many associate the American Democratic Party with anti-war movements and Republicans with being more pro-war. However, during the Cold War, Democrats tended also to be quite hawkish. Kennedy was a “Cold Warrior,” meaning that he very much believed in the Domino Theory and the policy of Containment. Even though he inherited American involvement in Vietnam, he escalated the situation.

Throughout the 1950s and early 1960s, Ngo Dinh Diem became increasingly unpopular. The United States recognized this and recognized that as he alienated more South Vietnamese people, they became more vulnerable to the appeals of North Vietnam and communism. Therefore, Kennedy and his advisers decided that Diem needed to be taken out of office. Before that, though, Kennedy tried other means to support South Vietnam.

American troops were initially sent to Vietnam under Eisenhower, who sent less than one thousand “military advisers” (this term would be used by the United States time and again in military interventions, including during the Iraq War in the 2000s). These numbers exploded during Kennedy’s presidency; by the time that Kennedy was assassinated in November 1963, there were more than fifteen thousand troops American troops deployed in Vietnam.

In addition to aiding the South Vietnamese militarily, the U.S. also attempted to provide support in rural reform, recognizing that this was a major problem in the country. Even though the programs that the U.S. and South Vietnam implemented were meant to help the South Vietnamese people, they involved forcing people to relocate, which sometimes took people off of land that their families had inhabited for generations. Despite good intentions, these programs were fabulously unpopular and further engendered many South Vietnamese people against Diem and the United States, who were becoming more and more the same in their minds.

Eventually, Diem was overthrown. The events surrounding the coup against Diem were complicated. As the initial years of Kennedy’s administration wore on, it became obvious that Diem did not have the ability to stop the North Vietnamese, which meant that he needed to be removed. Corruption within the South Vietnamese military was also a major factor.

While the United States and its Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) were involved in planning the coup, we do not yet have evidence that they completely orchestrated it (in the decades since the end of the Cold War in 1989, the United States has been declassifying documents related to foreign affairs that have changed the way historians understand many events, including the Vietnam War).

The CIA and President Kennedy and his advisers were well aware that a coup against Diem was planned. However, we have evidence that on November 2, 1963, after Diem was overthrown and executed, Kennedy himself was both shocked and troubled by Diem’s death, which came just weeks before his own assassination.

Despite planning, South Vietnam did not become more stable without Diem. In fact, the opposite happened. Chaos assaulted the small country from outside and from within. From outside, North Vietnam took immediate advantage of the situation. They increased their troop presence and also began supporting South Vietnamese guerrilla fighters more openly and aggressively.

In the wake of the collapse of Diem’s government, most of the people that tried to seize power in South Vietnam were military officials. This caused another problem for South Vietnam and the Americans: largely due to the long-term presence of American military advisers and some troops, the South Vietnamese people very much saw these military governments as “puppet regimes” of the United States, and that was very unpopular. What was more, North Vietnam was quick to exploit this suspicion with propaganda.

Historians have written entire books about the role of the United States during this period of transition and turmoil, asking what role the U.S. played in the eventual all-out war, what role the Cold War played, and what America should have done differently at this critical juncture to prevent the death and destruction that was to come. Suffice it to say that the biggest problems the United States had involved seeing events in Vietnam through a Cold War lens only, rather than interpreting the events and actions they the witnessed based on Vietnamese interests and beliefs. Americans only thought about the choice between communism, and not why the Vietnamese might be leaning in that direction. They also believed that military strength could defeat the North Vietnamese opposition and hold communism back. Within just a few years of Diem’s execution and Kennedy’s assassination, President Lyndon B. Johnson would lead a country embroiled in a foreign war that ripped apart public opinion at home.


Chapter Five

Americanization

“Our purpose in Vietnam is to prevent the success of aggression. It is no conquest, it is not empire, it is not foreign bases, it is not domination. It is, simply put, just to prevent the forceful conquest of South Vietnam by North Vietnam.”

—President Lyndon B. Johnson

In popular memory, President Johnson is most closely associated with the Vietnam War. This is because, even though he did not start the war, his administration did escalate the war more than any other.

Johnson took the oath of office with lofty, liberal goals, especially after he was re-elected in a landslide in 1964. Chiefly, he wanted to solve the problems of civil rights that had plagued the country since before the Civil War. He also had an ambitious plan, called “the Great Society,” to eradicate poverty in the United States. Whether his plans would have succeeded or not without the war can obviously not be known, but the war in Vietnam would distract Americans from most of his domestic agenda.

Johnson was not really in favor of the war in the first place. While he recognized the importance of containing communism globally, he was not as much of a “Cold Warrior” as Kennedy had been. Therefore, he wanted to end American involvement in Vietnam quickly. In fact, part of his 1964 election campaign platform involved achieving peace and not escalating the war in Vietnam.

Shortly before his re-election in November 1964, one of the major turning points of the war (at least concerning American involvement) occurred. In August, the North Vietnamese attacked a U.S. destroyer in the Gulf of Tonkin off the eastern shore of Vietnam. Johnson and his administration would claim that this attack was unprovoked, but the truth was that the United States was there helping South Vietnam attack North Vietnam.

This incident alone was not major, but what happened afterward changed the course of the war and Vietnamese history. In response, the United States Congress passed the Gulf of Tonkin Resolution. This resolution granted the president unprecedented war powers: more war powers than had been allowed during World War II. Johnson and his advisers had a blank check and a free hand: they could do almost whatever they thought necessary, despite the financial costs, to win the war, with relatively little oversight from any other governing bodies. Johnson himself was quoted as commenting that the Resolution was “like Grandma’s nightshirt, it covered everything.” Since Johnson was so focused on his domestic agenda, he left the day-to-day handling of the war to his Secretary of Defense, Robert McNamara.

When most people think about the United States during the Vietnam War, they think about the protest movement (more about that below). In reality, most Americans supported their country’s involvement in the war, at least initially. As a whole, Americans very much believed in the Domino Theory and believed that containing communism was absolutely critical. Therefore, when their country became more and more involved in the war in Vietnam to stop the spread of communism there, most of them did not question it - at least at first. Therefore, as the war escalated during the early years of Johnson’s presidency, he believed that these actions reflected what Americans wanted, even though he was elected on the very opposite promise.

The war escalated quickly after Johnson’s re-election. In April 1965, the U.S. initiated Operation Rolling Thunder. This transformed U.S. strategy: prior to this point, the U.S. military primarily reacted to North Vietnamese attacks; in other words, they fought on the defensive rather than offensive. When Rolling Thunder began, however, the U.S. began sustained attacks against the North Vietnamese and the Viet Cong. This involved large-scale air strikes and a massive influx of American troops.

As the war escalated throughout 1965, Johnson became desperate to end it. It was distracting from his Great Society reforms. He actually made peace overtures to the North Vietnamese in early 1965: if they surrendered, the United States would invest in social and industrial programs throughout Vietnam. However, for obvious reasons, the North Vietnamese rejected these peace offers. In response, Johnson became convinced that negotiations were pointless and took a harder line against the North Vietnamese. He ordered Secretary McNamara to be more aggressive.

Shortly thereafter, in June 1965, the CIA reported to Johnson and McNamara that Operation Rolling Thunder had had no effect since its implementation two months prior. Top U.S. generals advised them to send more troops. They complied, and this began the “Americanization” of the war. What this term meant was that the U.S. would not only act independently of the South Vietnamese military in the war, they would take the lead in the defensive against the North Vietnamese onslaught as well as launch more offenses against their strongholds. It was now as much an American war as it was a Vietnamese war, though many historians argue that it was long before this moment. At this point, though, the weakened South Vietnamese military and government took a backseat. They aided the Americans (especially in translating and communicating with villagers and guiding them through the country’s terrain), but the war became America’s fight.

The American troops were led by General William Westmoreland. Westmoreland espoused a strategy of attrition: he believed that if his forces were able to wear down the enemy and overwhelm them with constant attacks, they would be less able to respond and would weaken quickly. In other words, the Americans still believed that they could use their technologically superior military to defeat the Vietnamese fighting a guerrilla war.

Under this policy and led by Westmoreland, however, the war deteriorated rather quickly. Because the American forces were so focused on the war of attrition and weakening the enemy at all costs, the measure of success on their end became the body count: the more Viet Cong and North Vietnamese dead, the less able they were to wage war against South Vietnam effectively. “Shoot first” tactics undoubtedly cost many innocent lives, including civilians.

Another factor that very much worked against the Americans was the fact that they and their leaders were ill-equipped to fight a guerrilla war. Their most formative, modern military experiences had been in World War II, which was fought primarily on battlefields with large armies. Even in Korea, guerrilla warfare was not the primary means of fighting. However, in Vietnam, the North Vietnamese used small groups of fighters who knew the terrain and could slip in and out, and hide, more easily. They also made attempts to blend in and used sneak attacks and other similar tactics to not only inflict the maximum number of casualties that they were able to, but also to create an atmosphere of fear for their enemy. This is why there are relatively few major battles to speak of in the Vietnam War.

These tactics worked. As the war dragged on, American troops became more paranoid and demoralized. Since there were no real large battles, they could not rejoice in victory nor come together in defeat. They were often away from bases for long stretches at a time with only a few other men, contributing to their sense of isolation and disengagement. They were mostly young and were not equipped to deal with the hostility of the South Vietnamese people, whom they were supposed to be helping. They had not been taught to interpret this hostility as against the war itself, or a general suspicion of outsiders, especially westerners, in light of colonization. Instead, they often took it to mean that these people were sympathetic to the enemy, and possibly harboring Viet Cong fighters who might at any time attack.

This sense of fear was one of the biggest factors that caused atrocities to be committed throughout the course of the war. In what came to be known as “Zippo Raids,” entire villages were burned to the ground. Whether because American troops were trying to cover up the fact that they had killed anyone in the village suspected of Viet Cong sympathies, or whether they wanted to prevent supplies from being passed to the enemy, Zippo Raids caused unimaginable hardship on the villagers who were displaced because of them.

Zippo Raids may have been effective in the short term, but they were also terribly short-sighted. The people who were displaced by them did not disappear; they were forced to seek refuge in nearby villages, where they naturally told of their hardships. South Vietnamese people who might have otherwise been more sympathetic to the Americans or at least neutral learned to hate Americans and fear their arrival. This disconnect only led to more misunderstanding between the Americans and those they sought to protect, which led to more death and destruction.

As the war dragged on, the American public also became more skeptical and suspicious. Why wasn’t it over? Why were more and more young people being sent to Vietnam, and why were so many of them getting killed? These questions came to preoccupy American media, and soon, the majority of the country had turned against the war.


Chapter Six

The American Home Front

“Don’t you understand what I’m tryin’ to say. Can’t you feel the fears I’m feelin’ today. If the button is pushed, there’s no runnin’ away. There’ll be no one to save with the world in a grave. Take a look around you boy, it’s bound to scare you boy. And you tell me over and over and over again my friend. Ah, you don’t believe we’re on the eve of destruction”

—Eve of Destruction, written by P.F. Sloan, performed by Barry McGuire

As discussed previously, most Americans generally supported the war when it began. For one thing, Americans believed that their own security was dependent on stopping the spread of communism everywhere in the world. For another, as we have seen, the war escalated gradually; no one knew that it would become a quagmire from which America would struggle to extricate itself, or that it would divide the nation so severely.

As the war waged on, President Johnson was plagued with anxiety that its failures (of which he was well-informed) would distract Congress from his domestic Great Society reforms. Therefore, he misled members of Congress about the progress of the war to distract them and push his own agenda.

However, he could no longer deny how badly things were going when in 1967, Secretary of Defense Robert McNamara, who had been in charge of the Vietnam War, resigned. What was more, he explicitly, publicly cited the futility of the war as the reason for resignation. Johnson was furious and frustrated at the same time: he was stuck with a war he never wanted that was now destroying his ambitious domestic reforms.

At this point, Congress realized that they had been misled, and wanted to re-take more control over the course of the war. However, it was not just Congress that lost faith in Johnson’s credibility; the American people were becoming more informed about what was going on in Vietnam as well. The public became informed primarily through the press, as did many Congressmen. Especially in light of McNamara’s resignation, the media started paying more attention to the realities in Vietnam. Evening television news started broadcasting footage from on the ground in Vietnam; for the first time, the realities of war were on display for all to see, and Americans were horrified. It was not so much that the war in Vietnam was necessarily more violent or destructive than past wars, but that so many people were watching it unfold. What was more, the media also began reading the names of the day’s dead on the air, so Americans were keenly aware of the cost in American lives.

As this occurred, the American people realized that Johnson had been lying. The United States was not winning the war in Vietnam, nor were they even protecting the Vietnamese people. What came to be called the “credibility gap” developed: The American people perceived a gap between what Johnson said and what was really happening. And in the public mind, this did not only apply to Vietnam: since he had misled Congress and the American people about the war, they also had trouble trusting him on other issues. It is certainly true that the Vietnam War distracted from his Great Society initiatives, but it is also true that his own mishandling of the war cost him just as much.

Public opinion for the war worsened as it progressed because things were getting worse and worse. Perhaps more than any other event around this time, the Tet Offensive in January of 1968 revealed just how horribly the war was going for America and South Vietnam. On the night of the 30th, during the Tet holiday (Vietnamese New Year), the North Vietnamese and Viet Cong launched a surprise attack on American troops in several places simultaneously. Americans had no idea that the attack was imminent and were caught very much off-guard. Since the American news media had increased its presence in Vietnam, they were able to capture the entire event and televise the worst of it.

The Tet Offensive technically failed; in the end, it was a victory for the U.S. However, that mattered little. American perception was that it should never have been able to happen in the first place if America was truly winning the war. It thus became a public relations nightmare for Johnson.

Less than three months later, another event occurred that crystallized American opinion about the war. On March 16, the My Lai Massacre took place. This event was essentially a Zippo Raid gone very, very badly wrong. As many as five hundred unarmed civilians in two small hamlets in South Vietnam were killed by U.S. troops, including men, women, children, and the elderly. Several of the women were also gang-raped, and bodies of many of the victims were mutilated.

Even though atrocities had been committed on both sides prior to the My Lai Massacre, this one was more dramatic for two reasons. First was the scale: the level of death and brutality was not by any means common during the war. Second, by this point, the press was well-positioned to make the American people aware of this kind of event. It also fit the narrative that had emerged from the war: it was an unmitigated disaster that was wreaking havoc on Vietnam rather than protecting it.

The troops who were involved in this terrible event eventually faced court martial. There had been attempts to cover up the Massacre, but they were relatively feeble, and the public saw through them. In the end, only one of the twenty-six men charged was convicted. Their common defense was that they acted on orders from their superiors. In all likelihood, the My Lai Massacre was probably the result of a combination of factors, not the least among them being an overwhelming sense of frustration and helplessness on the part of the troops that resulted in an explosion of pent-up rage.

Nevertheless, the event polarized public opinion in America. There was no in-between: Americans were either “hawks” or “doves,” for the war or against it. Young people started taking to the streets in protest, burning draft cards, and the Vietnam protest movement started to gain momentum.

After McNamara’s resignation, Clark Clifford became the new Secretary of Defence. Shortly following the My Lai Massacre, he reported to Johnson that there had been no measurable progress in Vietnam for four years—more than Johnson’s entire presidency. What was more, his worst fears were realized: he had largely been unable to enact his Great Society reforms. While some of them were enacted, public attention was distracted by the war, and even those that were put into law were largely ignored by the public. Johnson knew his administration was ruined and that the war was a lost cause. In light of these failures, he announced that he would not run for re-election in 1968.

At the same time, the protest movement against the war was an undeniable force in American politics and culture. The protest movement was part of what has come to be called the “New Left” in this era of United States history. It was only since the administration of Franklin D. Roosevelt in the 1930s and 1940s that the Democratic party had been associated with liberalism in America. However, President Johnson was a Democrat also, and as the lies and failures of Vietnam were revealed, many left-leaning Americans came to see him as just as bad as more conservative Republicans, at least when it came to the war.

Not only that but other simultaneous movements were at hand as well, which combined to create an atmosphere of upheaval in the United States. By the late 1960s, the United States had been embroiled in the Civil Rights Movement for almost two decades. This was a struggle to extend equal rights promised by the Constitution to African American citizens, especially in the racist, segregated southern states. By the late 1960s, violent retribution was still being visited upon those who joined this fight, and people were frustrated. What was more, in April 1968 the Reverend Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. was assassinated. King had come to symbolize the movement as its figurehead; he had led a bus boycott in 1954 that had helped catalyze the movement and had largely directed it since then.

At the same time, there was also a burgeoning women’s rights movement of women who wished to fight against sexism and discrimination that relegated their worth only to their roles as wives and mothers, subservient to men. The combination of these movements led liberal “radicals” to feel unhappy and frustrated with the status quo; they were enraged with the war and white supremacist terrorism that continued to plague the nation. Their anger came to focus so much on the war because they believed that it distracted lawmakers and the public from America’s real issues at home: extending equal rights to all peoples, regardless of skin color, gender, or other factors.

The counter-culture or the “hippie” movement of the mid-late 1960s has come to symbolize not only the protest movement and the “New Left” but also the entire era in popular memory. However, this youth revolt was actually rather small. It is important to note that while many Americans turned against the war and did not support it, only a tiny fraction of the U.S. population actively took part in the counter-culture “hippie” movement. It is only because they received huge media attention that they loom so large in our collective memory.

Their anger was the result of not only resistance to civil rights, not only the pointless war but also Cold War conformity and consumerism. This is why they openly rejected social norms in the way that they dressed, behaved, and lived. They believed that normal politics and mainstream ways of life had failed to enlighten society and extend human rights, so they sought extra-political activities. They began by participating in protest rallies and marches, but they got stranger than that. They held what came to be called “Be-Ins,” a play on the sit-ins that had been a popular means of protest in the Civil Rights movement. During a “Be-In,” hippies occupied public space, and would often do “abnormal” things in order to attract attention to themselves, like playing music or performing street theater.

Other major aspects of the hippie movement were open drug use and promiscuous sex. These were two of the major ways in which they flaunted social norms. The Cold War “culture of conformity” had made this sort of behavior taboo, which was one reason that they engaged in it. However, in a more genuine way, they also sincerely believed that these activities would help them “free their minds” and discover more about themselves and their fellow human beings.

The hippie movement, as liberal as it was, was not completely disorganized. The summer of 1967 came to be called the “Summer of Love,” in which one hundred thousand hippies converged on the city of San Francisco, California. This event more than any other attracted massive media attention and public fascination, as it was an unprecedented gathering of youths. True to their culture, they openly used drugs, embraced “free love,” and lived communally.

Then, in the summer of 1969, the event that perhaps best symbolized the hippie movement occurred: Woodstock. Located actually nearly fifty miles from the upstate New York town of Woodstock, this was three-day music festival took place on a dairy farm in Bethel Woods, roughly one hundred miles north of New York City. Music was a huge part of the counter-culture, and some of the biggest performers of the day were on the stage at Woodstock, including Janis Joplin, Jimi Hendrix, Joan Baez, The Grateful Dead, Joe Cocker, and The Who. Regardless of its association with the counter-culture, the Woodstock Music Festival remains one of the most important events in modern music history.

A lot of things went wrong at Woodstock. First, far more people converged on this small town than anticipated, which caused other problems, including a shortage of food, water, and bathrooms. The weather was also bad: it rained, and the farm fields where the festival was held became very muddy. However, despite these real, serious issues, the event unfolded with almost no violence or other problems. The world watched as these hippies lived up to their principles of love, peace, and kindness.

Who were the hippies? While we tend to remember them as radicals, in reality, they had more “normal” origins. They were mostly young, white, and from middle-class families. Many of them were college students, which is part of the reason why some of their most important events took place in the summer—school was not in session. As the years wore on, many of them “retired” to more mainstream lives, with jobs and families.

Nonetheless, the hippie movement had a lasting impact on American liberalism, as well as American conservatism (a significant conservative backlash crystallized in the 1970s). They also had a lasting impact on American popular culture, not only by their memory but also because much of what they did eventually went mainstream. While their styles of communal living and free love were not widely embraced, they did provide free medical clinics and established job co-ops, practices that have spread since then. In addition, cultural and material phenomena promoted by the hippies have also become mainstream in the United States, like organic foods and whole grain bread. Also, a few hippie businesses went mainstream, including Celestial Seasonings Tea and Rolling Stone Magazine.

Nonetheless, the hippie movement was divisive in the years of the 1960s as the war still raged. They were an extreme example of a popular sentiment on the war. By the late 1960s, most Americans wanted out of the war. In 1968, Republican Richard Nixon was elected president, representing a desire for a change in American foreign policy. While he promised to end the war, things would get much worse before they got better.


Chapter Seven

Vietnamization and President Nixon

“No event in American history is more misunderstood than the Vietnam War. It was misreported then, and it is misremembered now.”

—Richard M. Nixon

Many Americans expected Richard Nixon to be a Cold War hard-liner. However, he surprised critics and members of his own party by issuing the “Nixon Doctrine” early in his term. The Nixon Doctrine, which guided Nixon’s foreign policy, wanted to reduce the importance of the Cold War against the USSR in American foreign relations. He wanted to broaden U.S. foreign policy, and not make concerns about the Soviet Union so important (he also wanted to reduce the power of the USSR).

However, the Nixon Doctrine would not alleviate conditions in Vietnam. When it came it Vietnam, Nixon ran for President promising peace, but in reality, he would actually escalate the war. Contrary to his Nixon Doctrine, he was still determined not to “lose” South Vietnam to communism.

In 1969 (the year Nixon took office), Ho Chi Minh, the North Vietnamese leader, died. Nixon saw this as an opportunity to shift the burden of the war back onto the South Vietnamese people, since he supposed that North Vietnam would be chaotic, trying to re-consolidate power without their dictator. As opposed to “Americanization” of the war, therefore, he initiated “Vietnamization.” In addition to relying more on the South Vietnamese militarily, Nixon wanted to shift the focus of American efforts to more bombing and fewer troops in combat (that would be South Vietnam’s new role).

Nixon and his advisers, including Secretary of State Henry Kissinger, wanted this bombing to be strategic: to hit fewer civilian targets and inflict more damage on the North Vietnamese ability to wage war. As discussed earlier, they knew that the Viet Cong used supply lines that ran through other countries, especially Laos and Cambodia. Therefore, in order to stop them, Nixon ordered secret, illegal bombing of Vietcong supply lines in Cambodia especially.

The result of these decisions was absolutely disastrous for both Cambodia and Laos. In Cambodia, a civil war broke out that eventually killed one million people. In Laos, land mines placed by the United States are still exploding, killing and maiming innocent people up to the date of this writing.

In addition, while these actions were supposed to be secret, eventually, the world found out. It reinvigorated the anti-war movement. Renewed energy and outrage sparked more protests and demonstrations. College campuses erupted in violence as police sometimes responded brutally to protestors. At Kent State University in Ohio, four students were killed in a demonstration, and two were killed in a protest at Jackson State University in Mississippi.

The war was certainly in a state of transition during Nixon’s early years as President. Although he had promised to end the war, it escalated and spread to neighboring countries. This prompted the U.S. government to restrict the President’s role in fighting the war. In response to the violence, and especially in response to the horrific illegal activities in Cambodia and Laos, Congress revoked the Gulf of Tonkin Resolution, which had given President Johnson (and then President Nixon) unprecedented war powers. They realized that giving the president that degree of power—regardless of who held that office—was dangerous.

Another major event in the Vietnam War was also about to occur: the draft. The draft was increasingly becoming a reason for upset and upheaval amongst the young men eligible to be called upon for military service. The protest surrounding the draft reached its apex in December 1969 when Nixon’s draft lottery based on the draftees’ birthday was scheduled to occur. Young men were to be drafted for one-year tours in Vietnam.

The use of the draft at this time coincided with other movements, especially the Civil Rights Movement, and the anger that inspired protest in both was in some ways compatible. Young men whose birthdays were drawn in the draft could receive an exemption, or deferment, under specific circumstances. This included medical excuses and attendance in college. For obvious reasons, wealthy, white men were more likely to be in college than less advantaged black men. But even medical exemptions were easier for privileged people to get because of access to better life-long healthcare. African American men had already served disproportionately in Vietnam. At the same time, they faced violence and prejudice at home. Many of them did not wish to serve since they did not feel the war was beneficial to them or the Vietnamese people. The draft not only caused protests around the country, but also cultivated deep class resentment between the poor, who could not get a deferment, and middle and upper-class people who could.

The draft lottery was followed in April-July 1970 by major ground operations in Cambodia by U.S. troops, both to combat the growing domestic unrest in that country and attempt to push back the Vietcong and their supply lines. Nixon promised to end the war, but like Johnson, he found himself more and more embroiled in it, unable to extricate his country from the conflict. During his first term, the war had escalated and even spread to neighboring countries; Vietnamization was failing.

In March 1972, just a few months before Nixon was to face re-election in the coming November elections, North Vietnam began a massive, unprecedented attack on South Vietnam. This was more than the guerrilla tactics they had relied on before; now, the might of the North Vietnamese army (aided by other communist regimes) bore down on South Vietnam.

President Nixon felt he had no choice but to respond. Even at this point in the war, he still felt he could not let South Vietnam fall to communism. What was more, the South Vietnamese would not consent to withdrawal on the part of the United States. They openly admitted that they would likely be forced to surrender if the U.S. backed out and desperately needed continued U.S. support.

Oddly enough given the situation in Vietnam at the time, the Cold War and even the Vietnam War helped President Nixon win re-election. Despite escalating tensions in Vietnam, he had softened relations with China and even with the Soviet Union. What was more, his Democratic opponent, Senator George McGovern, vowed to exit Vietnam immediately, and Nixon used this and some of his other policies to paint McGovern as a dangerous radical.

Thus the Vietnam War survived another presidential election, and U.S. involvement stretched into the mid-1970s. Despite overwhelming public opinion against the war, despite continued promises to exit, and even despite politicians’ hatred for the war, American troops remained on the ground in Vietnam. The reasons are complex, and most have been explored already, though certainly the Cold War policy of containment and dedication to preventing Vietnam from “falling” to communism played huge roles in America’s decision making.


Chapter Eight

The End of the Vietnam War and Its Aftermath

“I saw courage both in the Vietnam War and in the struggle to stop it. I learned that patriotism includes protest, not just military service.”

—John F. Kerry

How did the Vietnam War end (at least for the United States)? It ended much as it began: ambiguously. In December 1972, the U.S. initiated massive bombing raids against North Vietnam. This was largely in retaliation for the invasion launched by the North Vietnamese against South Vietnam in March.

By all accounts, the bombing raids were successful, but at a high cost. Many civilians were killed, and important infrastructure was destroyed. Nonetheless, by January 1973, the North Vietnamese were willing to negotiate, and they sat down with the South Vietnamese to peace talks.

At this point, after his re-election was secure, President Nixon decided to withdraw American involvement in Vietnam. Since the United States had never formally declared war, they did not need to be part of the negotiations or sign a peace treaty with either side. He declared victory because North Vietnam had asked for peace negotiations, and began troop withdrawal.

Even though peace negotiations commenced, and even though both sides had agreed to negotiate, the U.S. withdrawal—as appropriate and necessary as it was for the United States—spelled disaster for South Vietnam. Two years later, in the spring of 1975, Saigon—the capital of South Vietnam—fell to the North Vietnamese. Americans were still stationed in offices and outposts in the city as they dismantled the war apparatus and worked to help South Vietnam transition. When the city fell, however, the last remaining military officials and diplomats were forced to flee and flee quickly. They packed into helicopters as desperate South Vietnamese citizens clamored to climb aboard, and these dramatic images of desperation became the symbol of the end of the Vietnam War, which was thus represented much as it had been all along: with chaos, suffering, and disorganization.

The fall of Saigon was especially poignant in light of the costs of the war. More than 58,000 Americans lost their lives fighting the war. More dramatically, more than one million Vietnamese people died, in addition to another million deaths in Cambodia, most a result of the civil war that broke out after the U.S. commenced secret bombing.

The war also combined with other events, such as the slow-moving Civil Rights Movement in the United States, to shatter a perceived sense of innocence in the U.S. Whether this actually ever existed is up for debate, but certainly, the sentiment in the U.S. had shifted. People lost faith in their leaders and no longer trusted the government. It would be years before trust was restored (especially after Nixon’s scandals and illegal activities forced him to resign), and in some ways, it never was.

One of the most devastating effects of the Vietnam War in the United States was the treatment of veterans and the role that post-traumatic stress disorder would play in their lives. Quite unfortunately, war protesters sometimes focused their anger on soldiers returning from war. They blamed them for the atrocities that were being committed in Vietnam. Coupled with the horrific, traumatizing experiences of fighting in the war, this anger directed toward them upon return would have devastating effects on the rest of their lives. Vietnam veterans suffered from alcoholism, addiction, depression, violent tendencies, suicide, and other issues in higher proportions than other wars.

In addition, prisoners of war remained a major issue for the United States. The newly formed Socialist Republic of Vietnam was slow to release American POW’s. Many of them were tortured before being returned. The American government would continue to search and advocate for missing men, though many believe that they did not do enough. To this day, there is still a long list of men who never returned from the fighting in Vietnam.

Thus, the war continued to inflict tragedy and suffering in the United States. It did the same in Vietnam. Soon after reuniting, Vietnam became embroiled in the brutal war across the border in Cambodia, and more of their people died. Their relationship with China also deteriorated, because China saw Vietnamese involvement in Cambodia as a threat to their control over the region. Vietnam’s economy continued to suffer, partially because it maintained a massive military. After the Cold War had ended, however, it scaled back its military and began a slow transition to capitalism.


Conclusion

The Vietnam War remains one of the most poignant events of the Cold War for the United States. It polarized public opinion and revealed the problems with the Domino Theory and the policy of containment. Though the Korean War had been relatively successful for the U.S., Vietnam showed that these policies were not only unsustainable but also immensely, immeasurably destructive.

The Vietnam War also came to symbolize an era of American history. When Americans remember the 1960s, they think of America’s involvement in Vietnam. They visualize the hippies and the protest movement. When they talk about President Kennedy, or President Johnson, or President Nixon, their Vietnam policies are usually some of the first issues that come to mind.

The Vietnam War also symbolizes the end of an era, in several ways. First, the protest movement that it inspired helped to end the early Cold War culture of conformity. The events of Vietnam, coupled with the violence of the Civil Rights Movement, also shook America’s confidence in its ability to solve its own as well as the world’s problems. It revealed inherent hypocrisies in American domestic and foreign policies, undermining the policy of containment that had guided foreign policy for more than twenty years. In short, it represented an end of innocence.

Of course, all of this pales in comparison to the impact that the war had on its own people, in Vietnam. The small country struggled for decades to rebuild from the destruction and devastation of the war, not to mention the impact of the tremendous loss of life and injury. It has only been in recent years that Vietnam has strengthened its economy and showed signs of permanent recovery.

Because of its vast real and symbolic importance, Vietnam has frequently been portrayed in American culture as well. In addition to the countless protest songs that were produced during the war, there have also been films made about it across a broad range of genres. Masterpieces like Platoon and Apocalypse Now reveal the brutal nature of the war, and the toll it took on individuals.

The war has also been memorialized worldwide. The American Vietnam Veterans Memorial on the National Mall in Washington, D.C. is an iconic symbol of America during the war. It is a long, black wall with the names of the Americans killed in action engraved upon it. It stretches over two acres. It is reflective so that those who look upon it see themselves behind the names. Its darkness symbolizes how dark and divisive this period in American history was, and the names remind visitors of the real human toll of war. Other memorials exist throughout the world, including more than two dozen in Vietnam.

In the end, many who still remember the Vietnam War in America wonder why the United States fought in the first place. For the Vietnamese people, this question matters as well. More important is the impact that the war had on their land, their people, and the way they still envision themselves as a nation.
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